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Five-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS
e
Year ended 31 March
BE=H=—+—HIES
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
ZR-NE | R ZF B R
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T T T T
TURNOVER BEB
Contract revenue FRBA 3,363,842 3,454,844 2,936,582 2,581,906 2,038,850
Property gross rental income PEMSWA 15,710 21,809 20,859 18,551 15,943
3,379,552 3,476,653 2,957,441 2,600,457 2,054,793
Contract costs BB (3,193,755) | (3,273,468)  (2,777,639)  (2,390,991)  (1,901,867)
Property expenses LVEL B3 (639) (1,476) (1,268) (1,085) (894)
Gross profit EF 185,158 201,709 178,534 208,381 152,032
Other income and gains Je A oA B W g 14,592 184,634 98,211 181,179 129,601
Administrative and other expenses TR R Ab B % (79,998) (61,691) (58,989) (55,437) (45,911)
Finance costs WHE N (7,927) (11,314) (7,396) (5,617) (7,319)
Share of profits and losses of Eiiaat¥Ez
joint ventures i Rl K i 4 24,891 30,812 44,760 10,993 152
Income tax BLIE (19,518) (24,977) (21,135) (28,880) (17,072)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A JE B R 5 117,198 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
Other comprehensive income for the year 34l 2 T i #5 204,197 - - - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4 J& 4 i 't 2 48 %
FOR THE YEAR 321,395 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
Profit attributable to: JE A -
Owners of the parent B AR 115,373 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
Non-controlling interests FE e I HE 25 1,825 - - - -
117,198 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
Total comprehensive income B Al 2 e W A MR
attributable to:
Owners of the parent B B A & 319,570 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
Non-controlling interests Jee et 5 1,825 - - - -
321,395 319,173 233,985 310,619 211,483
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
0B Rk
As at 31 March
R=E=H=+—H
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
ZR-WE | R ZF-ZF ZF—F ZF-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH#IL T T T T
Investment properties BEME 874,600 419,600 953,520 859,674 692,226
Property, plant and equipment ERY 1Y O] 147,807 346,891 294,700 174,555 262,300
Properties held for development PR R Z 3% 726,274 250,000 250,000 251,806 -
Investments in joint ventures ReBaENRE 166,914 142,03 111,211 11,251 258
Other non-current assets HibIEmeg & 416 396 - - -
Current assets BB 1,583,550 1,849,337 1,180,503 663,771 667,769
Liabilities K (1,506,390) | (1,493,241)  (1,599,419)  (1,105,147) (980,977)
Net assets R 1,993,171 1,515,006 1,190,515 955,910 641,576
Issued capital ST RA 43,667 37,192 37,459 37,419 37,187
Reserves fikfl 1,896,940 1,477,214 1,153,056 918,491 604,389
Equity attributable to owners BARRHH
of the parent TEAL HE 45 1,940,607 | 1,515,006 1,190,515 955,910 641,576
Non-controlling interests JE e I HE 25 52,564 - - - -
TOTAL EQUITY B 1,993,171 1,515,006 1,190,515 955,910 641,576
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CHAIRMAN’s
STATEMENT

TRWE -

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS li0)
e  Turnover for the year ended 31 March 2014 decreased e
by 2.8% to approximately HK$3,380 million from
approximately HK$3,477 million for the year ended

31 March 2013.

e The Group did not record any net gain on disposal e
of investment properties nor any gain on changes in
fair value of investment properties for the year ended
31 March 2014 (2013: approximately HK$141 million
and HK$38 million, respectively).

e Net profit for the year ended 31 March 2014 amounted to  ®
approximately HK$117 million, representing a decrease of
63.3% from approximately HK$319 million with last year.

e Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March e
2014 amounted to HK6.73 cents (2013: HK21.19 cents).

e Equity attributable to owners of the parent increased e
by 28.1% from approximately HK$1,515 million as at
31 March 2013 to approximately HK$1,941 million as at
31 March 2014.

e

L/ E P

BECZ-NE=SA=T—HIEEZEE
BFABSMEEB T BEEZF ==
=t —HILEEZ34 7T 2.8% -

WBREZR—E=ZH=1+—HIREE > K
FHEGA S LB REYEN TR MRE
WEAFEBEIR (2R =48 A
LA T K038 M IT) °

BEZZ-NE=ZH=1—HILEEZ®H]
FHEALITEW G » B E4F ) Z3.19E W T
I A63.3% o

BEZRZ-WE=ZH=1—HILEEZ TR
EARB R A6 WM (RE-F—-=Z4H=H
=+ —H AR 21.19%Al) -

RER-MWEZA=ZT—HZBAFA A

FEAGRERS A0 194 1R8I0 » B-F—=F=H
=+ —HZH15. 15 %0 LF28.1%

Annual Report 2013-2014 §E®RE



Turnover (HK$ million)
BEF (GEEBL)
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”), I report the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2014.

PERFORMANCE

In the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group’s consolidated
turnover amounted to HK$3,379,552,000, representing
a decreased of 2.8% from HK$3,476,653,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2013. Profit attributable to equity owners
of the parent of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2014 amounted to HK$115,373,000, representing a decrease
of 63.9% from HK$319,173,000 for the corresponding
year ended 31 March 2013. Basic earnings per share were
HK6.73 cents (2013: HK 21.19 cents). The decrease in profit
was due to the one-off net gain on disposal of investment
properties amounted to HK$141,161,000 in the year ended
31 March 2013 and the drop in gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties from HK$38,080,000 in the year
ended 31 March 2013 to zero in current year. In addition,
the significant increase in administrative expenses in relation
to the spin-off and separate listing of Excel Development
(Holdings) Limited (“Excel Development”), an indirect
subsidiary of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2014 also contributed to a drop of profit in current year.

On the other hand, the total comprehensive profit attributable
to owners of the parent recorded a slight increase from
HK$319,173,000 to HK$319,570,000 for the year ended
31 March 2014. Meanwhile, the net assets attributable
to equity shareholders as at 31 March 2014 amounted to
HK$1,940,607,000 or approximately HK$1.11 per share,
representing an increase of 28.1% and 11.0% respectively
(2013: HK$1,515,006,000 or HK$1.00 per share).
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Profit for the Year (HK$ million)
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ANEREAAFRZESG ((HFF]) > "HiA
FEEE R -NE=ZA =1 HIRER R 24E
ES &

EHFB

AEFABRE FZ-WE=ZA=+—HILEEZ L
G A 3,379,552,0008 00 » MR E T —=
FZH =4 — H R4 E Z3,476,653,0009 G % A
2.8% o AREEBAFFE HRGBH HKEZR
—Z4E=ZH =+ —H L4 E 319,173,000 0 »
T %63.9%F A4 B 22 115,373,0009 JC o 43 i 3
A F 256, 73WAN (ZF—=4F £ 21.19%1l) o %
FTHRFEEZHRAEARKE T =424
Et+—HILFEHARRHEEREMENHKZE
(FH) 141,161,000 78 » DA R EWHE N T EHEE
BRI RE R == H=1T—HILFEEZ
38,080,000 JC T M Z A 4K JiE 1 B ¥ 0 - B4 >
MBRE R WEZH =+ —HILEE RN EES
TREEREIARAF ([ThIEER] > AAFZ
M2 W JBS A W) ) 2 4 % B o B i AR A AT B H
KHG > AR EZ WA o

S > B W R E AR AR R 2 A A
B2 4EEM319,173,0008 00 » B LA ERE
ZE—NUE=ZH =+ — H R4 319,570,000
Wt o HULFE K R-FE—WAE=ZHA=Z+—HK
T S A 3 B A F 1,940,607,0009 76 B A I A
1110 » BB FE 55 EFA28.1%K11.0% (=&
—=4E 1 1,515,006,0009 JC B 4F B 411.00808) -
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DIVIDEND

No interim dividend has been paid or declared by the
Company during the year (2013: Nil). At the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 16 August 2013,
shareholders approved the final dividend of HK3 cents per
share for the year ended 31 March 2013 which amounted to a
total of approximately HK$52,400,000. The dividend was paid
on 10 September 2013.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of
HK1 cent (2013: HK3 cents) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 March 2014 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 2 September
2014 (Tuesday). The proposed payment of the final dividends
is subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
2014 annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and
has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2014.
Based on the 1,746,664,400 ordinary shares of the Company
in issues as of this report, the total dividend amounted to
approximately HK$17,467,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW
During the year under review, the Group was mainly engaged
in the contract works business and in the property investment

and development business in Hong Kong.

Contract works

For the year ended 31 March 2014, revenue from external
customers recorded for this segment amounted to
HK$3,363,842,000 (2013: HK$3,454,844,000), representing
a decrease of 2.6% from that of last year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the completion of several substantial
contracts during the year ended 31 March 2013. Due to the
general increase in contract costs and the decrease in revenue,
the segment’s profit from contract works decreased by 6.2%
to HK$170,088,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014 from
HK$181,376,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013. The
segment’s profit margin for sales to external customer for this

year was 5.1% (2013: 5.2%).

Jg B

A\ B AT W B IR R AR IR (2F
— AR ) M B -ZHENATAHEITZ
AR B R AE KRG b BR % — =4
EAZ1—HILEEIRETR3B U RHRE
3L #952,400,000¥ 76 - E CR F—=Z4JLH
T H3Z Ao

HRFERARE T -NE=ZHA=Z+—H L4
EmR_F—MELH ZH (BH ) 25 KA
A R A b B IR B R B R R A R
WAl (ZF— =48 - GREEB3EA) - BREE
Z A e SRR A A ) ) U — WY AR AR B I R
EREY (TRHKHAERG]) LESB R >
AIAEE s AR B B R N AR A —F— A=A
ET—HMERRBAME - LARHE B AR AR C#1T
JBEA31,746,664,400 B 5 48 F 5 4 w5 A i U8 A A
#17%417,467,000% 0 °

K05 ol
S T AR PO o A5 0 B R B A A 4 TR
B o DAV BT o

FHTE

MERECZ-PEZA=+—H IREE > AH
KA S PRI $53,363,842,0008 06 (=&
— =4 1 3,454,844,0009 00 ) > B EEWA2.6% -
BAWADEEHRETERGHORKE R
—ZFZEH=1T—HIEFERA - A > AR T
PR ARG ET BB TR » lE TR
FEHBEE - —-=Z4F£=ZH=1T—HILFEMN
181,376,000 JC T F#6.2% B E _F—WE=H
Z+— H 1k 4 BE#Y170,088,0009 7T o AN4E FE 1L 4>
WA AR E P BRI E5.1% (ZF— =4
5.2%) °
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Contract works (continued)

Besides our wholly-owned subsidiaries, the Group also engages
in this segment through joint ventures. For the year ended 31
March 2014, our share of profits from the joint ventures, net
of tax, amounted to HK$24,891,000, decreased by 19.2% from
HK$30,812,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013. This profit
is primarily attributable to our share of profits of the Leighton-
Able Joint Venture, in which we have 49% interest and which
undertakes the contract for the design and construction of Tin
Shui Wai Hospital, and our share of profits of Team Great

Limited which we have 40% interest.

Property Investment and Development

Our Group’s investment properties were valued at an aggregate
value of HK$874,600,000 as of 31 March 2014 (2013:
HK$419,600,000) by an independent professional valuer.
With various property market cooling measures in place to
curb speculating activities in property market, based on the
independent valuation performed, no gain on changes in fair

value of investment properties was recorded for the year ended

31 March 2014 (2013: HK$38,080,000).

The significant increase in the Group’s investment properties
portfolio in 31 March 2014 was mainly resulted from the
reclassification of our hotel property at No. 123 Tung Choi
Street (the “Tung Choi Street Property”) from “Property,
plant and equipment” to “Investment properties” when the
construction process completed and the Group confirmed its
intention to hold the property for long-term leasing purpose.
As at 31 March 2014, a revaluation gain of HK$204,197,000
has been recorded under reserves due to such reclassification.
The Tung Choi Street Property is a 18-storey-building
composite development with a total GFA of approximately
24,243 square feet. Ground floor to the second floor of the
Tung Choi Street Property is designed to be shop units while
sixth floor to seventeenth floor is a hotel with fifty guest
rooms. The fitting-out works of the hotel portion of the Tung
Choi Street Property was in progress as at 31 March 2014.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Investment and Development (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recorded a

gross rental income from external customers of approximately
HK$15,710,000 from its properties, representing a 28.0%
decrease from HK$21,809,000 for the year ended 31 March
2013. The decrease in rental income for the year ended
31 March 2014 are primarily due to the disposal of investment
properties located at Argyle Centre, Phase I, Mongkok (the
“Disposed Shops”) which completed on 28 February 2013.
Rental income generated from the Disposed Shops during

the year ended 31 March 2013 amounted to approximately
HK$8,555,000.

Other than property investment activities, the Group also
engaged in property development activities. During the year,
the Group completed the construction of the Tung Choi
Street Property. As at 31 March 2014, the Group is developing
two residential projects at Nos. 92A-E Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong, and at No. 9 Belfran Road, Kowloon.

As further set out in the section “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” of this annual report,
the Group entered into certain acquisition transactions and
acquired three properties with redevelopment/development
potential during the year ended 31 March 2014. They are
the Lugard Road Property, the First Kam Tin Properties
and the Second Kam Tin Properties. As at 31 March 2014,
these three newly acquired properties have been recorded
under “Properties held for development” on the face of the
consolidated statement of financial position.

SPIN-OFF AND SEPARATE LISTING OF EXCEL
DEVELOPMENT

This year marked an important milestone for the Group’s
development. As set out in note 32(b) to the financial
statements and the section “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” of this annual report, In December
2013, the Group has successfully spun off its business of
civil engineering works through a separate listing of its then
wholly-owned subsidiary, Excel Development, on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Excel Spin-Off”). The Excel Spin-
Off involved the offering of 50 million shares of HK$0.01
each by Excel Development at an offer price of HK$1.2 per
share to the public (the “Excel Offering”), raised a total cash
proceeds of HK$60,000,000 (before deduction of any related
expenses) by Excel Development. Immediately following the
completion of the Excel Spin-Off, the Group’s equity interest
in Excel Development was diluted from 100% to 75% and thus
the Excel Spin-Off is considered as a deemed partial disposal
of Excel Development by the Group.

¥ % B (7))

YRR E RBER ()
MBEER-NE=ZA=Z+—HIL4EE > K4
5 3k B b2k % 5 i H AL A 3 A A %% 15,710,000
WL BBRE R -=ZH£=A=Z+—HILHEE
#21,809,0009 T8 4 28.0% o AR FE 2 MW A
Wb R B AL E A O — B B 2
(MZEZomERM o 2—=282"H "+
HERME - iR E_Z2—=4=H=1+—H
IRAEJE » B4 O B ph Al T AR L & A A3
#18,555,000% 7C ©

PRES SN JE PINiE X/ ES I ITE S KNS
ACAEBE > AR B SE IR T B A SRR o
“ERWEZAZH o AR EIEAE R AR
A9 AR ARIE 92 A-E SR KL BE EL2FIEOR M B
H o

FhAb > QAR B o v [ B e B o A | —
Fraeilt » AEEREE—F-NE=H=+—H
Ak 45 B I R # T WO F E > EAS R  d
BB N W - AW ER ST B
WA TS S TR I A o R R
—WAEZA=4—H o =B AR SR B
BROE PP B RAHEERRZWE] -

A7 Bl NG 2 ¢ JBe g 3 DR B R ). bl

A AR JBE o A A T PR ) R ELRE A o A R
Bt 32 (b) B A 4R JE e 5 v 45 B 5 i Ik 43 47
—Hi ik > R ZF =T 2H o AREE R E
38 IR A A A T 1 2 R TR A D A 2 IR
WH AR MAMRAR (TH R P ]) M b
i S EARTRER (BRI - ZiRE
Sy IR BB B 1) A DA L. 20k T B A S B LT
e A % T AEL0.01 9 7 I B 1R 25 18 I B e 25 ([
AR EBER ) - L EHIZ560,000,0004 70 ($15x
FRA BB 2 A o BUb > AS SR B AR 1R 25 R ey
JBEASHE 28 B 100% 38 75% > 101 3% 16 2% 20 37 HIl
Tk A 4 [ B A 2% 7 e B S A A 2% o
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SPIN-OFF AND SEPARATE LISTING OF EXCEL
DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Since the deemed partial disposal of Excel Development did
not result in a loss of control, such transaction was accounted
for as an equity transaction and the excess between the net
proceeds from the Excel Offering and the 25% carrying value
of Excel Development amounted to HK$746,000 is recognised
in capital reserve of the Group.

Except for one building construction project, Excel
Development and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Excel
Development Group”) are currently principally engage in
civil engineering contract works business, which comprise
waterworks, roads and drainage works, landslip preventive and
remedial works to slopes and retaining walls, and utilities civil
engineering works. The Directors believe the Excel Spin-Off
can lead to a more defined business focus and efficient
resource allocation of the Group, as well as unlock the value of
the civil engineering contract works business, and return it to

the shareholders.

To avoid potential conflict of interest between the Company
and Excel Development after the listing, on 10 December
2013, Mr. LI Chi Pong, an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Excel Development, resigned from the
Board of the Company as an executive director before the
listing. On the other hand, the Company as the controlling
shareholder of Excel Development, has appointed Mr. YAU
Kwok Fai, the Company’s chief executive officer, executive
director and deputy chairman of the Board, as the non-
executive director and chairman in the board of directors of
Excel Development to contribute in the overall planning and
formulation of strategic directions and provision of operation
guidance of the Excel Development Group.

PROSPECTS

The global economy continues to face uncertainties in the
year 2014. Concerns on the US Federal Reserve’s plan to
tapering monetary stimulus have brought turbulence and
uncertainties to the global financial market. On the other
hand, due to the implementation of major infrastructure
projects and accelerated building programme for public
housing development by the HKSAR Government, the
Directors believe the outlook of the construction and
engineering industry in Hong Kong still looks promising in the
near to medium future.
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(A [ 06 2 % B 4R 10 1) B iy 32 224K =+ R TAR
A A0 TRESERS > KB TR - I ORH T
T~ R R A ot 2 BR B e TR DL R S
B Z AR TR - EHEME » IR0 Ires
S 705 VR O WL % B A 2 L A SR [ R > DL
Be BT bR AR B4 A 40 TR 365 R M - SN I
Ie] 5 JBe 3R o

Fy T RBAER M a2 > R oF =41+ 2A
T H > R ER LT BRI
EOERGEER LT REAAFRTERZ
WK o 55— 07 » A FIAE B 0 25 158 e 2 158 MR Bt
Ho DRERAFATBAR - UTEFLRERG
R e BB S A > AR R MR s IR E S 2 IR
PATE S L > D2 B 5 15 i AR 0 A Bl
38 i ) R B 5 1k > DA B Ay JL AR ARAE SR A o

Wil

BRBRALTE R ZF — AR B H AWK -
T 455 39 5 B Tt R ok A R it ) oA 3% N o 9 B R
GBI ) Ay 5 58 T 388 B 2Rk 4 1l i 25 409 20 52 B ) A
WK o 55— 5 > B A SRR H Y
TEHE > b7 W BOM b 2 3% B J2 3 et il >
b > 3 R A U G S AR AT 38 A R A K
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

F W

PROSPECTS (continued)

Since the Group currently mainly focuses on public contract
works sector in Hong Kong, the Directors expect the
Group’s revenue from contract works business will remain
stable in the short to medium term. However, the growth
in the construction and engineering industry also means
the problems now facing by the whole industry on aging
workforce, labour shortage, skills mismatch and succession gap
will continue in the foreseeable future, which will in turn put
high pressure on costs control and contract works schedules
for our contract works business. Therefore, although tendering
opportunities are expected to continue to be abundant for
some time, the Group will remain cautious towards tender
pricing and we will continue to be selective and focus only on
those projects which we believe will be profitable with healthy
cash flows and where we has an edge.

To support sustainable development of the Group, we will
continue to keep a close eye on the land and property market
for property development opportunities. Although the
HKSAR Government has introduced a number of cooling
measures to combat against the rising property prices in Hong
Kong since November 2010 which lead to uncertainties in
Hong Kong property market, the Directors are optimistic on
the medium to long term development of property market due
to the continuous shortage of land supply and strong end-user

demand in the urban areas of Hong Kong.

During this year, the Group acquired the Lugard Road
Property, which located at a prime location, through the
Flower Ocean Acquisition. The Group intends to redevelop
(subject to approval) the Lugard Road Property into two
or three villas which contains a total gross floor area of
approximately 864.1 square meters (approximately 9,301
square feet) for rental or sale purpose. The Group also
acquired the Kam Tin Properties, through the Kam Tin
Acquisition. The Group intends to develop the Kam Tin
Properties into residential properties in the medium to long
run (subject to approval and may subject to land premium

assessment) for sale purpose.

Wi 3 (7))

FH P A 458 [ B 0 7 A W 0 T BURF B 2 4 A 1Y
A TR > HE R RN Y S P s ACHE R
8 TREEB A M RR R 2 - SR > SRR
TRRAT SR I R R 37 Bl I B 47 3 B v I 4 2
B 12 WAL ~ 55 By R~ B RE LA T I AR
Py T L1 5 A o 90 I 0 2 ) TR SR Y TR
BRA R > DL TRRIE BRIy o PRL > 4 TH
S0 R A8 — BE IR T 473 7 S B 1 B 4 B oy > ARG
VA 7% AR R R BB A A RS LA AR > A
B/ D HEAT PRI > S {8 4R v 3B BRAM R s T M
AR EBL G > D RRM A B FESANEA -

R T LR ARG RS B > RAAG L R
S T 55 A AR R DD B > DL SR O A 3 R R A
7o FWREBN A ZF -FF - AUKRCE
EAEE A LT — R PR A > AR T
e e A A BT U3 SRR A o T T e L T
S5 AN WY T PR 3R > e D 3 R % R
WP F SRR TR AT > MERH BRI ETLZ
w13 R 0 iSRS R R S8

TAAAEFE 5 AR B 7B 1 % Flower Ocean i 5 JE
S N Aor L Y % R B o AR B A
B B SR RS = RO B (TR B AR P
) > B4t AR 1 RE 3L 20864, 1°F 5 ok (#79,301
05 W) AR B B A o R ARAE s R4
IRIEIR S O S A Z S ¥ - B
FrEER B ERIEZEH ) EFRBEED
S (7R 284t e e sl 28 il o ) A HH B i o
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PROSPECTS (continued)

The Directors believes the Tung Choi Street Property will
have a positive impact on the Group’s profits and cashflows in
2014 upon the leasing of the property. The Group also looks
forward to receiving remarkable income from the property
development business upon the completion of the residential
development projects at Nos. 92A-E Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong and No. 9 Belfran Road, Kowloon in the year 2015.

Looking forward, the management will keep up efforts to grasp
new investment and property development opportunities and
bid for more contracts to sustain the Group’s profitability and

to enhance shareholders’ return.

APPRECIATION

I would like to extend our gratitude and sincere appreciation
to all management and staff members of the Group for their
hard work and dedication and all shareholders of the Company
for their support.

On behalf of the Board of

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2014
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PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2014

Address
ik

I. Properties in Hong Kong
g Pa/E S

1. Nos. 123, 125, 127 Tung Choi Street,
Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong
A W JURE HE AR 123 ~ 125 12798

2. Shop Nos. 5 and 6 and Storeroom 3,
Ist Floor, Fu Wah Centre, No. 210 Castle Peak Road,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
A BT R 2 21098 W A b
14885 B2 6 55% filf S 3% iy =

3. No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
A JURESE B AT ZHE 1555

4. No. 157 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong
BWIUREIE AT 15798

5. Flat E, 17th Floor, Tower 2, The Greenwood (Phase 1),

Laguna Verde, No. 8 Laguna Verde Avenue,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

5 ¥ JU HE AL T 965 3% T 8 9% 1 % 5% [

RRBEWE (SR 1M]) 62 1 THEES

6. No. 3987 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong

T HEBT S R K 2 i T A B398 THE

7.  Car Parking Space Nos. 54 and 56 on Ground Floor,
Oxford Court, Nos. 24-26 Braemar Hill Road,
North Point, Hong Kong
A WAL £ 8RS B 24-26 5% Wbk
H R 5455 B 5655 1 B AL
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"

AR B A 2%

R -WEZH=Z1T—H

Use

i

Shops and hotel

7 il B 8 0

Shops

[EEi

Office
WA=
Residential

B

Residential

(61

Car parking spaces

THHLAL

Tenure

M

Long lease

Medium term
lease

AL A

Medium term
lease

IR A

Medium term
lease

IR

Medium term
lease

LAY

Medium term
lease

I AL A

Long lease

R A

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Yo

Percentage held

by the Group
AL A
HAal

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

B3R

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)
AT 31 MARCH 2014

Address
ik

II. Properties Held for Development in Hong Kong
MR AERRZME

1. Front Portions on G/F to 6/F, and 7/F, and
Roof of No. 1 Wood Road;
Rear Portions on G/F to 4/F and 7/F and
Roof of No. 1 Wood Road;
Front Portions on 1/F to 5/F and 7/F including
the Roof of No. 1A, Wood Road; and
Rear Portions on 1/F to 6/F and 7/F including
the Roof of No. 1A, Wood Road, Hong Kong
Site area: 432.00 square meter
Salable area: 1,600.61 square meter
B EATE A BT R T B R TR KRG 5
HHEVRRE T B4R TR RE
G VRATT R I ES R TR & 5 ]
B IGRAR P 1 Rt R R &
3 1 432.00°F J5 K
B R 1,600.61°FJ5 K

2. 28 Lugard Road, The Peak, Hong Kong

Site area: 1,728.17 square meter
Salable area: 292.80 square meter
A v 1L TE 75 2898

Ho A T R - 1,728.17°F J %

B A 292.80F J5 %

3. Wing Lung Wai 173A (The Remaining Portion of
Lot No0.462, The Remaining Portion of
Lot No0.464 and The Remaining Portion of
Lot No.465, all in Demarcation District No.109),
Kam Tin, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong
Site area: 5,528.52 square meter
A VBT S 7 B T K B I 173 A (S A4 B0 A
SR100%% > HBEAE402BEBR B ~ HLB SR 404 0E R B Sk
Hh B S 46558 iR BY)

% TR B 5,528.52°F J5 %

AR B A 2P (8D

R -WEZH=Z1T—H

Use

A&

Residential

i

Residential

(61

Residential and
village type
development
18 B A X
£ 4

Tenure

M

Long lease

Long lease

R

Medium

term lease

AL A

Percentage held
by the Group
AR B A
"l

100%

100%

100%
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PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)
AT 31 MARCH 2014

II.

I11.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
®moA o R A B A FH

Address Use
3k &
Properties Held for Development in Hong Kong (continued)

A R A AR SR 2 W 3% (B0

The Remaining Portion of Lot No.544 and Residential
The Remaining Portion of Lot No.545, both in 2

Demarcation District No.109,

Kam Tin, Yuen Long, New Territories, Hong Kong
Site area: 528.06 square meter
A VBT 5 e 1 8 F Sk 4 4y 0 B R SR 1099

b B 565 54455 R B e b B 36 545 9E R BE

8 T 528.06°F J5 %

Properties Under Development in Hong Kong

RFEZER YR

Nos. 92A-E, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong Residential
(Inland Lot No. 7551) B
Site area: 1,393.53 square meter

Gross floor area: 1,958.30 square meter

Stage of development: Plans approved by

Buildings Department;
superstructure work in progress
Expected completion date: Within 2015

B HHRREO2AZE2EYE (JLBE N B S T75515%)

g T A 1,393.53°F J5 %
AR i I A 1,958.30°F- J5 %
BRI B EBFECHUER > BT
LETH
HEHR T HH - ZR—HEN
No. 9 Belfran Road, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon Residential
(Section C of Kowloon Inland Lot No. 3281) 1B
Site area: 368.28 square meter
Gross floor area: 1,464.82 square meter
Stage of development: Land lease modification

approved; superstructure
work in progress
Expected completion date: Within 2015
JUHE ] SCH EL2F 958 (JUHE P 3 B 58328158 CHR 43)

b T RS 368.28%F J5 Kk

A8 T TR A 1,464.82°F 77 Xk

BB T A Z BT O
E#EST E#% T

AR T H Y : R -TEN
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AR B 2 W3 (8D
RE—WAEZA = —H

Tenure

00

Medium term lease

AL A

Medium term lease

I ALY

Long lease

R

Yo

Percentage held
by the Group
A AR F A
"k

100%

100%

100%



SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

A FH AR

At 31 March 2014, the management estimated the gross and WRZZF—ME=ZH=+—H » FHGMHFHAREHE
outstanding values of the Group’s substantial contracts on  Z K FBH G 456 B A& 56 B #EAE 43 Bl 4 2%
hand amounted to approximately HK$10,030 million and  100.30f&¥#70C &57.61fEW G » % HRKFHAEH
HK$5,761 million, respectively. Details of these substantial —Z#F A& RIHFI W F -

contracts are set out below:

Projects Contract value
¥ H U
HKS$ million
H #ET
Building Construction
B gl 5
Carcass Work for the Proposed Residential Development at K.I.LL.11125 Argyle Street, Kowloon 823

JUHE SR A JURE R B S5 111255%) 48 38 J vt ) i i 5 T

Clubhouse Fitting Out Works for the Proposed Residential Development at TKOTL No. 70,

Area 86 Site E (Package Three), Tseung Kwan O 123
S 955 YL S [ 55 8.6 i 1% B LT M BE SR 70R MR B R T (B =R B 2 @R iE TR
Design and Construction of Tin Shui Wai Hospital, Phase 1 1,454
FEST VST T T ES") (Note 1)
(Hfat1)
Design and Construction of Redevelopment of Tai Lam Centre for Women 823
et M B KA L BN
Main Contract for the Proposed Redevelopment of St. Paul’s Co-educational College (Phase 2) 177

SR ER T Lorp B Ok ) TR (58 )

Carcass Work Contract for Proposed Property Development at TW 7, Tsuen Wan West Station,
Tsuen Wan Town Lot No. 403, N.T. N 1,605
T VG S L D (R T M Be4039%) S BRI wH o A R SR AR

Construction of Public Rental Housing Development at Tung Tau Cottage Area East 384

RCBA T B Ik ROV M M 2 SE A 57 2 o e ) A R TR

Estimated Outstanding Contract Value — by project category

ARSI AT KA SR — 5 H 28

Building Malntenance 24(y
0

Road and Drainage Works, Waterworks and Slope Works 1 60/
WO LR K B LR K A LR 0

Civil Engineering and Utilities Works 8(y
TR R A T s AR (4]

Building Congggogg 52%
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B

# Ok A R & W

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

Projects

¥ H

Building Maintenance

B IR %

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works to Government
and Subvented Properties for which the Architectural Services Department is
Responsible Contract Area: Kowloon and Outlying Islands (Sai Kung)

P KA S E AT XM - R R R N TR EN G A
(FRE e : Ui kR (W)

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works to Government and
Subvented Properties for which the Architectural Services Department is
Responsible Contract Area: New Territories and Outlying Islands (North)

PEr KA s AT M - R R I R N TR EN AR
(F5 7€ Ho It < B 7 ek B (b))

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision of
Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by Leisure
and Cultural Services Department for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Hong Kong Island, Lantau
Island and Outlying Islands (South), Wong Tai Sin, Shatin, Kowloon City,

Sai Kung and Outlying Islands (Sai Kung))

B Bl 5 1 B ph R A N SO T B A B BURT B b 2 i R
Fewkti 2 /AN TREE I 40 (PR g i« s ~ RBUD Kol 5 (W9) ~
FRAL ~ ¥~ JURE R v B Rk S (V6 )

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision of
Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by Leisure
and Cultural Services Department for which the Architectural Services Department
is Responsible (Designated Contract Area: Sham Shui Po, Tsuen Wan, Kwai Tsing,
Kwun Tong, Mongkok, Yaumatei, Tsim Sha Tsui, Tai Po, North District,
Outlying Islands (North), Tuen Mun and Yuen Long)

A B B S F 1 T 00 o R 4 N SO T A B BURT M b R
Feodthe 2 /R TREE B 4 (P ol = YROK Y ~ 250 - 3895 - BiYE - IEA -
RS ~ RIPUE > B~ JblE - BRE (b)) - B RoTE)
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Contract value

o 8 e

HKS$ million

F # 7 7T

293

318

309

257



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

K T BT SR

Projects

¥ H

Building Maintenance (continued)

B (A0

Term Contract for the Design and Construction of Minor Works for Provision of
Barrier-Free Access and Facilities to Government Premises Managed by
Government Departments other than Leisure and Cultural Services Department for
which the Architectural Services Department is Responsible (Designated Contract
Area: Hong Kong Island, Lantau Island and Outlying Islands (South))

A B B S E £ T 00 ph R 4 N SO A P BURT M b R
Feiti 2 /AN TREE B 40 (FR e I« v o ~ R Kok 555 (79))

Minor Works Term Contract to Buildings and Lands and Other Properties for

which the Architectural Services Departments Responsible in Hong Kong

MR A 2 i RS b S 2 N TR 2 A A
Term Contract for the Design and Construction for Alterations, Additions and
Improvement Works for Hospitals

At B B R~ o R W A A

Road and Drainage Works, Waterworks and Slope Works
T RO LR - K TR R A LR

Proposed Residential Development (Package Two) at TKOTL No. 70, Area 86,

Contract value

AR
HKS$ million
B 4T

335

178

223

23

Site AB, Tseung Kwan O, N.T. Junction Improvement Works at Wan Po Road/Wan O Road
1 FE WA B [ 58 86 I i R T ML B SR 705 2 AR B R R ATl (OF R B X BRIR R R

BRI 2 W i & 9 B R AR

Provision of External Cable Construction Works and Outside Telecommunication

Plant Maintenance Services for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited

Te A 8 SR A PR R 3R B 5 A s M A s R

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1 —

Remaining Mains on Hong Kong Island

BEAR RS BKAE RHH SE AR B L — W R AR T EEKE TRAN

70

467
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caﬁléﬁl&ﬁ Boa W

SUMMARY OF SI1GNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

Projects

X H

Road and Drainage Works, Waterworks and Slope Works
YT MR AW S BN Y S AN

Replacement and Rehabiliation of Water Mains, Stage 4, Phase 1 —

Major Mains in Eastern New Territories

B4 R A8 KA R B S 4 R BEAS 1] — B R R B ZOKAE TR K

I.L. 9018(H15) Lee Tung Street/McGregor Street, Wanchai, Hong Kong — Road Works
AW WA R SR 28 I ) R 1LL.9018(H15) Hb Be 2 78 i i 3% T #%

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains in Wanchai District

B4 R A8 PR A R 0 58 3 Y B — ¥ A I K A TR

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains in Hong Kong Island East

B4 R A8 K A Rl 0 SR 3 I B — v R RUK A TR

Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 4 Phase 1 — Mains in West Kowloon,
Kwai Tsing and Tsuen Wan

B S B KA G BSR4 MY Be AR U — U DY - 389 R EEOKE TR
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Contract value

AR
HKS$ million
B 4T

345

12

348

362

616




VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

K T BT SR

Projects Contract value
HH R
HK$ million
H T

Civil Engineering and Utilities Works

A TR A M B TR

Provision of Civil Works Term Contract No. CWT E32 for Hong Kong -
Telecommunciations (HKT) Limited (Note 2)
W E A A F LA TR EH & AHECWT E32 (Hit2)
Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services of Telephone and Broadband -
Installation (Phase II) for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited (Note 2)
— Hong Kong Region (Kti#2)

Ih) A 8 SR AR PR ) 32 B A A AR B R S P R SO RIRE (B ) - B R

Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services of Telephone and Broadband -
Installation (Phase II) for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited (Note 2)
— Kowloon Region (Kti#E2)
I6) 7 95 55 AT BR A W) 3R B AR O B AR Bl & P R~ TOMHR IS (56 ) — JuiiE IR

Civil Works for 132KV Cable Circuit Improvement from Sai Ying Pun Zone Subsection 42
to Zetland Street Zone Subsection — Section from Hollywood Road to Lyndhurst Terrace

for Hong Kong Electric Co., Ltd.
B R A B F) SO e g Ay I R A I — A A AR B

AR U LR TR
Provision of Works for Integrated Blockwiring Infrastructure -
16 75 ¥ 7 AR B 2 B 9 Bt A 1 M 5 o S A A R AR R B (Note 2)
(Hfit2)
Notes: Wit :

1) Project with a contract sum of HK$2,968m million being undertaken by 1) i — AR R B2 EHEH > & 4481529.68(%
Leighton—Able Joint Venture, an unincorporated body in which 49% VT > A A [ A 1 — AR I AN 49% M 25 o
interest is attributable to the Group.

2)  Due to the nature of the contracts, no contract sum is provided and  2) ERESLAHE > YERETLMEHLHE » 2546

the estimated labour and materials values stated in such contracts are 2 B il A 2T A5 B e AR i 2 2 s MR
for reference only but our actual amount of work, revenue and profit AP A #0300 T e R ) BB AR - WA Rtz R TS
recognised during the contract term is derived from the total estimated AR YR A AR e R AR T D B S
labour and materials values depending on the actual number of work e M RHME G A A e S S

orders received by our Group during the same period.
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(QUALIFICATIONS AND LICENSES

A B I

The following table summarises the details of the major TFTRMMEA-F—WNE=ZA=+—H > REMHE
qualifications and licences obtained by the members of our T B 2 & B Y £ &K KRG ¢
Group as at 31 March 2014.

Government and Related Category
Organisations

B VB 1 B A7 B 1k A BN

Works Branch, Development Buildings
Bureau i £}
B )R TH R Repair and Restoration of Historic Buildings — For works —
related to ‘Western Style Buildings’ only
Hefe KBRS — R Fﬁ% [ A5 1A B TR
Turn-key Interior Design and Fitting-out Works I
2% N A T
Housing Authority Building (New Works) NW?2(Probation)
BRZEAT BECHTIR) )
Building (Maintenance) M1
A (R5E)
Decoration Contractors —
EICES 1]
Buildings Department General Building Contractors —
£ — R E TR
Site Formation Works —
AR R TR
Foundation Works —
TR
Housing Society Building Works List 2
o #r BT did TR 23 -
Urban Renewal Authority Repair/Maintenance Works Upper Tier
R Hefs PR TR g
Electrical and Mechanical Services | Registered Electrical Contractors (Electricity Ordinance) —_
Department
HE LR il Ml 6 A v (R ) ok 1))
Works Branch, Development Waterworks C
Bureau K ]
B R TR Roads and Drainage C (Probation)
7 I BORB HGAH)
Buildings A
e S il
Landslip Preventive/Remedial Works to Slopes/Retaining Walls —
R B £ A Bk VR SR TR
Housing Authority Building (Maintenance) M2 (Probation)
EREZER® HE(RE) M2 H)
Decoration Contractors —
FAE R
Buildings Department General Building Contractors —
BT % — TR
Site Formation Works —
Mol TR TR
Foundation Works —
Wk TR
Electrical and Mechanical Services | Registered Electrical Contractors (Electricity Ordinance) —
Department
B E LS il Ml 5 6 A v (R ) R 431
Works Branch, Development Waterworks
Bureau
BRERNIER KB
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MANAGEMENT

DiscussioNn & ANALYSIS

o B W ﬁﬁ;ﬁﬁ}ﬁ

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with
the Company’s audited consolidated accounts for the year
ended 31 March 2014.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the year under review, the Group was mainly engaged
in the contract works business and in the property investment
and development business in Hong Kong.

Contract works

For the year ended 31 March 2014, revenue from external
customers recorded for this segment amounted to
HK$3,363,842,000 (2013: HK$3,454,844,000), representing
a decrease of 2.6% from that of last year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the completion of several substantial
contracts during the year ended 31 March 2013. Due to the
general increase in contract costs and the decrease in revenue,
the segment’s profit from contract works decreased by 6.2%
to HK$170,088,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014 from
HK$181,376,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013. The
segment’s profit margin for sales to external customer for this

year was 5.1% (2013: 5.2%).

\ 35 o

S
U TR BERAA A RE % Mg =
IR R JE AR 2 £ A BB W — B2
K05 Wl
B AR P » A SR A £ 40 TR
PRSI T LR
8 TR

WRE R WEZA=Z1—HIEE > 45
B AR E PRI $53,363,842,0008 6 (=&
—Z4F 1 3,454,844,000970) > BEEWA2.6% o
WABA»EEHRETHERAGHOREE SR
—ZEZHA=ET—HIRFEES - R > BR T
PR ARG B ETE BN T Bk > M4 TR
MEEERER-=ZE=H=1+—HILEEH
181,376,000 7 F 6 2% BB E ~F—M4E=H
=+—H L4 BERY170,088,0009 I8 o A4E JEE I 4
AR B AR % P BRI 5 5.1% (8 — =48
5.2%) °
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

OB A R OA A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Contract works (continued)

Besides our wholly-owned subsidiaries, the Group also engages
in this segment through joint ventures. For the year ended 31
March 2014, our share of profits from the joint ventures, net
of tax, amounted to HK$24,891,000, decreased by 19.2% from
HK$30,812,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013. This profit
is primarily attributable to our share of profits of the Leighton-
Able Joint Venture, in which we have 49% interest and which
undertakes the contract for the design and construction of Tin
Shui Wai Hospital, and our share of profits of Team Great

Limited which we have 40% interest.

The Group’s contract works business can be further divided
into two businesses according to nature of contracts, building
construction and maintenance works and civil engineering

works.

Building construction and maintenance works

During the year, a substantial contract “Carcass Work for
the Proposed Residential Development at K.I.LL.11125 Argyle
Street, Kowloon” with a contract sum of HK$828 million was
awarded to the Group. Although the amount of new contracts
awarded during the year for this business was less than that
of the previous year’s, our outstanding workload remains
substantial and selective. We expect these jobs on hand will

be completed in one to four years.

Meanwhile, the following significant contracts regarding

building construction and maintenance works were completed

by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2014:

e Term Contracts for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible for
the Government of the HKSAR (Designated Contract
Area: Kowloon City, Sai Kung and Outlying Islands (Sai
Kung))
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Contract works (continued)

Building construction and maintenance works (continued)

e Term Contracts for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department (Property Services Branch) is responsible for
the Government of the HKSAR (Designated Contract
Area: Wong Tai Sin and Shatin)

e  Main Building Works for Redevelopment of Caritas
Medical Centre, Phase 2

e  Supply & Installation of Primary Structure and Provision
of Attendance for Construction of Guan Yin Statue, Tsz

Shan Monastery Development at Ting Kok, Tai Po

Ciwil engineering works
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group completed

the following substantial civil engineering works contracts:

e Civil Engineering Works Term Contract No. CWT E31
for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited;

e  Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II)
for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited —
Wanchai and Southern District;

e  Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II)
for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited —
Kowloon West District;

e  Reprovision of Sea Water Cooling Pipes for Elements;

and

e Provision of External Cable Construction Works and
Outside Telecommunication Plant Maintenance Services

for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Contract works (continued)

Ciwil engineering works (continued)

On the other hand, the Group was awarded the following
substantial civil engineering works contracts during this year:

e Provision of Civil Works Term Contract No. CWT E32
for Hong Kong Telecommunciations (HKT) Limited;

e Proposed Residential Development (Package Two) at
TKOTL No. 70 Area 86, Site AB, Tseung Kwan O, N.T.
Junction Improvement Works at Wan Po Road/Wan O
Road;

e  Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II) for
Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited — Hong
Kong Region; and

e Provision of Integrated Field Work for Field Services
of Telephone and Broadband Installation (Phase II)
for Hong Kong Telecommunications (HKT) Limited —
Kowloon Region.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Property Investment and Development

Our Group’s investment properties were valued at an aggregate
value of HK$874,600,000 as of 31 March 2014 (2013:
HK$419,600,000) by an independent professional valuer.
With various property market cooling measures in place to
curb speculating activities in property market, based on the
independent valuation performed, no gain on changes in fair

value of investment properties was recorded for the year ended

31 March 2014 (2013: HK$38,080,000).

The significant increase in the Group’s investment properties
portfolio in 31 March 2014 was mainly resulted from the
reclassification of our hotel property at No. 123 Tung Choi
Street (the “Tung Choi Street Property”) from “Property,
plant and equipment” to “Investment properties” when the
construction process completed and the Group confirmed its
intention to hold the property for long-term leasing purpose.
As at 31 March 2014, a revaluation gain of HK$204,197,000
has been recorded under reserves due to such reclassification.
The Tung Choi Street Property is a 18-storey-building
composite development with a total GFA of approximately
24,243 square feet. Ground floor to the second floor of the
Tung Choi Street Property is designed to be shop units while
sixth floor to seventeenth floor is a hotel with fifty guest
rooms. The fitting-out works of the hotel portion of the Tung
Choi Street Property was in progress as at 31 March 2014.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recorded a
gross rental income from external customers of approximately
HK$15,710,000 from its properties, representing a 28.0%
decrease from HK$21,809,000 for the year ended 31 March
2013. The decrease in rental income for the year ended 31
March 2014 are primarily due to the disposal of investment
properties located at Argyle Centre, Phase I, Mongkok (the
“Disposed Shops”) which completed on 28 February 2013.
Rental income generated from the Disposed Shops during
the year ended 31 March 2013 amounted to approximately
HK$8,555,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Property Investment and Development (continued)

Other than property investment activities, the Group also
engaged in property development activities. During the year,
the Group completed the construction of the Tung Choi
Street Property. As at 31 March 2014, the Group is developing
two residential projects at Nos. 92A-E Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong, and at No. 9 Belfran Road, Kowloon.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group also entered
into the following transactions to acquire properties with

development/redevelopment potential.

The Flower Ocean Acquisition

As set out in note 32(a) to the financial statements, the
Group entered into a share transfer agreement with Mr.
NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”, an executive director,
Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company) for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in
Flower Ocean Limited and the loan due and owning by Flower
Ocean and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Flower Ocean
Group”) to Mr. NGAI (the “Flower Ocean Acquisition”), for
a total consideration of HK$299,064,000 on 19 March 2013.
Completion of the Flower Ocean Acquisition took place on 22
May 2013. The Flower Ocean Acquisition constitutes a major
and connected transaction of the Company.

Subject to future building plans approval, the Group intends
to redevelop the property held by the Flower Ocean Group at
No. 28 Lugard Road, The Peak (the “Lugard Road Property”)

into two or three villas for sale or for rental purpose.

As at 31 March 2014, the Lugard Road Property has been
recorded under “Properties held for development” on the face

of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Property Investment and Development (continued)

The Flower Ocean Acquisition (continued)

As part of the transactions contemplated under the Flower
Ocean Acquisition, on 22 May 2013, the Group disposed a
wholly-owned subsidiary, Gold Vantage, and the loan owing
by Gold Vantage to a subsidiary of the Group to settle part of
the consideration of the Flower Ocean Acquisition (the “Gold
Vantage Disposal”). As at 31 March 2013 and on the day of
disposal, other than the property located at Unit B including
carport(s) and garden, Riverain Bayside, No. 3985 Tai Po
Road Yuen Chau Tsai, Tai Po, New Territories (the “Riverain
Property”) which Gold Vantage recorded under “Property,
plant and equipment”, Gold Vantage also own a property
recorded under “Investment properties” at Block M-K39,
Sunshine Holiday villas Yingchengzi Village, Badaling Town,
Yangqing Country, Beijing, People’s Republic of China.

From the Gold Vantage Disposal, the Group realised a total
net gain of HK$9,965,000. The net gain mainly represented
the difference between the market value of the Riverain

Property and its book value.

The Kam Tin Acquisition

The Group entered into sale and purchase agreements with
independent third parties for the acquisition of all those pieces
or parcels of ground registered in the Land Registry as The
Remaining Portion of Lot No.462, The Remaining Portion
of Lot No.464 and The Remaining Portion of Lot No.465, all
in Demarcation District No.109, together with the messuages
erections and buildings thereon (if any)(the “First Kam
Tin Properties”) and all those pieces or parcels of ground
registered in the Land Registry as The Remaining Portion of
Lot No.544 and The Remaining Portion of Lot No.545, both
in Demarcation District No.109, together with the messuages
erections and buildings thereon (if any)(the “Second Kam
Tin Properties”)(together with the First Kam Tin Properties,
the “Kam Tin Properties”), for a total consideration of
HK$68,453,000 on 10 December 2013 (the “Kam Tin
Acquisition”). Completion of the Kam Tin Acquisition took
place on 10 January 2014.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Property Investment and Development (continued)

The Kam Tin Acquisition (continued)

The Directors consider the Kam Tin Properties are located at
convenient location in the New Territories. The preliminary
plan of the Company is to utilize the entire First Kam Tin
Properties for storage purpose and to develop the Second Kam
Tin Properties into residential properties for sale (subject to
approval and may subject to land premium assessment). The
Directors also intended that the First Kam Tin Properties
will be developed to residential properties for sale (subject to
approval and may subject to land premium assessment) in the

medium to long run.

As at 31 March 2014, the Kam Tin Properties have been
recorded under “Properties held for development” on the face
of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Completion of the Spin-off and Listing of Excel Development
As set out in note 32(b) to the financial statements, upon the
completion of the Excel Spin-off on 10 December 2013, the
Group’s interest in Excel Development decreased from 100%
to 75%. Since the decrease only constitutes a partial disposal
of interest in Excel Development which did not resulted
in a loss of control, the assets, liabilities and results of the
Excel Development Group continue to be consolidated in
the financial statements of the Company and no gain or loss
had been recorded for the transaction in the Group’s profit
and loss. The differences between the proceeds of the share
offer and the net asset value of the Excel Development Group
attributable to the 25% non-controlling shareholders as at the
Spin-off date has been recorded under “capital reserve” in the
Group’s equity.

Meanwhile, administrative expenses of approximately
HK$9,500,000 has been incurred in association with the
Excel Spin-Off exercise while share issuing expenses and
underwriting expenses of an aggregate of approximately
HK$8,500,000 has been charged to equity during the year
ended 31 March 2014.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains significantly decreased from
HK$184,634,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013 to
HK$14,592,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014. The
decrease was mainly due to the one-off net gain on disposal
of investment properties amounted to HK$141,161,000 in the
year ended 31 March 2013 and the drop in gain on changes
in fair value of investment properties from HK$38,080,000 in
the year ended 31 March 2013 to zero in current year. The
decrease was partly offset by the net gain of HK$9,965,000

recogansied for the Gold Vantage Disposal in current year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by HK$18,307,000
from HK$61,691,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013 to
HK$79,998,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014. The
increase was mainly attributable to the expenses in relation to
the Excel Spin-Off during the year ended 31 March 2014 and

the increase in staff cost.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group’s finance
costs recognised as expenses were HK$7,927,000 (2013:
HK$11,314,000) while its total interest on bank loans
before interest capitalisation were HK$15,175,000 (2013:
HK$18,509,000). The decrease in overall finance costs in
current year was attributable to the lower applicable interest

rates the Group enjoyed when compared with that of the year
ended 31 March 2013.

Share of profits and losses of joint ventures

The amount of net profits shared from the Group’s
joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2014 were
HK$24,891,000, lower than HK$30,812,000 of last year. The
decrease in profit shared was mainly resulted from the decrease
in profits shared from Leighton-Able Joint Venture due to the
completion of the Design and Construction of North Lantau
Hospital, Phase 1.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense decreased by 21.9% from HK$24,977,000
for the year ended 31 March 2013 to HK$19,518,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2014. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in profit before tax from for the

year ended 31 March 2014.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent

As a result of the foregoing, profit attributable to owners
of the parent for the year 31 March 2014 decreased from
HK$319,173,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013 to
HK$115,373,000 for the year ended 31 March 2014.
Meanwhile, the total comprehensive profit attributable
to owners of the parent recorded a slight increase from
HK$319,173,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013 to
HK$319,570,000 for current year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Due to the Group’s significant cash inflows generated
from operating activities during the year ended 31 March
2014, despite the cash outflows from the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2013, the Flower
Ocean Acquisition an the Kam Tin Acquisition, the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 2014 amounted to
HK$403,477,000, representing an increase by 10.3% from
HK$365,705,000 as at 31 March 2013. Current ratio stood at
1.20 at 31 March 2014, while that as at 31 March 2013 was
1.35. Current ratio is measured as total current assets divided

by total current liabilities.

Our banking facilities, comprising primarily bank
loans, overdrafts and performance bond, amounted
to HK$1,631,840,000 as of 31 March 2014 (2013:
HK$1,516,129,000), of which HK$819,855,000 (2013:
HK$762,580,000) was unutilised.

At 31 March 2014 and 2013, the Group’s bank borrowings

were all denominated in Hong Kong dollars and primarily on a
floating rate basis.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

The Group does not engage in any interest rates and currency
speculation activities. The Group’s bank accounts are operated
with principal bankers in Hong Kong. The interest rates
of these bank accounts are determined by reference to the
respective bank offer rate. The Group maintains sufficient
working capital resources to execute its contract works and
property development plans and generally takes a prudent
and cautious approach to cash application and its capital

commitments.

Charges on Assets
At 31 March 2014, the following assets of the Group were
pledged in favour of certain banks to secure the banking

facilities granted by those banks to the Group:

e investment properties with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$867,000,000 (2013: HK$408,000,000);

e land and buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$139,616,000 (2013: HK$111,658,000);

e properties held for development with a carrying amounts
of HK$652,085,000 (2013: HK$250,000,000);

e properties under development with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$459,791,000 (2013: HK$416,207,000);

e hotel under construction with a carrying amount of nil
Hong Kong Dollars (2013: HK$232,111,000);

e properties held for sale of nil Hong Kong Dollars (2013:
HK$50,171,000); and

e the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits under

certain contract works with total accounts receivable

amounting to HK$111,320,000 (2013: HK$277,830,000).

Contingent liabilities
Details of the Group’s and the Company’s contingent

liabilities are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

Capital commitments
Details of the Group’s capital commitments are set out in note

35 to the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 March 2014, the Group employed approximately
619 full-time employees (2013: 760) in Hong Kong. The
Group remunerates its employees based on their performance
and working experience and with reference to the prevailing
market conditions. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may be granted to
selected staff by reference to the Group’s performance as
well as the individual’s performance. Staff benefits include
mandatory provident fund and subsidies for education and
training programmes.

At the annual general meeting held on 7 September 2011,
the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “New
Scheme”) in replacement of its share option scheme which
was adopted on 5 August 2002 (the “2002 Scheme”). The
purposes of the New Scheme are to provide incentives for
the Group’s employees and executives, to recognise their
contributions to the Group’s growth and to provide more
flexibility for the Group in formulating its remuneration
policy. The Group had granted options under the 2002
Scheme before 7 September 2011, but has not granted any
options under the New Scheme up to 31 March 2014. The
Company had no outstanding share options at 31 March 2014.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”), aged 51, a
controlling shareholder of the Company, has been the
Chairman of the Board and the Executive Director since July
2000. Mr. NGALI is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. NGAI has extensive
experience in the construction industry. He is responsible for
the management of the Board and the strategic planning of
the Group. Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU Kwok Fai are brothers-

in-law.

Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”), aged 48, has been the
Deputy Chairman of the Board, the Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since July
2000. He is also a member of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee. Mr. YAU is responsible for formulating policy,
overall development and the day-to-day management and
administration of the Group’s operations. Mr. YAU has
about 23 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. YAU graduated with Bachelor Degree of Engineering
in Civil Engineering (First Class Honours) from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic in November 1990. He obtained a
Diploma of the Imperial College from the Imperial College
London in July 1991 and a Master of Science Degree with
Distinction in Structural Steel Design from the University of
London in August 1991. He is a Chartered Engineer and a
corporate member of the Institution of Civil Engineers, the
Institution of Structural Engineers and the HKIE, a Registered
Professional Engineer (Civil & Structural) and a Registered
Structural Engineer. Mr. YAU and Mr. NGALI are brothers-in-

law.
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B1oGrRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor KO Jan Ming (“Professor KO”), aged 71, has been
the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since July 2000. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee. Professor Ko is the
former Vice President and Chair Professor of Structural
Engineering of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and
currently an Emeritus Professor of the University and Senior
Advisor of its Faculty of Construction and Environment.
Professor KO holds a Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering
and a Doctorate Degree in Structural Engineering from
the University of Hong Kong. He is a Fellow of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, the Institution of Structural
Engineers of United Kingdom, the American Society of
Civil Engineers and the Hong Kong Academy of Engineering

Sciences.

Professor KO was Chairman of the Accreditation Board
(2001-2006) of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(HKIE), and the Chairman of Hong Kong Economic
Cooperation (APEC) and Engineering Mobility Forum
(EMF) Monitoring Committees (2006-2009). He was a
Member of Construction Industry Council (2007-2013),
a Member of the Commission on Strategic Development
(2009-2012) and he is the Advisor of the Beijing-Hong Kong
Academic Exchange Centre. Professor KO was a Governing
Council Member of Construction Industry Institute (Hong
Kong) (2002-2008), a Council Member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Science (2002-2006), the President of The
Hong Kong Society of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics
(1999/2000), the President of The Hong Kong Association
for the Advancement of Science and Technology (2000/01)
and a Panel Member of the Appeal Tribunal in Buildings of
the HKSAR (1997-2004). Professor KO was the Co-chair
of the Scientific Steering Committee, State Key Laboratory
on Structural Dynamics in Bridge Engineering, Chongqing
Communications Research and Design Institute (2008-2012),
and a Member of the Scientific Steering Committee, State
Key Laboratory on Disaster Reduction in Civil Engineering,
Tongji University (2009-2013).

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE#H S

o 26 B v B4 PN M

B8 3 AT

WEWBE (TREE) > b+—k > B FR%E
FEEHRBEARAFBILIEAGTEDSR B A
AFHMERTEBESTRGZER > UEEA
ZETHHE o FEER R B W TR BT El R R
Be A M TRl PR % - B A W T TR B AR AR 3L
B B M BRI B e G AR o MBI BN
WRER > SRR LR TR BH B 4 I 45 T
PR LR AW TR - EEAAHKT
PR G ~ KB LA TR 2EE RS H FE
TR BB A o

1R A AT A 9 LR R B A PR BUR & H
FER(CRF-FEDRFANE) AEBILE
Fil 30 0 i S B % B R W R TR R B &
BEIR (CEFANFEEZRFZNE) - WH AR
BERTRE (CEFLHEERZ4) - R
BREZAOTZH (CEFAEEZF 24
5 3 W A A L vp o0 LT o T BOIR W A W
BEMAZAEFTRE (CEFFFEE R
) - FHRRGEHE (CEFEZZEFEAN
) - FRNBEREGOR (CHUNINEEZFRE
FAEE)  HEMSHETTR (CEFEFET
FTERAFEE) B EY) ERFERE LR ER D
MBEB (A IEEEZRRNE) c GHRY
e T B AR P e A R R A M B K T T
MERELZHERER (CRFNFEF 2
AR e IR 5 R B e R TR W ¢ R K B B s R
BRELZHGHEHE (CEFFEZER =4 -



& VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB R A R A FH

BioGrAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o 26 B o B PN i

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Professor KO (continued)

Professor KO was the Editor-in-Chief of an International
Journal — Advances in Structural Engineering (1997-2003),
and is the Editor-in-Chief (Asia-Pacific), International
Journal — Smart Structures and Systems and the Senior
Consultant of the Editorial Board of the Journal of Spatial
Structures, a member of the Editorial Boards of the Journal
of Engineering Mechanics, Journal of Earthquake and
Engineering Vibration and Journal of Hazards Prevention
and Mitigation Engineering. He was the President of Asian-
Pacific Network of Centres for Earthquake Engineering (2005-
2007), a Vice President (2004-2007) and Council Member of
the International Society for Structural Health Monitoring
of Intelligent Infrastructures (ISHMII) (2004-2011), and a
Management Board Member of the Asian- Pacific Network of

Centres for Research in Smart Structures Technology.

Professor KO was presented The President’s Award of HKIE
in 2006 and was inducted into the Hall of Fame of HKIE in
2010. He was presented The HKIE Gold Medal in 2011. In the
same year, Professor KO was presented The Aftab Mufti Medal
by ISHMII in recognition of his lifetime achievement in civil

structural health monitoring.

Professor KO has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years; nor does he have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management or

substantial shareholders of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBS, JP, (“The Hon. IP”) aged
63, has been the Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company since July 2000. He is also a member of the
Company’s Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. The Hon. IP is a member
of the Legislative Council representing the District Council
(The First) functional constituency. He is presently a Deputy
to the 12th National People’s Congress of PRC for HKSAR,
Chairman of Panel on Security, Legislative Council, Advisor
and Convenor, Legislative Council Caucus, to the Democratic
Alliance for Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong, Member
of Central & Western District Council (Kwun Lung). He is
also Deputy Chairman of Hon Wah Educational Organisation.
He also serves on a number of committees and is now a
member of the Hong Kong Housing Authority and the Non-
Executive Director of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority Board. The Hon. IP was a member of the Legislative
Council between 1995-1997, a member of the Provisional
Legislative Council between 1997-1998, a member of the
Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR Government
representing the district council functional constituency
between 2000-2004 and between 2008-2012, and was an
elected member of the Central and Western District Council
between 1992-2003 and between 2007-2011. The Hon. IP
has also been appointed as non-executive director of Urban

Renewal Authority Board between 2007-2012.

The Hon. IP has not held any directorship in other listed
public companies in the last three years; nor does he have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management or

substantial shareholders of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”), aged 65,
has been the Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company since September 2004. He is also a member of the
Company’s Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Mr. FUNG is a Certified
Public Accountant, a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of both The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and
The Certified General Accountants’ Association of Canada.
He holds a Master of Arts Degree from Antioch University
of the United States of America. Presently, Mr. FUNG
is a director of Pan-China (HK) CPA Limited (formerly
known as NCN CPA Limited) as well as practicing as a sole
proprietor in the name of P. C. Fung & Company, a certified
public accountants firm. Previously, he served in senior
and managerial positions in large local and international

accounting firms.

In addition, Mr. FUNG is currently an Honorary Adviser
of The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association, a Standing Committee member of Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong,
a Standing Committee member of the Jiangxi Provincial
Overseas Liaison Association and a member of the Inland
Revenue Department’s Users’ Committee. Mr. FUNG was
also appointed a member of the Financial Reporting Review
Panel, under the Financial Reporting Council (from 2007 to
2013). In addition to being a director of the Company, Mr.
FUNG is also an independent non-executive director of China
Lesso Group Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2128, formerly known as “China Liansu
Group Holdings Limited”) during the period from 27 February
2010 to present. Save as aforesaid, Mr. FUNG has not held
any directorship in other listed public companies in the last

three years.

Mr. FUNG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management or substantial shareholders of the
Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YAM Kui Hung, aged 55, joined the Group in April
1997, is a Director of Able Engineering Company Limited,
a major subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Yam graduated
with a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic and a Postgraduate Diploma in
Construction Management from the Construction Industry
Training Authority. He is a corporate member of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional
Engineer (Building) and has over 32 years’ experience in the
construction field. He is responsible for overall management

and operations of building projects.

Mr. NG Kai Chow, aged 46, joined the Group in
October 2002, is the Project Manager of Able Engineering
Company Limited. Mr. Ng holds a Post-graduated Diploma
in Construction Law & Arbitration and a Diploma in
Construction (CEM) in the College of Estate Management.
He is an incorporate member of the Chartered of Building,
a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and
Authorized Signatory from Buildings Department. He also
has over 29 years’ experience in construction field and
working in different positions in the construction industry.
He is responsible for providing full range of building project

management and contract administration works of contracts.

Mr. LAU Chi Fai Daniel, aged 46, joined the Group
in November 2005, is the Project Manager of Able
Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor
Degree in Construction Management from the South Bank
University of United Kingdom and a Higher Diploma in
Building Technology and Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic. He is a corporate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers and has over 21 years’
experience in construction field and working in different
positions in the construction industry. He is responsible for
providing full range of building project management and

contract administration works of contracts.

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE#H S

o 26 B v B4 PN M

B4 P

st > itk > R uu-EEEA A
ALHE > ZRIBAMAAZES > RRTEA
MRA T R A v 2 LM AT o A A
B e A R e A MR R AR
PR - AFWLEMBE T ZIEXNTE - KE
w2 S G T R A OGRS > TR R SR RUE
S AR - AR M TRGIHE 2B
B A o

SBOM OB > UHANBE s REFFZA A MA
ALH > ZRTBARAF ZHE LI - i f
St 8 0 A R T S A S LB g s 2 S
W MM PR RF R SRR - B PR R
THRBEBETEIREEEN o MR EEM
i JUAE AR KRR > R IR R A A AT S o
AT AL o S H TR E A K
FTBLAE -

PIBREA > N ROFRRLE T — A
AALHE > ZRTARARA W ZIH H KB o flfr
A South Bank University of United Kingdom#& %€
A BB BB A T A v P T B S R A LR
ARSI o R T WIS IS e H > MR R
SERTM A R AR ] IR A R S S
W AR AL o R BT EEHE 288 RAT
BT AE -



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

@,
~‘m{%ﬁl&ﬁ oA W

BioGrAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o 26 B o B PN i

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. KAN Kwok Kit, aged 51, joined the Group in September
1998, is the Technical Manager of Able Engineering Company
Limited. Mr. Kan graduated with Master Degree of Science
in Engineering Business Management and is an Accredited
Mediator. He is a Registered Professional Engineer in
Building Services Discipline and corporate member of the
Chartered Institute of Building. Mr. Kan is also a BEAM
Pro and Registered Energy Assessor. Besides, he is a fellow
member and Branch Honorary Secretary of the Chartered
Institute of Plumbing & Heating Engineering. He has over
26 years’ experience in Construction Industry and Building
Services Engineering. Mr. Kan is the Head of the Technical
Department and responsible to lead the technical team
to provide miscellaneous support for tendering, project
management and contract administration work. He is also
the Engineer Supervisor of the HKIE Scheme A Training for

Graduate Engineers in Building Services Discipline.

Mr. HO Chi Ming Wilson, aged 52, joined the Group in
November 2002, is the Project Manager of Able Engineering
Company Limited. Mr. Ho holds a Bachelor Degree in
Construction Management and Economic from the Curtin
University of Technology, a National Diploma in Building
Studies from the Business & Technician Education Council
and a Higher Certificate in Building Studies and Proficiency
Certificate in Industrial Safety from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic. Mr. Ho is a corporate member of the Chartered
Institute of Building and has over 31 years’ experience
in the project management in the construction field and
a wide background of working experience in residential,
commercial and institutional developments. He is responsible
for providing full range of building project management and

contract administration works of contracts.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. LEE Kwok Shing Gavin, aged 41, joined the Group in
September 2002, is the Project Manager of Able Engineering
Company Limited. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor Degree in
Building Management from the Northumbria University of
United Kingdom, a Higher Diploma in Building Studies from
the City University of Hong Kong and a Diploma in Civil
Engineering from Vocational Training Council of Hong Kong.
He has over 20 years’ experience in construction field and
working in different positions in the construction industry.
He joined the Group in is responsible for providing full range
of building project management and contract administration

works of contracts.

Mr. CHAN Tak Wai Ray, aged 51, joined the Group in
September 2007, is the Project Manager of Able Engineering
Company Limited. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree in
Construction Management and Economic from the Curtin
University of Technology, a High Certificate in Building
Studies from the Hong Kong Technical College. Mr. Chan
has over 32 years’ experience in construction field and
working in different positions in the construction industry.
He is responsible for providing full range of building project

management and contract administration works of contracts.

Ms. TSANG Hau Lam, aged 33, joined the Group in August
2012, is the Company Secretary of Vantage and the Financial
Controller of the Group. Ms. Tsang is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the
U.K. and member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. She has over 11 years’ accounting and
related experience. She holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration (Professional Accountancy) from the Chinese

University of Hong Kong.

Mr. WONG Kei Leung, aged 63, joined the Group in
December 1995, is the Accounting Manager of Able
Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Wong has over 36
years’ accounting experience. He holds a Bachelor Degree in

Commercial Science and Business Administration from Chu
Hai College.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Excel Development (Holdings) Limited

Executive Directors

Mzr. LI Chi Pong, aged 57, is an Executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of Excel Development. Mr. Li is
responsible for the overall business development, management
and operation of our the Excel Development Group. He
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic with a Higher
Diploma in Civil Engineering in November 1979 and joined
Excel Engineering Company Limited (“Excel Eng”) (a wholly
owned subsidiary of our Company) in the same year. He
has worked in the construction industry for over 30 years
and gained extensive experience in the executive role in
construction companies. He is the Authorised Signatory of
Excel Eng as Registered Specialist Contractors (foundation
works) and (formation works) and Registered General
Building Contractor of the Buildings Department. Mr. Li was
a member of the Contractors Registration Committee Panel
from January 2009 to December 2012. Mr. Li is also a Council
Member of the Hong Kong Construction Association. Mr. Li
was an executive Director of the Company from May 2004 to
December 2013. On 10 December 2013, Mr. Li resigned from
the above position in order to focus on the business of the
Excel Development Group.

Mr. POON Yan Min, aged 52, is an Executive Director of
Excel Development. He is responsible for Excel Development
Group’s implementation of works and the overall management
of contracts. Mr. Poon is currently a director of each
subsidiary of the Excel Development Group. Mr. Poon
obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree in Engineering from
the University of Hong Kong in November 1986 and a
Master of Science Degree in Engineering Management from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2002. He is a
corporate member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
(“HKIE”) and a Registered Professional Engineer (Civil).
He has over 26 years of experience in the construction of
roads and drainage, site formation, waterworks and building
works including over 10 years in Excel, and 9 years in Mass
Transit Railway Corporation as Construction Engineer from
1995 to 2004, responsible for supervision of various railway
construction projects, including the Lantau and Airport
project, Tseung Kwan O extension project and the Mei Foo
Station Interchange for the West Rail Interface Works. He
is the Authorised Signatory for Excel as Registered General
Building Contractor of the Buildings Department. He is also
an Engineering Supervisor for Excel in the HKIE Engineering
Graduate Training (Scheme A) for graduate engineers.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Excel Development (Holdings) Limited (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. TANG Quoc Tri, aged 45, is the Contracts Manager
of the Excel Development Group. He is responsible for the
implementation of works and the overall management of
contracts. Mr. Tang obtained a Bachelor Degree in Civil
Engineering in July 1994 from the South Bank University,
London, United Kingdom, Master of Science in Structural
Engineering in November 2002, Master of Science in
Construction Law and Dispute Resolution in October 2008
and Master of Business Administration in November 2010
all from the Hong Kong Polytechnics University. He is a
Chartered Engineer of Engineering Council, United Kingdom
and a corporate member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the Institution of Structural Engineers and HKIE, and a
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil & Structural). He
has around 20 years of experience in the construction of road
and drainage, site formation, landslip prevention, waterworks
and building works. He is the Authorised Signatory for Excel
as a Registered General Building Contractor of the Buildings
Department. He is also an Engineering Supervisor for Excel
in the HKIE Engineering Graduate Training (Scheme A) for

graduate engineers.

Mr. CHEUNG Lok Wan, aged 35, is the Engineering
Manager of the Excel Development Group. He is responsible
for the engineering matters including estimating, tender,
purchasing, budget and sub-contracts. Mr. Cheung obtained
a Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering in November 2001
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a corporate member
of the HKIE and a Registered Professional Engineer (Civil).
He has over 10 years of experience in the construction of road
and drainage works, waterworks, building works and building
maintenance works. He is also a Tutor for Excel in the HKIE
Engineering Graduate Training (Scheme A) for graduate

engineers.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Excel Development (Holdings) Limited (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. CHAN Kai Wing, aged 64, is the Project Manager
of the Excel Development Group. He is responsible for
the implementation of works and the overall management
of infrastructure network contracts. Mr. Chan obtained a
Diploma in Management Studies in June 1987 awarded jointly
by Hong Kong Polytechnic and Hong Kong Management
Association. Before he joined the Excel Development Group,
Mr. Chan worked in HKT Group from September 1970
and left as Manager in the Field Services in March 2010,
responsible for planning, design, building and providing
maintenance of external telecommunication plant for HKT
Group, where he has accumulated over 40 years of experience

in the telecommunications industry.

Mr. LAI Kon Ting, aged 34, is the Project Manager of the
Excel Development Group. He is responsible for all activities
on site to ensure the efficient running of a project and
effective use of resources. Mr. Lai obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Civil and Structural Engineering in November 2001 from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a
Chartered Engineer of Engineering Council, United Kingdom
and a corporate member of the Institution of Civil Engineers
and the HKIE as well as a Registered Professional Engineer
(Civil). He has over 10 years of experience in the construction
of road and utilities works, landslip prevention, waterworks
and building works. He is also a Tutor for Excel in the HKIE
Engineering Graduate Training (Scheme A) for graduate

engineers.

Mr. WONG Kin Sang, aged 34, is the Project Manager
of the Excel Development Group. He is responsible for all
activities on site to ensure the efficient running of a project
and effective use of resources. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor
Degree in Civil and Structural Engineering in November 2002
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
He is a corporate member of the HKIE. He has over 10 years
of experience in the construction of waterworks, road and
utilities works, landslip prevention and building works. He
is also a Tutor for Excel in the HKIE Engineering Graduate
Training (Scheme A) for graduate engineers.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Excel Development (Holdings) Limited (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. WONG Kin Yan, aged 44, is the Environmental and
Quality Manager of the Excel Development Group. He is
responsible for the implementation and maintenance of our
Company’s environmental and quality management systems.
Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor Degree in Applied Science in
December 1994 from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a
Chartered Environmentalist and a corporate member of the
Society of Environmental Engineers. He has over 15 years of
experience in the environmental and quality management in
the construction field. He is the Management Representative
of Excel’s ISO 9001 Quality Management System and ISO

14001 Environmental Management System.

Ms. CHEUNG Wa Yung, aged 52, is a director of Gadelly
Construction Company Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary
of Excel Development) since July 2005 and the Accounting
Manager of the Excel Development Group. She obtained a
Bachelor Degree in Commerce in June 1984 from University
of Toronto, Canada. She is a member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario in Canada. She has over 20

years of accounting experience.

Mzr. LIU Shiu Yuen, aged 34, joined the Excel Development
Group in September 2012, is the Company Secretary of Excel
Development and the Financial Controller of the Excel
Development Group. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor Degree of
Arts (Hons) in Accountancy in November 2002 from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has over 10 years
of accounting, auditing and related experience. Mr. Liu is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.
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Corporate governance is the system by which the Company
is directed and controlled. The Board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) is fully aware of its importance to the
shareholders and has developed a rigorous system of checks
and balances which allows management to respond to the
strategic directions approved by the Board. The Board believes
that a well balanced corporate governance system enables
the Company to achieve business excellence and fulfill the

Company’s mission.

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance
practices and structures that were in place during the financial
year ended 31 March 2014, with specific reference to the
principles and guidelines of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (“Director(s)”),

the Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the

CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2014.
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THE BOARD

As at 31 March 2014, the Board is composed of five Directors,
including two Executive Directors, namely Mr. NGAI Chun
Hung (“Mr. NGAI”) and Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”),
and three Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”),
namely Professor KO Jan Ming (“Professor KO”), The Hon.
IP Kwok Him, GBS, JP (“The Hon. IP”) and Mr. FUNG
Pui Cheung Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”). The biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 36 to 40 in the
section “BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” of this annual report. A List of Directors
and their Role and Function is available on the Company’s

website.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the advice and
services of the senior management and the company secretary,
with a view to ensuring that board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. When needed
and upon making request to the Board, the INEDs may obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
carrying out their duties.

The Board has undertaken the corporate governance function
as required under the CG Code. The Board is responsible for

all major aspects of the Company’s affairs, which includes:

e formulating overall strategic plans and directions, and
objectives of the Group;

®* monitoring the performance of the management of the
Group;

¢ implementing and monitoring an effective framework of
internal controls and risk management;

®  monitoring material transactions (including, in particular,
those which may involve conflicts of interest);

e approving interim reports and annual reports,
announcements and considering dividend policy;

e ensuring the Company has good corporate governance
and review and monitor its policies and practices
on compliance with applicable legal and regulatory
requirements; and

e other significant financial and operational matters
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THE BOARD (continued)

Responsibilities over day-to-day operations are delegated
to the management under the leadership of the Executive
Directors.

The Company has arranged for insurance cover in respect
of legal action against the Directors and its officers. The
insurance cover is reviewed annually to ensure that the
Directors and officers are adequately protected against
potential liabilities.

The INEDs

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three INEDs with at least one
INED possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The

Company has also met the requirement of at least one-third of
members of the Board being INEDs.

The three INEDs of the Company are persons of high caliber,
with academic and professional qualifications in the fields of
engineering, legislation and accounting and finance. With
their experience gained from various sectors, they provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties
and responsibilities of the Board.

The INEDs are appointed for a fixed specific term. Each
of Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG have served
as an INED of the Company for more than nine years that
their further appointment should be subject to separate
resolutions to be approved by shareholders. During his years
of appointment, each of Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr.
FUNG has demonstrated his ability to provide an independent
view to the Company’s matters. Notwithstanding their years of
service as an INED of the Company, the Board is of the view
that Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG are able to
continue to fulfill their roles as required and thus recommends
them for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM?”). Further, the Company is of the view that
each of Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG meets the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and is independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
on independence as required under the Listing Rules, (ii)
the absence of involvement in the daily management of
the Company, (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgment, and (iv) the absence of remuneration
from the Company other than the directors’ fee and the share
options granted to them (if any).
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THE BOARD (continued)

The INEDs (continued)

Each of Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG, all being
INED of the Company eligible for re-election at the AGM,

has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to

Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Meetings

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Tentative dates of regular
Board meetings for next year are scheduled approaching the
end of each calendar year in order to facilitate the Directors
to plan for attendance of the meetings. Meetings will also be

convened, as and when required, to deal with ad hoc issues.

Any Director who is not able to present physically may
participate at any Board meeting through electronic means of
communication, such as conference telephone or other similar
communication equipment, in accordance with the Bye-laws

of the Company.

Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least
14 days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other
Board meetings. The company secretary assists the Chairman
of the Board to prepare the meeting notice and agenda. Each
Director may include any item in the agenda. The agenda,
accompanied by meeting papers with sufficient and reliable
information, are sent to each Director not less than 3 days
before the date of a Board meeting to enable the Directors
to make informed decisions on the matters to be discussed,
except where a Board meeting is convened on a very urgent

basis to consider any urgent ad hoc matter.

Minutes of Board meetings are recorded in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board at the meeting and decisions
reached. Draft minutes of board meetings are circulated to the
Directors for comments and the signed minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and open for inspection to any Director

on request.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Meetings (continued)

Attendance of individual Director at the meetings of the Board, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and Annual General Meeting during the year ended
31 March 2014:

#ger ()

ik (80

HHOEBE F—WE=ZH=1—HILFER#E
S a g REJb 8 g VTS ALY

Directors No. of Meetings Attended/No. of Meetings held
HH B ARKY WAKY
Independent Annual
Remuneration Audit Nomination Board General
Board  Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
HwHE FMZHA FHZHE RAZHE BUZHE RIGAEAE
Executive Directors BTk
Mr. NGAI ik 44 NANER  N/AANER /1 NAREH 1
Mr. YAU 6 2k 44 202 NARER  NARER  NARER 1
Mr. LI Chi Pong* bk 33 NAMER  NARER  NABRER  NAREHR 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors Bk AT g
Professor KO [ €5 4/4 22 22 11 11 11
The Hon. IP kA 4/4 20 20 11 11 i
Mr. FUNG gt 4/4 22 ) 11 11 11

*  Mr. LI Chi Pong resigned on 10 December 2013.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession of Directors and assessing the
independence of INEDs. The appointment of INEDs adheres
to the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board, through the Nomination
Committee set up in December 2011, reviews from time to
time its own structure, size and composition to ensure that it
has a balance of appropriate expertise, skills and experience

for the needs of the businesses of the Group.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The term of office of each of the Directors (including the
INEDs) has been fixed for a specific term for not more than
three years. They are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s AGM in accordance with the

Company’s Bye-laws.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each AGM one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
greater than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. In addition,
Director(s) appointed during the year as an addition to the
Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board hold office
only until the next coming general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.
The election of each candidate is done through a separate

resolution.

At the forthcoming AGM to be held on 15 August 2014,
Mr. YAU, Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
Details with respect to the candidates standing for election as

Directors are set out in the AGM circular to shareholders.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company are separately performed by Mr. NGAI
and Mr. YAU, respectively. This segregation ensures a clear
division of the Chairman’s responsibilities for the management
of the Board and the CEO’s responsibilities for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. Mr. NGAI and Mr.
YAU are brothers-in-law.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the
Board, and ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and that Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner. The Chairman has an additional or casting vote in
the event of an equality of votes on any matter to be decided

by the Board.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(continued)

The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for
providing leadership for the management, implementing and
reporting to the Board on the Group’s strategy, overseeing
the day-to-day operations of the Group and providing all such
information to the Board as is necessary to enable the Board to
monitor the performance of the management.

According to the code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Chairman met with the three INEDs of the Company for
once without the presence of the management and the other
Executive Directors during the year ended 31 March 2014.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the

Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee

The Company’s Audit Committee was established on
8 September 2000 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee’s terms of reference has been revised and adopted
on 27 March 2014 and the document are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2014, the Audit Committee is made up of
the three INEDs, namely Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr.
FUNG. Professor KO is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
Mr. FUNG is a certified public accountant and possesses the
appropriate accounting qualifications and experiences in

financial matters.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee holds regular meetings at least twice a
year and they also meets with the Company’s external auditors
at least twice a year to discuss the audit plan and to review the
Company’s annual report and accounts. During the year ended
31 March 2014, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The
major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

e review the unaudited interim report and interim results
announcement of the Company and the Group;

e review the audited accounts and final results
announcement of the Company and the Group;

e review the accounting policies and practices adopted by
the Company and the Group;

e review and recommend the re-appointment of external
auditor;

e oversee the engagement, services provided and
remuneration of the external auditor and its independence
and serve as a useful channel of communication between
the Board and the external auditors; and

e review and monitor the effectiveness of the financial
reporting function, internal control system and the risk

management system of the Group.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee’s view on re-appointment of external auditor, and
they both have agreed to recommend the re-appointment
of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external auditor for the
ensuing year at the 2014 AGM of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established
on 16 December 2005 with written terms of reference
and consists of a majority of Independent Non-executive
Directors. The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to
set policy on Executive Directors’ remuneration and for fixing
remuneration packages for all Directors. The Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference has been revised and adopted
on 27 March 2014 and the document are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2014, the Remuneration Committee is made
up of the three INEDs, namely Professor KO, The Hon. IP
and Mr. FUNG, and one Executive Director, namely Mr.
YAU. Professor KO is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to
review the remuneration of Executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board. During the year ended
31 March 2014, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee include the review of the remuneration of
individual Executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board. Executive directors and certain senior
management of the Company are entitled to discretionary
performance-related bonus payments which are determined
with reference to the Group’s operating results and their
respective individual performance. No Director involved in
the determination about his own remuneration.

Particulars of the remuneration payable to each Director for
the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the

remuneration of the senior management by band for the year
ended March 2014 is set out below:

Within the band of
Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Company’s Nomination Committee was established on 7
September 2011 with written terms of reference and consists
of a majority of INEDs. The Nomination Committee’s terms of
reference has been revised and adopted on 27 March 2014 and
the document are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

As at 31 March 2014, the Nomination Committee is made up
of the three INEDs, namely Professor KO, The Hon. IP and
Mr. FUNG, and one Executive Director, namely Mr. NGAI
Mr. NGAI is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting. The major roles and functions

of the Nomination Committee include:

e review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors at least annually;

e identify and make recommendations to the Board on
suitable individuals nominated for appointment as
Director(s);

e assess the independence of INEDs;

e review contribution required from Directors; and

e review and monitor the training and continuous

professional development of Directors.
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DIRECTOR’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. The Company provides all
members of the Board with monthly updates on the Group’s
development.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training
and they have provided a record of training they received for
the financial year ended 31 March 2014 to the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”)
as the code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities
transactions. Following specific enquiry made by the
Company, the Directors have confirmed that they had

complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2014.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the

Company are set out on pages 68 to 70 in the section
“REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS?” of this annual report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

In respect of the year ended 31 March 2014, the remuneration
paid and payable to the Company’s external auditors, Ernst &
Young, is set out below:

Audit services

Non-audit services:
Professional service fees in relation to the Excel Spin-Off
Taxation services

Other services

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective system of internal control to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, and for
reviewing its effectiveness. The Board has entrusted the Audit
Committee with the responsibility to review the internal
control systems of the Group, which include financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management

functions.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted
review on the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group through discussion with the audit committee on
audit findings and control issues. These procedures provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
errors, losses and fraud, and manage rather than eliminate
risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and in the

achievement of the Group’s business objectives.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training

programs and budget.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with shareholders and
investors in general. The various channels via which the
Company communicates with its shareholders include interim
and annual reports, information on the Stock Exchange’s and

the Company’s website, and general meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s
general meetings where the Chairman and the Executive
Directors of the Board are available to answer questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the bye-laws of the
Company, any shareholder holding not less than one tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meeting shall have the right, by written
requisition served to the Board or the company secretary,
to require a special general meeting to be convened by
the Board for transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings
Pursuant to Sections 79(1) and 79(2) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, on the requisition in writing of (i)
either any number of shareholders representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
meeting to which the requisition relates, or (ii) not less than
100 shareholders, the Company shall be under a duty to, at the
expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise

resolves:

(a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
AGM notice of any resolution which may properly be

moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and

(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in
any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at

that meeting.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board at

general meetings.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group on a going concern basis.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is no
uncertainty relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

The external auditors of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in their auditors’ report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 as set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 79 to 80.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is to support the Board by ensuring
good information flow with the Board as well as the board
policy and procedures being followed. The company secretary
is also responsible for advising the Board on governance
matters and facilitates the professional development of
Directors. Ms. TSANG Hau Lam (“Ms. TSANG”), the
Company Secretary, is a full time employee of the Group and
her biography is set out on page 43 of this annual report. Ms.
TSANG has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements under the Listing
Rules. Ms. TSANG is also the financial controller of the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year ended 31 March 2014, there is no change in
the Company’s constitutional documents.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the provision of corporate management services.
Details of the principal activities of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 17 and
18 respectively to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 81 to 84.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
recommends the payment of a final dividend of HKI1 cent
(2013: HK3 cents) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
March 2014 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 2 September 2014
(Tuesday). The proposed payment of the final dividends is
subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
2014 annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company and
has not been recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2014.
Based on the 1,746,664,400 ordinary shares of the Company
in issues as of this report, the total dividend of amounted to
approximately HK$17,467,000.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the statements of
financial position of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on pages 4 to 5
of the annual report. This summary does not form part of the

audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in note 14 to the
financial statements. Further details of the Group’s land and

building are set out on page 15 of the annual report.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued by an
independent professional valuer as at 31 March 2014 using
the fair value model. Details of movements in the Group’s
investment properties during the year are set out in note 16
to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s
investment properties are set out on page 15 of the annual
report.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March

2014 are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There was no movement in the Company’s authorized
share capital during the year. Movements in the Company’s
issued share capital of the Company and share options and
the reasons therefore are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the

financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2014, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to
HK$253,351,000 (2013: HK$70,439,000). In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$332,983,000 at 31 March 2014 (2013: 181,173,000), may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable
and other purposes of approximately HK$78,000 (2013:
HK$217,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, contract revenue earned from the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 95% (2013:
93%) of the total contract revenue for the year and contract
revenue earned from the largest customer included therein

accounted for approximately 57% (2013: 61%).

Subcontracting charges paid to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 26% (2013: 25%) of the
total subcontracting charges and material costs incurred for
the year. Subcontracting charges paid to the largest supplier
included therein accounted for approximately 9% (2013: 6%).

None of the directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”)
or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive directors:
Mr. NGAI Chun Hung (“Mr. NGAI”)(Chairman)
Mr. YAU Kwok Fai (“Mr. YAU”)

(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LI Chi Pong (“Mr. L1”)

(resigned on 10 December 2013)

Independent non-executive directors:

Professor KO Jan Ming (“Professor KO”)

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBS, JP (“The Hon. IP”)
Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene (“Mr. FUNG”)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”), Mr.
YAU, Professor KO, The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG shall retire
from office in accordance with clause 87 of the Bye-laws and/
or the Code Provision A.4.3 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). All
the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for

re-election to serve for another term at the AGM.

The appointment of each of Professor KO, The Hon. IP and
Mr. FUNG, as extended based on the respective agreement
between them and the Company, was for a term of two years
expiring on 31 August 2014.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of Professor KO,
The Hon. IP and Mr. FUNG an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
the Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 47 of the

annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. NGAI and Mr. YAU have respectively renewed their
service contracts with the Company on 25 March 2013 for
a fixed term of three years commencing from 1 April 2013,
subject to termination by either party by giving a six-month
written notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is of a duration
exceeding three years or which is not determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than the contracts as further detailed in section headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” below, no Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. NGAI is a Director and/or (substantial) shareholder
of Winflower Investment Limited, Win Source Investment
Limited, Key Fame Limited and Key Fund Limited, which
are companies incorporated in Hong Kong and engaging
in property investment or property development business.
At 31 March 2014, Mr. NGATI’s wife and his son, Mr.
NGAI Wing Yin, who is aged over 18, are directors of
Lanon Development Limited (“Lanon Development”),
a company incorporated in Hong Kong and engaging in
construction, maintenance and engineering contract works.
Mr. NGAI Wing Yin holds 78% beneficial interest in Lanon
Development. Mr. NGADI’s wife is also the company secretary
of Lanon Development and Lanon Building Limited (“Lanon
Building”). Lanon Building is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong and engaging in construction business. Mr.
NGAI Wing Yin holds 78% beneficial interest in Lanon
Development. Mr. NGAI’s wife resigned from the director

and/or the company secretary of Lanon Development and
Lanon Building on 16 June 2014.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS (continued)

On the other hand, the Group has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Lanon Development, which constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company. Further
details of these continuing connected transactions are set out

in the paragraph “Continuing Connected Transactions” under
the “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” section below.

The power to make material business decisions for the Group
is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board considers that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Group and
any Director, such Director (including Mr. NGAI who is the
executive director, Chairman of the Board and a substantial
shareholder of the Company) will be required to abstain from
voting. Therefore, the Board is capable of carrying on the
Group’s business independently of, and at arm’s length, from
the business of Mr. NGAI.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associates is interested in any business which are
considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 March 2014, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE WA R BEATBA R @SR ()
OFFICER’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

(continued)

Long Position (excluding share options) in ordinary shares of the AL "] Z FFBRIEH ZLF B (P CITIHEHE) -
Company:

Number of % of issued
Capacity and ordinary share capital of
Director Notes nature of interests shares held the Company
I3 44 /A 50y B2 P Pt A7 3 W B i 2w B AT
Bty ¥ H JBe A 4 e
Mr. NGAI (a) As founder and beneficiary of a trust 838,760,400 48.02%
Mot el — st A K %A
(b) Through a controlled corporation 235,000,000 13.45%
B — 2 h L e
Personal 6,250,800 0.36%
PN
1,080,011,200 61.83%
Mr. YAU (c) Through a controlled corporation 30,888,000 1.77%
Wi et B — 2k EE
Personal 8,448,000 0.48%
PN
39,336,000 2.25%

Professor KO Personal 840,000 0.05%

=% € PN

The Hon. IP Personal 4,800 0.0003%

ERE PN

Mr. FUNG Personal 364,800 0.02%

Rk PN

Notes: M EE -

(a) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Winhale Ltd., which ~ (a) B2 BAr I Winhale Led 3@ R B HEA » %A H
is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited T3 B A T AR R R L 2 B A E] i
liability and is ultimately beneficially wholly-owned by the Xyston Xyston Trustie R E 5 & EHEA © Xyston Trust)d
Trust. The Xyston Trust is a discretionary family trust set up by Mr. HE AR L BRI > 2 A RBB A
NGALI for the benefits of himself and his family. RKABRKEERBREE -

(b)  These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Fame Yield Limited,  (b) MR M B L RBBEERA RS E L ERESR »
the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially owned AT Z OB B A e KR
by Mr. NGALI WA o

(c) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Business Success (c) BEZERBAD HBusiness Success Limited i & & B 35 #E
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is legally and H o ZAR Z & BT BEA TSt ek B &
beneficially owned by Mr. YAU. HIHEA -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(continued)

Long Positions in ordinary shares of a subsidiary of the Company,

WP R B RATHN H 2 2 il A (A7)

AL 7 2 BT 4 ] — 1 ik PR IR 2 ([ 2

Excel Development (Holdings) Limited (“Excel Development”):  #M/) Z HBRRH ZIFF ¢
Number of % of issued
Capacity and ordinary share capital of
Name of shareholders Note nature of interests shares held Excel Development
JBe 3K 44 1% Mt ik 55y e B 4 Pk B P F5 4535 A B i 1 42 P I
By B H AT IR T Oy e
Mr. NGAI (a) As founder and beneficiary of a trust 838,760,400 75.00%
Bk B — e kM R A
Note: Mt it

(a) Mr. NGAI is deemed to be interested in such shares of Excel
Development under the SFO as he is interested in 1,080,011,200 shares
of the Company, which comprise 6,250,800 shares held by himself,
the deemed interest in 838,760,400 shares held by Winhale Ltd.
and 235,000,000 shares held by Fame Yield International Limited by
virtue of his interest in the entire issued share capital of Fame Yield
International Limited and he was the settlor and a beneficiary of the
Xyston Trust.

At 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013, the Company had no
outstanding share options granted to the Directors to subscribe
for shares in the Company.

In addition to the above, certain Directors have non-
beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries
held for the benefit of the Group solely for the purpose of
complying with the previous minimum company membership
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Certain
Directors also have beneficial interests in non-voting deferred
shares practically carrying no rights to dividends or to receive
notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting or to

participate in any distribution or winding up in a subsidiary.

Save as disclosed in the above, at 31 March 2014, none of
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company or their
respective spouse or child had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations which had been entered
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(a) HIRBLSE A 741,080,011,200/8 A A 7] Z B4 v B
B HpaiiEa g fHF 16,250,8008 B
£ ~ WA B Winhale Led. #5457 19838,760,400 /% i
1 v B A RE 25 S p R LR 4 A B B A PR A T I A
T EEAT IR A v 1 R 2 i e A s 7 4 R IR R A R
2] B R #9235,000,000 8 4 B RERS > DL A
s Xyston TrustBI T A B2 A > BIIL » R
#%iﬂ;ﬁﬁm s B WL L R bl a5 4 Bt
Z s

PREZF-NEZH=+HEZF-=Z4=4
ZA oo A T AT AT © 4% T 0 e RAT
o Z Ji JB HE o

B ESCRr ki EAh s A T HEFREAAAHAET
Whf i 23 vi) 2 B A N B R 2 > It SR KR 7 3
SO TR A A A B A R B BOH Z B (R
SE o & TSI HER — IR 4 T 2 S B S R
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SECURITIES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections “DIRECTORS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS” and “DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES” above, at no time during the year ended
31 March 2014 was the Company, its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Company’s Directors, their respective spouse, or child
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the AGM of the Company held on 7 September 2011,
the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) and the
termination of the share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”)
adopted by the Company on 5 August 2002.

From the adoption date of the New Scheme to 31 March 2014,
no share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the New Scheme. There was no outstanding share
option under the 2002 Scheme as at 31 March 2013 and as at
31 March 2014.

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company are

disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements.

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE#H S

°ﬁ 5

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

OB A R OA A

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

L ki

P A W % 2 HE A

Bt LT #E R AR | R [EHE R EETH
NBZ o an | b B 88 & 4 » AR ] - o
B 2 ) e HEAT o B i 2 ) A A 3 A ] B PR
AATRZALMES - HEFAZIBMBITL > 8
JHE A 52 7 Al ) B0 LT R D A AR 2 R BT
Ay JFC A 35 N\ T 85 2 T A B 2 G TR 2 o

Jie JB it it =0

PEF I L H BT Z AR F BRI AR K
B b o AN R o R AR I B R (O
) REIEAAT R ZFRFZFENALA (2%
B AR ) PR A Z I R o

REHE B BARA R K E R~ WE=ZH =1 —
H o BESEALRHT ot 842 - 1760 - RSk
BMZIBE - MR -=ZF=H = HREF
—HWUEZA=Zt—H > AT ORT#
1M 19 AR AT Z S B

A i Ji T R ) A T B R R R 30 ¢
% o



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

HP WA

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS BB Z B A

IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2014, the interests or short positions of those RZF—~WE=ZA=+—H - MEHFLPE
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the  H&BIE336MEM E A A F H T 77 B Z B Mt Wi
Company) in the shares or underlying shares as recorded in  # > %% A1+ (EFRALN T EEITBA BRI
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section B4 st B B4y Z REZS SR B0 F -

336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Positions in ordinary shares of the Company: AL ] 2 BRI Z IR -
Number of % of issued
Capacity and ordinary share capital of
Name of shareholders Notes nature of interests shares held the Company
JBE 3 44 A Hf it B By BB 23 1 B Pt 5 A 3% A B A A BT
Bty ¥ H AR Ay ke
Winhale Ltd. (a) Beneficially owned 838,760,400 48.02%
B aH
Braveway Limited (b) As a trustee 838,760,400 48.02%
fERfEsEN
HSBC International Trustee Limited (b) As a trustee 838,760,400 48.02%
fERfEREN
Fame Yield International Limited (c) Beneficial owner 235,000,000 13.45%
B A H
Dragon Gate Development Limited (d) Beneficial owner 166,742,000 9.55%
B A H
CHIU Koon Ming Andy (d) Through a controlled 166,742,000 9.55%
i 5 4 corporation
B 5

Annual Report 2013-2014 £FE#&




SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The above interest in the name of Winhale Ltd. was also disclosed as
interests of Mr. NGAI under the heading “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES”. In addition,
these shares are ultimately beneficially owned by Xyston Trust.

(b) Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are deemed
to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Winhale Ltd. by
virtue of the fact that Winhale Ltd. is wholly owned by the trusts of
which Braveway Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited are
the trustees.

(c) 100% interest in Fame Yield Limited are controlled by Mr. NGAI.

(d) 100% interest in Dragon Gate Development Limited are controlled by
Mr. CHIU Koon Ming Andy.

INTEREST OF ANY OTHER PERSONS

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, the Company
had not been notified of any interests and short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which had

been recorded in the register required to be kept under Section

336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions — Flower Ocean Acquisition

On 19 March 2013, the Group, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, namely Profit Chain Investments Limited (“Profit
Chain”) entered into a share transfer agreement with Mr.
NGALI for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in
Flower Ocean Limited and its subsidiary (collectively the
“Flower Ocean Group”) and the loan due and owing by the
Flower Ocean Group to Mr. NGALI, for a total consideration
of HK$299,064,000 (the “Flower Ocean Acquisition”). As
part of the transactions contemplated under the Flower Ocean
Acquisition, on 19 March 2013, Profit Chain also entered
into a share transfer agreement with Mr. NGAI to dispose
a wholly-owned subsidiary, Gold Vantage Limited (“Gold
Vantage”) and the loan owing by Gold Vantage to a subsidiary
of the Group to settle part of the consideration of the Flower
Ocean Acquisition. The Flower Ocean Acquisition was
completed on 22 May 2013.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Connected transactions — Flower Ocean Acquisition
(continued)

Since Mr. NGAI is the Executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and a controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr.
NGALI is regarded as a connected person of the Company.
Therefore, the Flower Ocean Acquisition constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The transaction was approved by
independent shareholders of the Company at a special general
meeting held on 15 May 2013. Further details of the Flower
Ocean Acquisition have been set out in the Company’s
announcement and circular dated 19 March 2013 and 26 April
2013 respectively, and note 32(a) to the financial statements.

Continuing Connected Transaction — Leases granted by the
Group

The Group entered into certain transactions with parties
regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable accounting
principles. These mainly relate to contracts entered into by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which contracts
were negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s
length basis. Further details are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements. One of these transactions also constitutes
“Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing
Rules. Details of the transactions required to be disclosed are

set out as follows:

B i )5 38 B (#8)
Bl % 32 B — W Flower Ocean )i 3% 86 (#)

HRMELERARAAFZHITERE -FHEFEN
B VE OB » DR e M AR A F Z BN - B
I > #Flower Oceani i 3 H ¥ L BRI 14A
P > WA AR W —IHMEAZ S - BWIHZ S
CRZF-Z4FRH T H MR kg L
WL B R A o A B % Flower Ocean Wi % JEH 1)
TSGR O TR AN F B0 R T —=
EZATFLA RSB -ZENA AN HRAE
BB > DL B R M RE32(a) o

¢ 8 B 2 B — A AR T % o 2 L AR

A S5 ) B 2 o D o R B s [ B 7 | 2 A
LATIE TR S o WL 5 LEW RARLERH
WS 0 v e B T S AR A A S D8 S T i
WIOLZ AR o JLAT B O B s R M 36 o
B vp - JEAZ G A bR B TR T A R 7 22
VERECE P Ay | SRS e
WAIWME
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transaction — Leases granted by the
Group (continued)

The following lease arrangement was entered into by Frason
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company, as landlord, with Lanon Development, an associate

of Mr. NGAI:

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
oA B OR A R A FH

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

L ki

Ikt 75 32 5 (76)
$6 450 58 5 — 7 408 3 1 2 AL (80

A 4R AT R A 7] (A W) 2 T4 4 i Jed 24 1)
Teky e R HTERE R (BRI BN) B T 51
LB R HE

Connected Date of Monthly Total
person agreement Terms Premises rental consideration
B A 1 U E R £ L/E S HHME AR
e Sk 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T T¥#x
Lanon Development 28 May 2010 Three years No. 157 Waterloo Road, 142 284
AR R R R commencing Kowloon Tong, Kowloon
HHZ+/)\H  from 1 June 2010 JUREIE BT B HE 15798
A& R4
ANH—HE=Z4F
29 May 2013 Three years No. 157 Waterloo Road, 174 1,740
R —-= commencing Kowloon Tong, Kowloon
HHZ+JLH  from 1 June 2013 JUBE I 5 AT BB 15758
HoZ—=4
NA—HRE=4E
2,024

The continuing connected transaction was entered in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the respective
subsidiary after due negotiations on an arm’s length basis
with reference to the prevailing market conditions and
ratable value of the property. Announcements were published
regarding the transactions in accordance with the Listing

Rules.

Further details of Lanon Development are set out in the
section “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS” above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transaction — Leases granted by the
Group (continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out
above and have confirmed that these continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial
terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged Ernst & Young, the Company’s
auditors, to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. In accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing
Rules, Ernst & Young have provided the Board with the letter
in respect of their findings and confirming the Company’s
continuing connected transactions disclosed above: (1) have
received the approval of the Board; (2) have been entered
into in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the
transactions; and (3) have not exceeded the cap disclosed in
the Company’s previous announcement. A copy of the letter
has been provided to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save
as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which
need to be disclosed as connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

BH 5 2 5 ()
5 45 B 2 28 B — A AR 3 o 2 B AE (A

Ao ] 2B I BT O B bl 2 R A
B2 Gy > W i % S F R B A By ¢ (1) AR SR [ i
HOWSEH 5 (2)R: 32 IR — B vli B sk HE AT 5 R (3)
MR B 22 5 W i el sk AT > T 28 2 sk 4 °F
B> S AT A A4 W R OR R R A 2 o

A ) OB W 2K G SRR R
VB 7 I 2 € A A vk B S s E I SR 30005%
[FEFH I HEERZEBTIE] > B2
WRE s L W SR 740%% [ B34 27 v I i # R T Ak 14 4
A 3T 5 1 4 B R A > A A T e e A I
AR G AE R o MR B RIS 14A 380k » &
KEFHIERENT O EZSRBEERT >
RAGEE Pk BB EWAER S s ()R
AN ZERE R 5 (2) IR B S
SR ATRT o 5 B (3) ol I 8 20 A 2 ] S i A
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULES 13.18
AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

The following disclosures are made pursuant to Rules
13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules in respect of the loan
agreements which containing a clause which is deemed
to have imposed a specific performance obligation on the
controlling shareholder of the Company and a breach of such

obligation will cause a default therein.

Loan Facilities

Certain indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, as
borrowers (the “Borrowers”) and the Company as guarantor,
had entered into certain installment loan agreements (the
“Loan Agreements”) with a bank pursuant to which the bank
agrees to provide certain installment loan facilities (the “Loan
Facilities”) to the Borrowers. The Loan Facilities has been
repaid in monthly installment and the last installment should
be repaid in December 2025.

Under the Loan Agreements, among others, an event
of default is triggered when Mr. NGAI ceases to be the
Company’s single largest beneficial shareholder at any time
during the term of the Loan Agreements. If such an event
of default occurs, the bank may and shall declare the Loan
Facilities be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding loan
together with interest accrued thereon and all other sums
payable by the Company under the Loan Agreements to be
immediately due and payable.

As at 31 March 2014, the aggregate outstanding Loan
Facilities amounted to approximately HK$88,827,000
(2013:HK$95,602,000).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, the Company
did not have other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.18
and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A management discussion and analysis of the Group’s annual

results is shown on pages 24 to 35 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S REVIEW
The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2014 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
NGAI Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

EY =x

To the shareholders of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
81 to 192, which comprise the consolidated and company
statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

Or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at 31 March 2014, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

17 June 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0ssS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B 4H 2 B 3t 2 v i i %

Year ended 31 March 2014 #FE ~F—WE=H=4+—HI- ¥

2014 2013
s = =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
REVENUE WA 5 3,379,552 3,476,653
Contract costs B R A (3,193,755) (3,273,468)
Property expenses EX (639) (1,476)
Gross profit EEY | 185,158 201,709
Other income and gains BN N N & 5 14,592 184,634
Administrative expenses TP X (79,998) (61,691)
Finance costs g % -4iil 7 (7,927) (11,314)
Share of profits and losses of AL &8 A 3 HR R
joint ventures KE B 18 24,891 30,812
PROFIT BEFORE TAX I e 1 %k A 6 136,716 344,150
Income tax expense B 38637 10 (19,518) (24,977)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AF B kA 117,198 319,173
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: - {ib 4 i i 2% :
Other comprehensive income not VAAR 391 ) A v B0 4y LR
to be reclassified to profit Bz H A2k
or loss in subsequent periods:
Gain on property revaluation LIE XN (& 14 204,197 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE A B i 2 i MK A
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 204,197 -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AP B 4 T VBC 2 4 A1
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 321,395 319,173
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0ss AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

B 2 B 3t 2 v i i %

Year ended 31 March 2014 #FE ~F—WE=H=4+—HI- ¥

2014 2013
TR R =8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
Profit attributable to: JREAf 5 A
Owners of the parent AT A& 11 115,373 319,173
Non-controlling interests I ¥ ) e A 2 1,825 -
117,198 319,173
Total comprehensive income JE Al A T W AR A A
attributable to:
Owners of the parent AT AE & 319,570 319,173
Non-controlling interests I ¥ ) e i 2 1,825 -
321,395 319,173
EARNINGS PER SHARE BE Sy )35 R A R A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO JEE A 455 IR ik A
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13
(HK cents) (¥l
Basic B 6.73 21.19
Diluted 1 6.73 21.17
Details of dividends are disclosed in note 12 to the financial HEKEN B RER T 2R HE -
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

& BN DLk
31 March 2014 BZ=F—MHE=H=>,—H
2014 2013
TR PE R =8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik ¥ Wy ¥
Property, plant and equipment LUE W £y & ] 14 147,807 346,891
Properties held for development FAEERZYE 15 726,274 250,000
Investment properties BE Yk 16 874,600 419,600
Investments in joint ventures REBEAENRE 18 166,914 142,023
Deferred tax assets 8 L B JE F B 28 416 396
Total non-current assets e By A AR 1,916,011 1,158,910
CURRENT ASSETS i W) ¥
Gross amount due from customers EW R FZEH
for contract works Tk 4% 19 338,057 447,540
Properties under development B YE 20 459,791 416,207
Properties held for sale HFEEREZYE 21 - 50,171
Accounts receivable JRE WAL B % 22 316,566 487,002
Prepayments, deposits and other AT RIE - ZE R
receivables Al R Wk 23 64,745 77,481
Tax recoverable a] Y [5] B IE 914 5,231
Cash and cash equivalents Bl&kBESHEY 24 403,477 365,705
Total current assets i B A AR 1,583,550 1,849,337
CURRENT LIABILITIES i By £1 4%
Accounts and bills payable JRE A5} R ik S SR 9% 25 575,326 666,444
Accruals of costs for contract works THIR A A TR AR 62,869 67,316
Tax payable JRE A B T 4,867 11,671
Other payables and accruals J Atk A 3% B T AR 2 26 21,803 22,115
Due to a joint venture REAT— A& A EFH 18 65,401 53,451
Interest-bearing bank loans A ERAT B 27 590,708 544,290
Total current liabilities B A A 1,320,974 1,365,287
NET CURRENT ASSETS L By o A VR A 262,576 484,050
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT Y i A {9 U ) £
LIABILITIES 2,178,587 1,642,960
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B4 B IR DL A

31 March 2014 BZ=F—MHE=H=>,—H

2014 2013
TR PE R =8
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik B 1
Interest-bearing bank loans B ERAT B 27 181,366 123,428
Deferred tax liabilities A8 S B A AR 28 4,050 4,526
Total non-current liabilities e By A A AR 185,416 127,954
Net assets & EEE 1,993,171 1,515,006
EQUITY BE 2%
Equity attributable to owners B A H
of the parent M A B 2
Issued capital BT AR 29 43,667 37,792
Reserves Tk 31(a) 1,896,940 1,477,214
1,940,607 1,515,006
Non-controlling interest I oz ) 1 M 2R 52,564 -
Total equity HORERR 1,993,171 1,515,006
Ngai Chun Hung Yau Kwok Fai
Director Director
240 e it B PR
#HFH #HF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUiITY

B Rt st Wy R
Year ended 31 March 2014 #E =F—WFE=H=—+—HILFEZ
Attributable to owners of the parent
LEEEiEd 1]
Share Share ~ Property Non-

Issued  premium Capital Contributed option revaluation  Retained controlling Total
Capital ~ account reserve  surplus reserve reserve profits Total interest Equity
B {5 ey Jig3 SN BERE  WETR i3 Fe it W

RA Ak i Bk Bifi i Al it Wi it
HKS000  HKSO0  HK$000  HK$000  HKSOW0  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000

Ti#r  Té#r  T#r  Té#xn  T#r  Té#xn  T#r  Té#xn T#r T#x

At 1 April 2012 REF-ZENA—H 37459 174189 - 14 2453 - 964993 1,190,515 - 1190515
Profit and total comprehensive A FEYAI R 2 W 26
income for the year A - - - - - -390 3911 - In
Exercise of share options BB ATHE (W7t 290))
(note 29(a)) 333 4,985 - - - - - 5318 - 5318
Transfer upon exercise of share 1t 1 1 0f i 4
options (note 29(b)) (H#290) - 1,999 - - {19%) - - - - -
Transfer of share option reserve i e HE % 2
upon lapse of share options 1 W B - - - - (454) - 454 - - -
At 31 March 2013 REF-ZEZAZ4—H 37092 18,173 L4 -+ - 1284,600% 1,515,006 - 1,515,006
At 1 April 2013 RZF-ZEMA-R 3179 18LIB -4 - - 1284620 1,515,006 - 1515006
Profit for the year A JER - - - - - N 1 EXTE I VR TS 185 117,198
Other comprehensive KRR
income for the year:
Gain on property WEE s
revaluation (Wit4)
(note 14) - - - - - 204197 - 204197 - 204197

Total comprehensive income KEER TN EAH

for the year - - - - - 104197 15313 319,570 1,825 321,395
[ssue of Consideration Shares BHRERR Hit2c)
(note 29(c)) 5315 151,810 - - - - - 157,685 - 157,685
Deemed partial disposal of TR A 7
subsidiaries (note 32(b)) WS (HaEm) - - 46 - - - - 746 50,739 51,485
2013 final dividend “R-ZERRA - - - - - - (514000 (52400) - (52400)
At 31 March 2014 REF-MEZAZF—H 83667 332,983 T46* 11421% = 204097% 1347593 1,940,607 52,564 1993171
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ME IR B BN AR A B R LR P Z 55 A
HK$1,896,940,000 (2013: HK$1,477,214,000) in the consolidated f#1.806,940,0009 75 (% — Z4F 1 1,477.214,000
statement of financial position. Wot)
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLows

AR ER

Year ended 31 March 2014 #FE ~F—WE=H=4+—HI- ¥

2014 2013
ZR—WLE R =4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt T#C Fi#or
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERHZAEHEE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax ¥ ot i ¥z A 136,716 344,150
Adjustments for: BN ER (TR
Finance costs -4l 7 7,927 11,314
Share of profits and losses of joint JEAG &8 A S HR R
ventures a4 Eic 18 (24,891) (30,812)
Interest income B WA 5 (2,541) (4,203)
Depreciation e 6 7,688 6,390
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — B E A w B s 5 (9,965) -
Gain on disposal of items of property, &~ AN Kk
plant and equipment JHHZ W 5 (188) (27)
Gain on disposal of investment B B R AR
properties, net A 5 - (141,161)
Gain on changes in fair value BEWEANTVHE
of investment properties CLlEn 5 - (38,080)
114,746 147,571
Decrease in amounts due from joint JE WA 8 A SR IE A
ventures - 10
Decrease/(increase) in gross amount due ~ HEWE F Z A 41 TR
from customers for contract works HEEI A () 109,483 (188,348)
Increase in properties under development %% J& 4 3 34 (39,545) (66,184)
Increase in properties held for sale AR EZWERN M - (7,006)
Increase in properties held for AR Z W EN M
development (76,274) -
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable MEWHE Zk kA (36 fm) 170,436 (87,437)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TEATBRIE ~ 4 KAl
deposits and other receivables JE Wk ik A (36 m) 12,637 (11,895)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and bills WA} HE 3k S 52
payable W i) (91,118) 98,691
Decrease in accruals of costs for contract  TH & A #) T.F& LA % A
works (4,447) (35,515)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables At A 3K B T AR 2
and accruals ¥, () (3,521) 521
Increase in amount due to a joint venture HEAT — & 8 4> 3 3K JE 3 n 11,950 35,909
Cash from/(used in) operations KA (AR BEZ B4 204,347 (113,683)
Interest received B 2,541 4,203
Interest paid oAt F A (15,175) (18,509)
Hong Kong profits tax paid O & A 45 B (21,763) (15,918)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating & ¥BEL  (HH) =
activities B 4 i A2 9 A 169,950 (143,907)
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FrLows

EOBERER
Year ended 31 March 2014 #E ZF—WE=H="—HIFFEE
2014 2013
EE LA =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating mEEmEL (R Z
activities BHeRBEFH 169,950 (143,907)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BHEFBHZB &R
ACTIVITIES
Additions of items of property, Bmi3E - R
plant and equipment M E E (21,726) (55,376)
Acquisition of subsidiaries that are WAL B N A J S T Y
not a business FfF g 2 7 32(a) (116,095) —
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - WS & HEE
property, plant and equipment Z Tk 202 217
Proceeds from disposal of investment H B 45 2 0 B A RO
properties - 416,161
Proceeds from deemed partial disposal P B B JBS 2 ) R 43 E AR
of subsidiaries, net W RT3k I8 > A 32(b) 51,485 -
Net cash flows from/(used in) wEEEEL (M) Z
investing activities BHERBEH (86,134) 360,812
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BERHG B SR
ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid [ERRYFS (52,400) -
Proceeds from exercise of share options IR TS A A8 47 05 4 By 45 3 29 - 5,318
New bank loans BT SRAT B K 264,029 725,209
Repayment of bank loans 1R SR AT K (257,673) (942,128)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEEHEMEHZ
activities Bl & EH (46,044) (211,601)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND B& BB &S Y
CASH EQUIVALENTS B4 m ¥ 37,772 5,304
Cash and cash equivalents at FEWZ B & RBE&FHD
beginning of year 365,705 360,401
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBESFMHY
AT END OF YEAR 403,477 365,705
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH B4 kB &%k 2
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Vg
Cash and bank balances B4 B SRAT & 24 393,393 240,635
Non-pledged time deposits with original i B K¢ JE A 2[4 H A i
maturity of less than three months =18 A Z L
when acquired 7 W17 K 24 10,084 125,070
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the #F A BEMEFR N akm
consolidated statement of cash flows B4eRB 4%y 403,477 365,705
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RSN

31 March 2014 BZ=F—MHE=H=>,—H

2014 2013
Smews | =g
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it F# Fi#T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik ¥ Wy %5
Investments in subsidiaries T B A B I 17 629,605 288,200
CURRENT ASSETS i )
Cash and cash equivalents Be R B&5EY 24 647 1,489
Total current assets i B A AR 647 1,489
CURRENT LIABILITIES W) 115
Other payables JLAth, JE £ 3K 26 251 285
Total current liabilities A AR A 251 285
NET CURRENT ASSETS i ) 9 7 O 396 1,204
Net assets BEFMH 630,001 289,404
EQUITY HE %%
Issued capital CEATIRA 29 43,667 37,792
Reserves =i 31(c) 586,334 251,612
Total equity HRERS 630,001 289,404
Ngai Chun Hung Yau Kwok Fai
Director Director
B 40 e it 1 R
#HF #HF
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were engaged in

the following principal activities:

e a wide range of construction, civil engineering,
maintenance and other contract works in public and

private sectors in Hong Kong
e  property investment and development

The Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Winhale
Ltd. (“Winhale”), which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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B"ofH OB OKR A B A F

' ‘ ' VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SV i o B ik

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2014. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date

that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries below.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity

transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of

the related assets or liabilities.

2.1 i RIEHE ()

AR

R T B AR R A A W) R L i 4 R A R
SR WEZH Z A Bk AR B
2 o PO 2> W) H B A R R LA A R — B
VA R Ak S0 [ A o R IR 2 ] R K
B R B AR MU P R H TR AR
Sl 488 A8 Ak A DA > ) L A o R AL o

FH 2 T A 2 ThT WAL 25 1) % AL SRR 43 B R
ASR BB A R R A B R I HI MR RS AR
U 22 5| B e ol M 2 A R L M o KSR
PR A% A ) Z T2 A B B R A
fit ~ HERR - WA - PSR BLE B AR B IR
H IR 2 G A o

R S R DLEER T S B B D 2 R B
B Y BT e ) B S TEOC R T — I S I
A > S A S T o R A R 5 8 AR
AR T o B 23 ] v A 2 B ke M Y
Jii A 3 W 2 5 B A R R AR 2 S O o

TSR A SR O 25T S R DA A D e R >
Ak TS ¢ (i) BG4 T (LG R Ay
A5 (i) 42 o B v 5 R (i) R
ARERS I Bt sz 5 5 MR ¢ () EIR
AECRY 2 P AR 5 (i) i 45 P 2 1 AL
VA B (iii) 6 15 2 v o 2 i b 2 2R I 4E 28 o R
A P - i g Al 2 TG 5 M R 4 B
W P IR A AR AR B A > v B
ARG AR AR REM
M o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#moA OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKERS 7 Amendments

HKEFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKEFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments
HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 36 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Annual Improvements

2009 - 2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Government Loans

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12 - Transition Guidance

Fair Value Measurement

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of
Items of Other Comprehensive Income

Employee Benefits

Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets — Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets (early adopted)

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in June 2012
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B"ofH OB OKR A B A F

' ‘ ' VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SV i o B ik

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.2 1t BOR B 5% 2 52 ) (A7)

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

Other than as further explained below regarding the
impact of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKFRS 13,
HKAS 19 (2011), amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 1 and HKAS 36, and certain
amendments included in Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 Cycle, the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs
has had no significant financial effect on these financial
statements.

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised

HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements and addresses the issues in
HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose
Entities. It establishes a single control model used
for determining which entities are consolidated.
To meet the definition of control in HKFRS 10,
an investor must have (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. The changes introduced
by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to
exercise significant judgement to determine which

entities are controlled.

As a result of the application of HKFRS 10, the
Group has changed the accounting policy with
respect to determining which investees are controlled
by the Group.

The application of HKFRS 10 does not change any
of the consolidation conclusions of the Group in

respect of its involvement with investees as at 1

April 2013.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
.

o B & BROA A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint

(c)

Ventures and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled
Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.
It describes the accounting for joint arrangements
with joint control. It addresses only two forms of
joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations and joint
ventures, and removes the option to account for joint
ventures using proportionate consolidation. The
classification of joint arrangements under HKFRS 11
depends on the parties’ rights and obligations arising
from the arrangements. A joint operation is a joint
arrangement whereby the joint operators have rights
to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the
arrangement and is accounted for on a line-by-line
basis to the extent of the joint operators’ rights and
obligations in the joint operation. A joint venture is
a joint arrangement whereby the joint venturers have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement and is

required to be accounted for using the equity method

in accordance with HKAS 28 (2011).

The application of HKFRS 11 does not change the
equity accounting conclusion of the Group in respect

of its investments in joint ventures.

HKFRS 12 sets out the disclosure requirements
for subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
structured entities previously included in HKAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,
HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28
Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number
of new disclosure requirements for these entities.
Details of the disclosures for subsidiaries and joint
ventures are included in notes 17 and 18 to the

financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B OB OK

i ORoa W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SV i o B ik

31 March 2014

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(d) The HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

(e)

Amendments clarify the transition guidance in
HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full
retrospective application of these standards, limiting
the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information to only the preceding comparative
period. The amendments clarify that retrospective
adjustments are only required if the consolidation
conclusion as to which entities are controlled by the
Group is different between HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27
or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual
period in which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first

time.

HKEFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value
and a single source of fair value measurement and
disclosure requirements for use across HKFRSs.
The standard does not change the circumstances in
which the Group is required to use fair value, but
rather provides guidance on how fair value should
be applied where its use is already required or
permitted under other HKFRSs. HKFRS 13 is applied
prospectively and the adoption has had no material
impact on the Group’s fair value measurements. As a
result of the guidance in HKFRS 13, the policies for
measuring fair value have been amended. Additional
disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the fair value
measurements of investment properties and financial
instruments are included in notes 16 and 37 to the
financial statements.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping
of items presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time
(for example, exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations, net movement on cash flow
hedges and net loss or gain on available-for-sale
financial assets) are presented separately from items
which will never be reclassified (for example, the
revaluation of land and buildings). The amendments
have affected the presentation only and have had
no impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group. In addition, the Group has chosen
to use the new title “statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income” as introduced by the
amendments in these financial statements.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

o B & BROA A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(2)

(h)

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments
that range from fundamental changes to simple
clarifications and re-wording. The revised standard
introduces significant changes in the accounting for
defined benefit pension plans including removing
the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to
the timing of recognition for termination benefits,
the classification of short term employee benefits and
disclosures of defined benefit plans. As the Group
does not have any defined benefit plan or employee
termination plan and the Group does not have any
significant employee benefits that are expected to
be settled for more than twelve months after the
reporting period, the adoption of the revised standard
has had no effect on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

The HKAS 36 Amendments remove the unintended
disclosure requirement made by HKFRS 13 on
the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit
which is not impaired. In addition, the amendments
require the disclosure of the recoverable amounts
for the assets or cash-generating units for which an
impairment loss has been recognised or reversed
during the reporting period, and expand the
disclosure requirements regarding the fair value
measurement for these assets or units if their
recoverable amounts are based on fair value less
costs of disposal. The amendments are effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application
permitted, provided HKFRS 13 is also applied. The
Group has early adopted the amendments in these
financial statements. The amendments have had no
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i) Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle issued in
June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of
standards. There are separate transitional provisions
for each standard. While the adoption of some of the
amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments have had a
significant financial impact on the Group. Details of
the key amendments most applicable to the Group
are as follows:

e HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies the difference between voluntary
additional comparative information and the
minimum required comparative information.
Generally, the minimum required comparative
period is the previous period. An entity must
include comparative information in the related
notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information
beyond the previous period. The additional
comparative information does not need to
contain a complete set of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the
opening statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the preceding period must be
presented when an entity changes its accounting
policies; makes retrospective restatements or
makes reclassifications, and that change has a
material effect on the statement of financial
position. However, the related notes to the
opening statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the preceding period are not
required to be presented.

e HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation:
Clarifies that income taxes arising from
distributions to equity holders are accounted
for in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.
The amendment removes existing income
tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires
entities to apply the requirements in HKAS 12
to any income tax arising from distributions to
equity holders.

(i)
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

HKERS 9 Financial Instruments*

HKFRS 9, HKERS 7 Hedge Accounting and amendments to
and HKAS 39 HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 39*
Amendments

HKEFRS 10, HKEFRS 12 Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
and HKAS 27 (2011) HKAS 27 (2011) - Investment Entities'
Amendments

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts’

HKAS 19 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions®

HKAS 32 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities'

HKAS 39 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
— Nowation of Derivatives and Continuation

of Hedge Accounting'
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies!
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
2010 - 2012 Cycle in January 20142
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
2011 - 2013 Cycle in January 20142

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2014

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016

No mandatory effective date yet determined but is
available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement of

financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS

39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most
of the Additions were carried forward unchanged from
HKAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement
of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO”). For
these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit
risk must be presented in OCI. The remainder of the
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless
presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which
have been designated under the FVO are scoped out of
the Additions.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(continued)

In December 2013, the HKICPA added to HKFRS 9 the
requirements related to hedge accounting and made some
related changes to HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 which include
the corresponding disclosures about risk management
activity for applying hedge accounting. The amendments
to HKFRS 9 relax the requirements for assessing hedge
effectiveness which result in more risk management
strategies being eligible for hedge accounting. The
amendments also allow greater flexibility on the hedged
items and relax the rules on using purchased options
and non-derivative financial instruments as hedging
instruments. In addition, the amendments to HKFRS 9
allow an entity to apply only the improved accounting for
own credit risk-related fair value gains and losses arising
on FVO liabilities as introduced in 2010 without applying
the other HKFRS 9 requirements at the same time.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance in
HKAS 39 on impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The previous mandatory effective date of HKFRS
9 was removed by the HKICPA in December 2013 and
a mandatory effective date will be determined after the
entire replacement of HKAS 39 is completed. However,
the standard is available for application now. The Group
will quantify the effect in conjunction with other phases,
when the final standard including all phases is issued.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 include a definition of an
investment entity and provide an exception to the
consolidation requirement for entities that meet the
definition of an investment entity. Investment entities
are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather
than consolidate them. Consequential amendments
were made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The
amendments to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure
requirements for investment entities. The Group expects
that these amendments will not have any impact on the

Group as the Company is not an investment entity as

defined in HKFRS 10.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(continued)

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right to set off”
for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.
The amendments also clarify the application of the
offsetting criteria in HKAS 32 to settlement systems
(such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross
settlement mechanisms that are not simultaneous. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on

the financial position or performance of the Group upon
adoption on 1 April 2014.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the

relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,

including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of a subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at

cost less any impairment losses.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of joint ventures are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the joint ventures, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the
Group’s investments in joint ventures.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of the joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability that is a financial instrument and within the
scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent
consideration is not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is
measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

2.4 LA GHBORBERE ()

1 3% 4 OF L R

A OF R I B BT - A ORI
TS AR 2 O AP (R R B > LA AR
58 0 2 A0 B WA O 5 o) A G S A A
05 W FE A B~ AR T AR O U
ACEE T BE AT B M ACRE 2 1 WA B A R4
M AA o FERAE A OF - A B2 H R A &
P A% B R IR A 3 A R 0 T 4 B ) 15
T P A T Y e e M A > AR
VB Y 38 4 DA AP fi i g WA O T R
T PR A B B o e ] 1 B 25 Y i A L
Al AL 43 42 4 O PR o W R I R
AT B A IR S B o

A 8 P WA D A A3 > T R WO AR BR
[ sk ~ AP IR D DA B A Bl AR D0 2 Al 2
il 5 A R A Y B ROE AT A 4 R
A 355 1 A O A S TR AT A T RAE A o
AT B

WA SE A OF 2 B BOBAT » Z TR Y JBRE 2
JLH W TR 23 1 (R R A AR
GRUEERIEE R

1S WAL J 75 A A A AR A 9 M 2 T
HH AP R EETHER - e T RIS
TR S M 7 A 8 it o B SR 30 9%
i Y O AR R AP B R B > AR
AP 588 B A 4 2 v s A 2 LA 2 v AL 4 1 A
B RS o R s AR A i A A o o it i B
R3O Y > L AR R Y A
e QI B o g S50 B i A A AR ERT R
B HZ R AR P AR

Annual Report 2013-2014 §FE®RE



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the disposed operation and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement
The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

2.4 LA GHBORBERE ()

AP B

A 5 I A R 4 I R 3% 7 B B L
W3k o AR G 2 BBt R H A
R gy B — U P e ML B B RS
— IR B ARG o AR B
TP H B R B RS AR 32 B AE M B
AR EE WG HELT > REAFEER
W HIREOLT > RIAEA B & A s R el
AT G AT W BUE o BT 8 (Sl A i
Bi) WEH R A G T BE A8 A BT 35 o A B
BRI PR TS B 1 85 2 B A 3 e
sH R I (RGBT 45 2 B3 DVE B
U 4 d AL B 05 AT 35) BT BR B At
Bo

Je G il A 1 A PR BB R T 2 B
B KRB B i SRS
B2 I 51 % A A A DL K R
% B E T B I LAt i 2 B A
PR RIIRES) o

7% 5 T PR A I DU 2 S EL A A AT
A P B S B Al A B A 25 W A T > Al
57 A Al T 9B i A % il B A B R
B A o

7 B 785 e 5 0 T e el 8 A P19 O
B SUBT > AR A PR R S R A
T SRR I S5 (0K R i A\ A AE T PR
KNHELT 5

SEoRgUc— B A A R R R AR
5 b GRASTH %) i i

B - BEREATER RN ERA
B 2 Y IR IR O\
T L B [ 2 T A Y Al 4
ol

Annual Report 2013-2014 §FE®RE



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than properties held for development, properties under
development, properties held for sale, construction
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for

that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a); and

(vii)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than hotel
under construction, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)
Changes in the values of revalued property, plant and
equipment are dealt with as movements in the property
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss
to the extent of the deficit previously charged.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases
Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining term of the
land lease and 40 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease term and 20%
Machinery and equipment 20% to 24%
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 24%
office equipment
Motor vehicles 24% to 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Hotel under construction is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Hotel under construction is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the

reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the

year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the

year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to properties
under development, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of

change in use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under

“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at cost less
impairment losses. These properties are reclassified as
properties under development, hotel under construction
or investment properties, as appropriate, when

development commences.

Properties held for development are classified as non-
current assets as the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete

beyond the normal operating cycle.

Properties under development

Properties under development for re-sale are included
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises acquisition costs,
construction costs, interest and other direct attributable

costs.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete within the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are

transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
estimated selling price less estimated total cost of the
development and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale of the properties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale of the
properties.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of
a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including
prepaid land lease payments under finance leases,
are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a

constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the

lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as loans and receivables. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the
financial assets, except in the case of financial assets

recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank

balances, accounts and other receivables and deposits.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such
assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss in finance costs for loans and

in other expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have

expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects

the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a

collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate

computed at initial recognition).
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other

expenses in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as loans and borrowings.
The Group determines the classification of its financial

liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and
bills payables, other payables, accruals of costs for
contract works, amount due to a joint venture and

interest-bearing bank loans.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the

liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in

nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

e  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax

credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or

part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation

authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,

are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction, renovation and other contracts,
on the percentage of completion basis, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Construction,

renovation and other contracts” below;

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE#H S

VR 5 0 o TR i

2.4 LA GHBORBERE ()

i #3-B¢ (&)

8 S O I 2 R T 5 IR o R 3
HEAT R o Tk TR A BT < MR
At it A1) DA Bl FiY 208 S A5 I E 4 R
RF o BB A A L MR T A o B R R R AR TE
T T A R A R R REAY > AR
J1 Hh B 70 A 2 R RO v ) DA i [ 9 S A O
R 2 2 T R Ay IR i R o

8 S AV W B AR O O L 2 A
RO 2o b 9 oK 32 200 2 Bl &R
Ry RERE > ST AR S B A AR AR
G e S

UnAE A T A B AT AT AR R 5 YT
S ST T B TR R o i 2 A I T B
TP ) — M TR B ] — B A A > D AiE
I i B AR i I EAH R o

B i Bh

i A 5 BELAR 8 AT S BOR Y > 3T AT & B
A WA o B A B B i AP
B BOM H By o A A B Al B0 75 BB X B A
B > SO B < AEUOHE T 38 o B 2 AR 32
BT > A R A HUHE R A o

WA e
WA T3 A AR B KA T R A A A 2 A
R WAL\ A0 T S it IR R ) R e R

(a) EEE -~ WO R HAL TREAH > e TH
i bl B A A MR o A7 B R OR R OCT R
# -~ W R A AR A | Z BT EOR



B"ofH OB OKR A B A F

' ‘ I VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUh 5 e Y ik
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(b) from work orders of contracts for alterations,
additions, repairs and maintenance, based on the
value of individual work orders certified by relevant

employers;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying

amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed

construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the percentage of certified value of work performed to

date to the total contract sum of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are

anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is treated as an amount due from customers
for contract works. Where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due

to customers for contract works.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in note

30 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance

and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following year. An accrual is
made at the end of the reporting period for the expected
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by
the employees and carried forward.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQ”) retirement benefit scheme for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the ORSO scheme. This
scheme operates in a way similar to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee leaves the scheme prior
to his/her interest in the Group’s employee contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited

employer’s contributions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the

borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Dividends
Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
have been approved by the shareholders.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of

monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income

or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets

or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these

properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately or leased out separately under a finance
lease, the Group accounts for these portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made
on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does

not qualify as an investment property.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and properties
held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management on
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention for holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the properties
are intended for sale after their completion, whereas,
the properties are accounted for as investment properties
under construction included in investment properties
if the properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred
to completed properties held for sale and are stated
at cost, while the properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation are transferred to completed
investment properties. Investment properties, both under
construction and completed, are subject to revaluation at

the end of each reporting period.

Valuation of properties under development and properties held
for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of each unit in each phase of development is
determined using the weighted average method. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling
price less selling expenses and the estimated cost of
completion (if any), which are estimated based on the

best available information.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Valuation of properties under development and properties held
for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease
in net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease
and this may result in a provision for properties under
development and properties held for sale. Such provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods
in which such estimate is changed will be adjusted
accordingly.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described

below.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, revenue and profit recognition on contract
works is dependent on the estimation of the total
outcome of the construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date. Based on the Group’s past experience
and the nature of the contract activities undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can be
reliably estimated. As a result, until this point is reached,
the amount due from customers for contract works as
disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements will not
include profit which the Group may eventually realise
from the work performed to date. In addition, actual
outcomes in terms of total contract costs and/or revenue
may be higher or lower than those estimated at the end of
the reporting period, which would affect the revenue and

profit recognised in future years.
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31 March 2014

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Construction, renovation and other contracts (continued)
Significant assumptions are required to estimate the
total contract costs and the recoverable variation works
that will affect whether any provision is required for
foreseeable losses. The estimates are made based on past
experience and knowledge of the project management.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
investment properties including completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on
market value, existing use basis or on residual basis
by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions and
estimates, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual outcomes. In making
the judgement for valuation of investment properties
under market value, existing use basis, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period are used, while the use of the residual basis to
value investment properties under construction requires
considering the significant risks which are relevant to
the development process, including but not limited to
construction and letting risks.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and

has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the contract works segment engages in contract
works as a main contractor or subcontractor,
primarily in respect of building construction,
renovation and repairs and maintenance and civil

engineering;

(b) the property investment and development segment
engages in investment in retail, commercial and
residential premises for their rental income potential

and the development of properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted
profit before tax from continuing operations. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income,
finance costs, share of profits and losses of joint ventures
as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded

from such measurement.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third

parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. HWER (H)

Group
A4
Property investment
Contract works and development Eliminations Consolidated
AU ES3 T it ]
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
CR-WE | ZR-ZE (22N | 222 | Z2-WE | 222 |2%-mE | 2324
HK$'000 | HK§'000 | HK$000 [ HK$000 | HK$000 | HK$000 | HK$000 |  HK$'000
TH#L TH#T T#I T#T T#L TH#T TH#x T#T
Segment revenue: AR
Sales to external customers WETIEEFR 3,363,842 | 3,454,844 15,710 21,809 - - | 3,379,552 | 3,476,653
Inter-segment sales SRR 46,324 266 4,944 2,529 (51,268) (2,795) - -
Total EL 3,410,166 | 3,455,110 20,654 4338 | (51,268) (179) | 3,379,552 | 3,476,653
Segment results VE P 170,088 181,376 20,014 27,674 (4,944) | (18,100) | 185,158 380,950
Interest and unallocated MERAAEZ
income and gains WA R W s 14,592 5,393
Unallocated expenses FRAZH X (79,998) (61,691)
Finance costs Jipis g (7,927) (11,314)
Share of profits and losses of ~ FEAG &8 At
joint ventures A s 24,891 30,812 - - - - 24,891 30,812
Profit before tax Bt i 136,716 344,150
Income tax expense Fr Bt (19,518) (24.977)
Profit for the year R A 117,198 319,173
Other segment information: ~ HAFER :
Depreciation fiE 1,453 1,613 - 1 - - 1,453 1,625
Depreciation on unallocated ~ RAREEZ
assets iE 6,235 4,765
Capital expenditure A B 736 1,309 24,199 51212 - - 24,935 58,581
Investments in joint ventures ~ RABERENRE | 166,914 142,03 - - - - | 166914 142,03
Gain on changes in fair value B MEA T
of investment properties FHl - - - 38,080 - - - 38,080
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. HWER (H)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
All of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers
based in Hong Kong.

(b) Non-current assets

Hl b 5 Y

(a) HKHIPKEFHIRA
ARSI A 315 8 DAAS o 2 S H P
R o

(b) i B &

2014 2013

L s

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#x F

Hong Kong B 1,916,011 1,154,910
Mainland China TN S - 4,000
1,916,011 1,158,910

The non-current asset information above is based on

the locations of the assets.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 March 2014, revenue from two
(2013: two) customers of the contract works segment
accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue. Revenue from these two (2013: two) customers
was HK$1,913,544,000 (2013: HK$2,110,528,000) and
HK$842,808,000 (2013: HK$509,451,000), respectively.

Government bureau and departments of the government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“HKSAR Government”) are considered a single customer.
Except for the aforesaid, no other single external
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s

revenue.

e 3 B A R DL E A Ay
i o

FEE P &R
WEREZZ—EZH=+T—HILEER »
RKEAGALEIEMAL (=4 /
) % 5 B WA AG AR 4 [ 48 0 A 10% o
REEGWAL (ZF— =4 WAL &5
A 551,913,544,0008 70 (8 — =48
2,110,528,000¥% 76 ) &% 842,808,000 7t (=&
— =4 1 509,451,000 5C) °
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. ¥EF (5)
Information about products and services VE il B¢ IR 5 66t
2014 2013
e Sk 2 R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # Fi#or
Revenue from external customers: KEIKEFZWA :
Contract works for building construction BMEREAATHE 1,613,635 1,773,505
Contract works for renovation, BT~ HE1E R ARE
repairs and maintenance FH IR 1,127,720 1,221,950
Contract works for civil engineering works K T & 4 T 622,487 459,389
Property gross rental income LE RS N R 15,710 21,809
3,379,552 3,476,653
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WOA - AN K W de
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents WA (75 B A 42 M i 48 360D T HR AR 0
the appropriate proportion of contract revenue from &~ DRAE - ORI AR A A A
construction, maintenance, civil engineering and other WO Z AHWA > RAREE ZWEHTK
contracts, and the gross rental income received and M WAL & i A B o

receivable from the Group’s properties during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and AR Z N ~ Al A KW g 2 4 AT
gains is as follows: T
2014 2013
—E W4 R =4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
At ik T#x T
Revenue WA
Contract revenue B HWA 3,363,842 3,454,844
Property gross rental income PEM AW AR 15,710 21,809
3,379,552 3,476,653
Other income and gains oAl A Bk 2
Interest income ) & e A 2,541 4,203
Consultancy fee income N HE S VPN 1,200 -
Management fee income received ~ —HE A HE
and receivable from a joint R EW
venture HEEERA 36 - 660
Gain on changes in fair value BEWENTVEHES
of investment properties & 16 - 38,080
Gain on disposal of items of HEmE - B
property, plant and equipment WA IE B ke 188 27
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYEN
properties, net sk > - 141,161
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — R A W] i AR 32(a) 9,965 -
Sundry income e SE U 698 503
14,592 184,634
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OB A OB oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. B BL i i A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after A4 ) 2 B AL HT A A BR 7 (REA) T
charging/(crediting): KT ¢
2014 2013
—E—W4E R4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
At ik T#x F#T
Depreciation e 14 7,688 6,390
Auditors’ remuneration A% S50 il T 4 3,200 2,250
Direct operating expenses =3 3 A E g
(including repairs and I E RS &
maintenance) arising on (A 35 HE e R 28)
rental-earning investment
properties 371 1,382
Employee benefits expense & B & R B 3 OF 45
(exclusive of directors’ N4 — P RES) ¢
remuneration — note 8):
Wages and salaries TE RHi4 144,516 146,348
Pension scheme contributions RN R
(defined contribution (R it sk wt #0)
schemes) 5,016 4,566
149,532 150,914
Minimum lease payments under AT RARZ R
operating leases: FHEMS -
Land and buildings o J 3,074 4,664
Equipment B 13,101 20,384
16,175 25,048
Government subsidies™* BOR % Bl (526) (218)
* Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational * 43 0 A 1) O 3 2 TR % B R O A R
Training Council and the Construction Industry Council, o 4 N 1 s Sy
institutions established by the HKSAR Government, for Ulﬁﬂ{%ﬁfﬂ%%?ﬂl@iﬁ&%iﬁ%%@ (%
providing on-the-job training for graduate engineers and trainees, W [ BOR B Z MM ) Z BE B - SIS AT B
respectively. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies A 2 R B AT B s R o

relating to these subsidies.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WBERM
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AREEMZHHEETSHWT -

2014 2013
TR R =4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T F T
Interest on bank loans SRAT R Z F B 15,175 18,509
Less: Interest capitalised W CEARILA B (7,248) (7,195)
7,927 11,314

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. WHW4

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The

LR A W 1B £ 22 5 A 2 )l 2 i AL
(M B L) B 7 i 4 W) ok 1) 55 16 140k 9 %

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing ZAREEERMEFEWT ¢
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
A 4
2014 2013
R R =8
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 F
Fees 4 642 594
Other emoluments: F At 7 1 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e HREYA 10,938 9,533
Discretionary performance-related BRI B Z IS 64T
bonuses 22,000 19,996
Pension scheme contributions (defined BAR 4 w3 4tk
contribution schemes) (R ik ak st #0) 70 90
33,008 29,619
33,650 30,213
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OB A OB oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I 5 B e Bk
31 March 2014 ZZF—PWE=H=1"—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WwH ML (4)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) MW IEPAT G
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors AR BN ST S IR AT S AR 4
during the year were as follows: mF
2014 2013
ZR— AR TR =4
Fees Fees
4 i
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#x
Professor Ko Jan Ming [oE= LR & 198 198
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP EE R (2 gE g KAL) 198 198
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene U3 W e A 198 198
594 594
There were no other emoluments payable to the TAARAEBEPY > W SR A S I AT R
independent non-executive directors during the year ZHALTH S (ST — =4 2 ) -
(2013: Nil).
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) BT H I R IEPIT K
2014
R WL
Salaries, Discretionary
allowances performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

CEAR I S ke
e REWHE WA BB B4
HK$000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000
T#7x T#7x T#7x T#7x T#7x

Executive directors: WATES
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung PRt
(“Mr. Ngai”) (MB%4]) - 6,642 12,000 15 18,657
Mt. Yau Kwok Fai e R A e 48 3,123 6,000 15 9,186
Mr. Li Chi Pong** BN R o - 1,173 4,000 40 5,213
48 10,938 22,000% 70 33,056
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I 5 B Bk
31 March 2014 ZZFE—WE=H=+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WwH ML (4)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) AT W B I PAT W g (4)
(continued)
2013
Salaries, Discretionary
allowances performance- Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

B v SCRBIAE R
e REYMG MR Rk YU
HK$000 ~ HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tt Fi Fib Tk Tk

Executive directors: TS
Mr. Ngai A - 4,550 12,000 15 16,565
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai i I M S - 2,980 4,000 15 6,995
M. Li Chi Pong** S E e - 1,653 1,996 60 3,709
- 9,183 17,996* 90 27,269
Non-executive director: ~ FEBTED ¢
Mr. Shek Yu Ming A1 T B 5l A e
Joseph*#* - 350 2,000 - 2,350
- 9,533 19,996 90 29,619

ORAREE BN A T ARG B AT

The discretionary performance-related bonuses paid to

the executive directors of the Group during the year was BLRBUM B 2 WAL AL » SRR
determined based on the Group’s operating performance for b B AR Y TR B E -
the preceding financial year.
#*  Mr. Li Chi Pong has resigned as an executive director of the o BRI A TR BEAR A R WATE
Company with effect from 10 December 2013. o BT THMBAER -
##%  Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph passed away on 28 October 2012 ek O BER AT H TN
in Hong Kong due to illness. H 7E 7 W B s 2 ik -
There was no arrangement under which a director waived ARy ] A ASAE B 9 AR AR AT HE - B
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year HE B R R SRR E (SR
(2013: Nil). — A ) e
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OB A OB oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014 ZF—MWE=H=—+—H
9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. w43 v R B
The five highest paid employees during the year MAFEEN LA R BHMESAFE =4 (2
included three (2013: four) directors, details of whose T2 UYL ER FEZIMEFRD
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of AP ESCEES - AR HBET A (ZF—=
the remuneration of the remaining two (2013: one) Fr—)REFMmIEEEZBE XA
non-directors, highest paid employees for the year are as FEREWR -
follows:
Group
A% 4 [
2014 2013
ZR A R =8
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 F
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind s HI R EYA S 2,637 1,200
Discretionary performance-related bonuses 52 & 5 #H B 2 ) 1% 16 4T 661 692
Pension scheme contributions R Nl W KL 75 60
3,373 1,952
The number of non-director, highest paid employees T 46 B 1) 45 A% v I o S O v 0 O B I N B
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as mF:
follows:
No. of individuals
e B A ¥
2014 2013
ot Sy Ei R =
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000%% JC £1,500,000% 7 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 78 22,000,000 J& -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 % 56 £2,500,000%5 J© 1 -
2 1
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Vi 25 e B ke
31 March 2014 ZF—WFE=H=—4—H
10. INCOME TAX 10. Pi 3 Bt
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of B W A3 B T AR R AR BE 9 A A W A 2 A
16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits FE B v R R B R 16.5% (F — =4
arising in Hong Kong during the year. 16.5%) A i #845 -
Group
A 4R
2014 2013
—E—W4g R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#x
Current — Hong Kong: EHW-FE
Charge for the year AAFFE 19,364 23,355
Overprovision in prior years VL Il 4E J3E 7 A 4 (88) (115)
Deferred (note 28) WAL (M it28) 242 1,737
Total tax charge for the year AR A B Bl I S AR 19,518 24,977
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31 March 2014
10. INCOME TAX (continued)

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEWE=H=1—H

10. P 8¢ (A1)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit P ) 9 s B R 5 IR B i v B < LI
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the St BRI F B B G R A 2 B S A e R
effective tax rate is as follows: RWME :
Group
A4
2014 2013
W | Cmesg
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#T
Profit before tax s ot Al ¥ A 136,716 344,150
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate AW EBE16.5%
of 16.5% AH A Z B 22,558 56,785
Adjustment in respect of current tax of S DI 400 P < 400 5 I v R
previous periods (88) (115)
Adjustment in respect of deferred tax of 3F DL 7 S [] 208 A2 758 T i ) o
previous periods - 1,634
Profits and losses attributable to joint HRREEAEN
ventures i ) K e 18 (4,107) (5,084)
Income not subject to tax W 7H B A (1,677) (29,628)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARuf Bz B 3% 2,492 1,465
Tax losses not recognised e TR Z S M 1 437 228
Others H Aty (97) (308)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate A 4R [ B BB R FH 2
BLIH 32 19,518 24,977
The share of tax attributable to joint ventures amounting 550 ) v A SE W BLTE 456,784,000 T (—
to HK$6,784,000 (2013: HK$5,567,000) is included in F—=4F 15,567,000 00) » R A AR
“Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” on the face 25 % i 2 T W25 3 b THEAG & 8 4 3

of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other MR wEH] -

comprehensive income.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

# Ok A R a4 W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUh 5 e Y ik

11.

12.

13.

31 March 2014

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2014 includes a
loss of HK$29,110,000 (2013: HK$29,116,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the

Company (note 31(c)).

DIVIDENDS

Proposed final — HK1 cent
(2013: HK3 cents)

per ordinary share

ZEWE=H=1—H
11.

BE 2 vl $5 45 HE Al Bk R

WEE_F-NEZA=+—HIL4E)E
Mo BEA R R E AL AR B
29,110,000 ¢ (=% — =4 : 29,116,000%
J0) M 18 R A A\ W o sl iR (P
31(c)) °

12. BB

DAL (= — =48« 3l

2014 2013

e A
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR Tt
17,467 52,400

The final dividend proposed subsequent to the reporting
period is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,713,184,948 (2013: 1,506,306,986) in

issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amount presented for the year ended 31 March 2014
as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2013 is based on the profit for that year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue
during that year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

13.

T S 5 19 A58 BB DR A 90 J B, e A A ) MR SR
JE JiE Fe 7 4 K o At o o

B2y i) ¥ 0 B 2 F5 A7 AN A B
it A

B 0 3 A 58 A1) T3 A B AS 4 BE ) N R A RE
SR AR B A E A - b A B N BB AT
0 2 nHE S 35 801,713,184,948% (=&

—=4F 1 1,506,306,986%) FH4 o

RBREZR-IEZA=ZT—HIREER
FHA A 45 [ 3 408 EL Y8 A 0 7 B I B
i > WA ORI 2 KE R NFE=AH
S HAR AR PR M R A i R e AR
A7 B o

ARRE_Z-=4A=A=1T—HIEER
o P A i ) 7 A R A R R 2 D A R
T AN A 15 > SIS BT 4R A A A
e T P 24y S 4 A M R A i ) R T R
H A B TR AT B BB H > DA AR
A LA T A 20O % 8 PR A A AT M
TR0 0 908 B T 3 22 X 8 A 1 3 2 e 4
eI 4 -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OB A OB oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share

are based on:

13, BE 2y )35 0 0 4 K A B MEAG B
e A (%)

o e A e 8 A ) 9 AR DA bR A

2014 2013
SRR ZR=4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T¥#7
Earnings it F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity B A R 3 A e 4 9 6k A IR
holders of the parent, used in the basic JT R B BE O3 W) T RE A
and diluted earnings per share e & WA i A1
calculation 115,373 319,173
Number of shares
JB 4y ¥ H
2014 2013
ZR— PR ZR=Ag
Shares It By
Weighted average number of ordinary FERIY & T NTR
shares in issue during the year, used in TR T 48 B ) © B AT
the basic earnings per share calculation 98 B RE SE 35 8 1,713,184,948 1,506,306,986
Weighted average number of ordinary s B AT A
shares deemed to be issued for no 5 HEE AT IR e AR 2 DA
consideration on assumed exercise AR B AT 1 3 28 B
of dilutive share options o - ¥ 9 - 1,576,802
Weighted average number of ordinary w55 T S e )
shares, used in the diluted earnings BRE T 1R P W4 3% 9
per share calculation TR 2 8 1,713,184,948 1,507,883,788
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Yo 3 ~ BRI et
Group
A4 1
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor  Hotel under
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles construction Total
ffh »

ik BE HEkAER
HRRET  WREE RRE RA%RHE LU ) it
HK$000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

T#r  T#x  T#r  Té#r  Té#x  T#x  T#x

2014 e S
At 1 April 2013: REZB-ZHENA—H :

Cost ZS 129,950 4,702 5,189 12,326 11,985 267,032 431,184
Accumulated depreciation and EEET YT

impairment (18,292) (4,536) (4,517) (11,483) (10,544) (34,921) (84,293)
Net carrying amount R £ 111,658 166 672 843 1441 232,111 346,891

Net carrying amount at 1 April 203 BRZZE—Z4£NH—H

Z IR 111,658 166 672 843 1441 232,111 346,891

Additions e - 1472 - 46 5 22,692 24,935
Disposals & - - - - (14) - (14)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32(a)) SR E AR (Wit ) (11,667) - - (18) - - (11,685)
Surplus on revaluation at date of REBEREDEE P

transfer to investment properties RS A Y - - - - - 204,197 204,197
Depreciation provided during the year 4 47 & (4,058) (1,393) (267) (726) (1,244) - (7,688)
Transfer to investment properties HREREME N1

(note 16) - - - - - (459,000)  (459,000)
Transfer from properties held forsale B A A fE & 2 ¥

(note 21) (Hitz21) 43,683 5,382 - 1,106 - - 50,171
Net carrying amount at REZZ-WEZA=1—H

31 March 2014 IR 139,616 5,617 405 1,251 908 - 147807
At 31 March 2014: REF-WEZA=1—H:

Cost %S 159,433 10,655 5,189 12,680 11,878 - 199,835

Accumulated depreciation LR (19,817) (5,028) (4,784)  (11,429)  (10,970) - (52,028)

Net carrying amount JT 139,616 5,627 405 1,251 908 - 147807
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OB A OB oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. P3E ~ BEA B i (4)
(continued)
Group
A AR 1
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Landand  Leasehold and  and office Motor ~ Hotel under
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles  construction Total
TR

iV K& HERER
HHRBT  MERE Raf WARRE o R it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 ~ HK$'00  HK$000 — HK$000  HK$000
T#r  T#x  T#r  Té#x  T#xr  Téx  T#x

03 v St
At 1 April 2012: REZ-ZHENA—A
Cost A 129,950 4,702 4,612 12,207 11424 209,760 372,655
Accumulated depreciation and REHE R
impairment (15,018) (4,480) (4,225) (10,722) (8,589) (34,921) (77.955)
Net carrying amount T 1 114,932 12 387 1,485 2,835 174,839 294,700

Net carrying amount at 1 April 2012 RZZ—Z4WA—H

IR 114,932 11 387 1,485 1,835 174,839 294,700
Additions wE = - 511 171 561 51272 58,581
Depreciation provided during the year 4§ 47 & (3,214) (56) (292) (813) (1,955) - (6,390)
Net carrying amount at REZ-ZEZAZ4—H
31 March 2013 IR 111,658 166 672 843 1,441 13111 346,891
At 31 March 2013: WoF-ZEZH=+—H:
Cost A 129,950 4,701 5,189 12,326 11,985 267,032 431,184
Accumulated depreciation and REATE R
impairment (18,292) (4,536) (4,517) (11,483) (10,544) (34,921) (84,293)
Net carrying amount Wi 14 111,658 166 072 843 1,441 13111 346,891
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

15.

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s land and buildings and
hotel under construction with net carrying amounts of
HK$139,616,000 (2013: HK$111,658,000) and nil (2013:
HK$232,111,000), respectively, were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s leasehold land included
in land and buildings with a net carrying amount of
HK$139,616,000 (2013: HK$102,927,000) is situated in
Hong Kong and is held under a medium term lease.

At 31 March 2013, the Group’s leasehold land included
in hotel under construction is situated in Hong Kong and
is held under a long term lease.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

At 31 March 2014, certain of the Group’s properties
held for development of HK$652,085,000 (2013:
HK$250,000,000) were pledged to secure certain bank

loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 27).

The Group’s properties held for development are situated
in Hong Kong and are held under the following lease

terms:

14. Py ~ BEAN Bk il (49)

15.

W —WEZHA =+ —H > A% EIRE
F A4 0 #5139,616,0008 75 (=2 — =4 ¢
111,658,000% J0) KWL (ZF — =4 :
232,111,000% 7)) WY - b J2 At 52 DA B A 8 v
WG SR > fE A3 T A — B SRAT R
H s (REEE27) -

M-F—NWEZHA=ZT—H > AREEH K&
M2 BT A 5 HR i ¥ A %5 139,616,000 76 (=
F—Z4F 1102,927,0009 58) BYF & + HAE
WA HU P EEFT -

REF-=Z4ZA=Z1—H o AEEALER D
I BT GG B AL B R A > BRI
MER A -

T4 g 2 3%

Mo —WEZA=—H o KBS
652,085,000% 7t (— % — =4F : 250,000,000
W T ) B S 485 AT A R 2 3 AR
AT A S A 2T ST B e — IR AT
il P (W E27)

AL AR RO > WAF
IR B XA

2014 2013

ZE N R =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T80

Long term leases A 652,085 250,000
Medium term leases i HA AL A 74,189 —
726,274 250,000
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 Z&F—MFE=H="1—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. ¥R
Group
A4 1
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties  construction Total
% g
BEME BEME b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T TF#x TF¥#x
Carrying amount at 1 April 2012 s F— AP H— H IR A 656,520 297,000 953,520
Disposals & (275,000) - (275,000)
Transfer to properties under R R (W ik20)
development (note 20) - (297,000) (297,000)
Net gain from a fair value O T 3R 2 A T AR
adjustment 38,080 — 38,080
Carrying amount at 31 March 2013 RZF—=Z4£=ZH=+—HX
and 1 April 2013 ZER-ZFENH—HRIEEE 419,600 - 419,600
Disposals of a subsidiary (note 32(a)) 8 ¥ E A & (Hf732(a)) (4,000) - (4,000)
Transfer from property, plant and W A B KGR
equipment (note 14) (HfiE14) 459,000 - 459,000
Carrying amount at 31 March 2014 R_F—NHFE=H=1+—H
F M i 874,600 - 874,600
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties is as AL EBEYESHMT
follows:
2014 2013
—E—W4E e SN s
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#T
Hong Kong: HU
Long term leases R A 459,600 600
Medium term leases R4 415,000 415,000
874,600 415,600
Elsewhere* FH At M - 4,000
874,600 419,600

* At 31 March 2013, whilst the application is in progress, the
certificate of ownership with respect to one of the Group’s
investment properties with a carrying value of HK$4,000,000 had
not been issued by the relevant government authorities.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB R A R A FH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W0 5 2 B
31 March 2014 ZZFE—WE=H=+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. Be&EWE (4)

The Group’s completed investment properties were
revalued on 31 March 2014 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung
Limited (“DTZ”), independent professionally qualified
valuers, at HK$874,600,000 (2013: HK$419,600,000) on

market value, existing use basis.

Certain of the Group’s investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further details
of which are included in note 34(a) to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2014, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$867,000,000

(2013: HK$408,000,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
of the Group’s investment properties using:

M-F—NE=ZH=+—H » REFMYTH
TR A 3 T SR o S A A L S
BIAEMRAR ([RERIT) BT HEABRE
JH 3 ik ¥ T 7 4 18 %5 874,600,000 78 (&
— = 4E 1 419,600,000¥ 76) °

AEEMETREY FRBBEMAMTH
=3 BB 2 R RO S R b
34(a) °

MoZ—WE=ZH=Z+—H » KEMFE
THi {E 48 %6867,000,0008 76 (=T —=
408,000,000% T ) By 4 & P 3£ Tk > 1E
T 2 T A SR [ — A SR AT A A I R (SR
27) °

N R R A 4 B W SRR AP
'

Fair value Fair value

measurement measurement

using using

significant significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

A A A FE

AR At R A

R B HRAH

iy A\ fE BL5 g A MH
(58~ R) GE=RR) &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#or F#or F#or

Recurring fair value PR A AR
measurement for:

Office properties WAEYE - 132,000 132,000
Retail properties ZEW*E - 505,000 505,000
Hotel properties VYR ES - 230,000 230,000
Residential property (it ES - 7,000 7,000
Car parking spaces 5 B 600 - 600
600 874,000 874,600
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' ‘ ' VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Vb 5 i e W ik

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair values of the car parking spaces at 31 March
2014 were measured using the direct comparison method
based on market observable transactions of similar
properties and were adjusted to reflect the conditions
and locations of the subject properties and hence were
classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties

16. B W% (4)
HREZF-MEZHA=+—H > FEAR AT
E 38R R B OBk » MR 5 O 36 Ry
T B A2 B I AT ) R DR R A A 3 IR
UK Hb R B o PRI 0 2 SR A SFAE R IR Y
SR -

TAAEEREN > BEMELESE — I SR R Z
HECE YIS NN Y R/ AR
% o

VLR 79 8 535 = o R ) 45 S 0 S L P
PR FH 0 Al B 00 B 2 2 A AR

classified as Level 3:

Office properties
AN LY S

Retail properties

THEWE

Hotel properties

W 75 1 3%

Residential property

(GRS

Valuation techniques

A 18 £ fli

Income capitalisation
method
(refer below)
LN N (473
(RT3

Income capitalisation
method and direct
comparison method
(refer below)

WAL B I HL
Feig sk (A F30)

Direct comparison method
(refer below)

HE R (A TF30)

Income capitalisation
method
(refer below)
W& AL
(T30

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE#H S

Significant unobservable
inputs

KA L5 o A i

Estimated rental value per
square feet and
per month (HK$)

P a8 A B F J7 WA 4
1 (Ho)

Capitalisation rate

ARG R

Estimated rental value per
square feet and
per month (HK$)

P st a7 B F JF WA 4
1 (Ho)

Capitalisation rate

BRI &

Price per square feet (HKS$)

BF 7 WAE M (WD)

Price per room (HKS$)
5 FEE (Bx)

Estimated rental value per
square feet and
per month (HK$)
54 A B F 5 WA 4
1 (o)
Capitalisation rate

AL R

Range

(weighted average)

i
OmAEF- 3 %)

34

2.25%

220

3.75%

14,700 to 66,700

4,600,000

23

2.75%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUh 5 e Y ik

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
As at 31 March 2014, the construction of all investment
properties were completed and their valuations were
based on either the income capitalisation method by
capitalisation of net income derived from the existing
tenancies with allowance for the reversionary income
potential of the properties or the direct comparison

method by reference to comparable market transactions.

Significant increases/(decreases) in estimated rental value
per square feet or per car parking space in isolation would
result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the
investment properties. Significant increases/(decreases)
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significantly lower/(higher) fair value of the investment
properties. Significant increases/(decreases) in price per
square feet, per room or per car parking space in isolation
would result in significantly higher/(lower) fair value of

the investment properties.

Generally, a change in the assumption made for the
estimated rental value per square feet or per car parking
space and the price per square feet or per car parking
space are accompanied by a directionally similar change
in the development profit and an opposite change in the

capitalisation rate.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included in the “SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES”

section of the annual report.

16. B W% (4)

BREF-MEZA=Z—H o ARG
R TR B T SE A > U A E T R
BAAL I GiF 5 A BLA LS A BUE A
b > 325 8 B ¥ 36 W BT ) sEL B
W (25 B T 5522 5 ) T #EAE -

Al W8 T 5 WR A 5 B L R BB K
BT CF Be) &3 B0 G 1 36 A P KR
BT CFBE) o AL R BB KW BT
(FHe) @ EBBEWHEA TR TR
(ETF) o 8P IR~ 45 55 ] el A 45 B T A
WU KR LT CF W) B8 8 g 36 4
FAERMR LT (CFRE) -

R A R AP O WR R A 45 A A
B R 41 D WR s 45 B BT AR Hh A
SR > 7 b B R v A AH (] D 1k P A0S B
A A B S S T 1 e o

A7 B A S5 BB W SR I — B REN o HUR AR
e[ SEMEZE R 43 v -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#moA OB Ok A B A W

v

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. 7 W) 2 5l i B
Company
¥ /|
2014 2013
-2 K 2 R =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T¥#7
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik BB - IR AE 64,147 64,147
Due from subsidiaries B} Je§ 2 =] Rk 565,458 224,053
629,605 288,200

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

WF i 2> ] IR 7 S HRA ~ S G e S i Rk
% o

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEWMBARERWMT ¢
Nominal Percentage
Place of value of of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to Principal
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company activities
ik ¥ e (AR E TP AR 2 W) HE A
# % B 4848 b Y R T A i A JBe HE v By e T
Direct  Indirect
HiE [HEE
Profit Chain Investments British Virgin US$70,000 100 - Investment
Limited Islands/ Ordinary holding
Hong Kong 70,0003 7t BB
B E 3 iy 58 B
g3
Able Engineering Hong Kong HK$7,589,000 - 100 Building
Company Limited i Ordinary construction and
ZRITEARAF HK$11,211,000 maintenance
Non-voting g R R e
deferred
(Note)

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE® &
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name

£

Excel Development
(Holdings) Limited
(“Excel Development”)

1 28 A IR A
(Mask )

Excel Engineering
Company Limited

4k TREA FRA T

Gadelly Construction
Company Limited

TSR AT R A W

Able Contracting Limited

LR EA A

Able Contractors Limited

LR A A

Place of

incorporation

and operations

il ) AA

B f58 Ho h

Cayman
[slands
b B A

Hong Kong
R

Hong Kong
ERC

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
i

ZEWE=H=1—H

17. BB 2\ Wy B (49)
Nominal Percentage
value of of equity
issued and attributable to Principal
paid-up capital the Company activities
e R A 2 il ME Al
S R B AAS i i JBe A By e TR
Direct  Indirect
Hi% A %
HK$2,000,000 - 75 Investment
Ordinary holding and
2,000,000 T provision of
38 management
service
B e K
PR AL BB
HK$16,000,000 - 75 Civil
Ordinary engineering
16,000,000 7© works and building
W m construction and
maintenance
AR TR
o 0 % A A
HK$8,600,000 - 75 Civil
Ordinary engineering
8,600,000 JC works and building
W m construction and
maintenance
+ARTHRER
MR A
HK$1 - 100 Building
Ordinary maintenance
198 705 8 ) M M 15
HK$10,000 - 100 Building
Ordinary construction
10,0009 72 ¥ 7 i M
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(continued)

Name

£

Able Maintenance
Company Limited
BRAEERRAHE

Covalla Limited

LA PR A T

Good Trader Limited

EEARA T

Comfort Home Properties

Limited

REBEERR A
Win Glories Limited

AR PR 2 ]

Hobol Limited
A A R A #]

Win Extra Limited
wi A BRA

v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#moA OB Ok A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Place of
incorporation
and operations
ik W% S

B 58 4% i

Hong Kong
iR

Hong Kong
RS

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
ERS

Hong Kong
T

Hong Kong
ik

Hong Kong
i

Annual Report 2013-2014 FE® &

7. W 24 o 8 ¥ ()
Nominal Percentage
value of of equity
issued and attributable to Principal
paid-up capital the Company activities
e R A 2 il ME Al
SR T8 A% i L JBe A By e TR
Direct  Indirect
Hi% A %

HK$10,000 - 100 Building
Ordinary construction and
10,0003 76 ¥ 78 % maintenance
5 0 T A
HK$10,000 - 100 Property
Ordinary development
10,0009 72 ¥ /& B 3 5%
HK$1 - 100 Property
Ordinary development
198 705 8 i) LUE X9
HK$1 - 100 Property
Ordinary holding
1 0% 38 i) WERA
HK$9,600 - 100 Property
Ordinary holding
9,600%5 70 ¥ 48 Bt E S EC]
HK$1 - 100 Property
Ordinary holding
198 705 8 i) WERA
HK$1 - 100 Property
Ordinary holding
1 0¥ 38 i) WA




& VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#moA OB R A R A FH

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W0 5 i 3 Bl ik

31 March 2014

ZEWE=H=1—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17.
(continued)

Nominal

Place of value of

incorporation issued and

Name and operations paid-up capital

R LY RA A% £

$#1% B 58 4% i SR T8 A% i L
Frason Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
MG P A R A ] iR Ordinary

10,0009 T 1% 48

Wood One Keeprich British Virgin US$1
Limited Islands/ Ordinary
(formerly known as Hong Kong 138703 78 i
“Keeprich Limited”) ZEBAEMEIESLS
(HT#8 % [ Keeprich s
Limited])

Uni-Dragon Holdings Hong Kong HK$1
Limited 7 Ordinary

FHEE A R A 13 70 % i i

Metro Advance Limited Hong Kong HK$1

WA BRA R s Ordinary

13 0 3 7 B

Noble Connection Limited Hong Kong HK$1

v A PR 2 ] s Ordinary

1o 8 it
Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or to

receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of
the company or to participate in any distribution on winding-up.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result

in particulars of excessive length.

T W )R A ) g B (4
Percentage
of equity
attributable to Principal
the Company activities
A 4 ) HEAY
JBe A By e TR
Direct  Indirect
Hi% A %
- 100 Property
holding
WERH
- 100 Property
development
LEX 9
- 100 Property
development
LB 9
- 100 Property
development
LUE X9
- 100 Property
development
L/EX 9

BT+ e 5 S A S Ay e A WS I TR S, > S UG A

HERE A il 4y 5 Z AT ] M 3ROk 7 7 4 o
JE R SR A LA 5 > gl A ) R I
FHAEAT 53R -

BRI R R AR R AR
o A AR 4 T 3 A A 2 A A R
JB AT o FEHEB R > FIH AL E AW 2 E
BHIF E BRI AR IR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. W BHE 2 vl iy 8 ¥ (A1)
(continued)
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non- AR I e ) R i Y A 5 T O A D
controlling interests are set out below: AWM TF -
2014 2013
e S Uk 3 R
Percentage of equity interest held by I e b B 2 A A AR
non-controlling interests: REZS H 40 L :
Excel Development T 1 ¥ It 25% -
2014 2013
e S Uk 3 R EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Profit for the year allocated to 43 it 58 I 3 ) M E 25 1
non-controlling interests: AR AR BE R A
Excel Development 6 % 95 B 7,099 -
Accumulated balances of non-controlling TR A H O3 I i o i W 2% 0
interests at the reporting dates: Rt Aifg
Excel Development 6 %5 22 52,563 —
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I 5 B Bk
31 March 2014 ZZFE—WE=H=+—H
17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. A BHE A vl B & (5)

(continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised

A B B RS 2 W A £ T B R R
L o Bt 402 8 4 s ARG T 2 =) () 38 T Y

subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- il

consolidated financial information of the above

company eliminations:

Excel Development 1 1 P Bt
2014 2013
ZE N R =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T80
Revenue KA 1,477,332 -
Other income H A e A 7,481 —
Total expenses B % A A (1,456,417) -

Profit and total comprehensive income A A BE i P e 2 THI WA A8 AR

for the year 28,396 —
Current assets A E 460,022 -
Non-current assets IR B E = 704 -
Current liabilities WA (250,468) -
Net cash flows used in operating activities £ E B BB B (23,007) -
Net cash flows from investing activities BEFEHELENBESRBETH 146,887 -
Net cash flows used in financing activities il & 3 B fi F /) B & i &35 (87,151) -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B 4 N B 4 S H Yy 8 In v A 36,729 -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OKR A B oA F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I 5 B e Bk
31 March 2014 ZZF—PWE=H=1"—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. R BAENRY
Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AREHEGEMAEZERMT ¢

Percentage of

Pl E By e
Business Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name structure incorporation interest power sharing activities
ik
# 1% X TS BEROLHR M HEAREAE BEEHE @R B =371
Excel-China Harbour Body Hong Kong 70 50 70 Civil
Joint Venture unincorporate T engineering
5 2 v R g 3 e 3k 1 e R works
TARTH
Able E & M Engineering Limited Hong Kong 50 50 50 Building
Limited (“Able E & M”) company i services
ZEHE TREARAH AR P Il 25
(B3¢ LA T2
Leighton-Able Joint Body Hong Kong 49 50 49 Building
Venture (“Leighton JV”)  unincorporate s construction
P — ORI 3 vk 1 o M 3
(THE 2 1)
Team Great Limited Limited British 40 50 40 Investment
(“Team Great”) company Virgin holding
ARAF Islands B e
o Ji e A
s
Fungs E & M Engineering Limited Hong Kong 40 50 40 Building
Company Limited company e services
(“Fungs E & M”) HIRAF] M R
U5 B E TR A PR A H T
(T RHEE D
The above investments in joint ventures are indirectly A ERA R G A ARG R AR A H]
held by the Company. A o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H
18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. R BAENEE (5)
(continued)
Group
ARG H
2014 2013
ZE®—WIE R =4
Note HKS$’000 HK$’000
Hf it T#xL Fi#
Share of net assets AN 3 2 Ay AR 140,293 115,402
Goodwill on acquisition Wt I 2 e ) T (a) 26,621 26,621
166,914 142,023
Notes: MFE <
(a) The Group’s goodwill on acquisition of joint ventures as at (a) MRZF—WNE=HA=+—H » REHMBKEAH

31 March 2014 arose from the acquisition of Team Great and its
subsidiary, which is building services cash-generating unit of the
Group.

Impairment of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the building services cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projects based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by Management. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections was 14.89% (2013: 14.89%) and cash
flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth
rate of 2.49% (2013: 2.49%). In the opinion of the directors, no
impairment loss against the goodwill is considered necessary as the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in this cash-generating
unit is higher than its carrying amount.

8 A JE 7 2R ) T B R UM Team Grear S 3L Mt
JEG 23 FIR BE A 0 WA ] s AR A B R A IR %
TS & EHR¥C -

VR WA

R MR TR 3 4 i H B0 Y T R 4 R D
i PO P i A 2 SR > SR B S AE S L
b v 0 LA 0 A TSR D BLe TR
TEBRHMEE o Bl 4 B T AT A7 BLR &
14.89% (=& — =4 : 14.89%) > FLAE D&
MBS RBERIEHRER2.49% (ZF— =4
2.49%) HEB AR o RS > BN AR
% B 4 BT A 2 A T i T 4 A R Y L
W T 4 A o PR R s S R T PR DA
@ °
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO 5 0 2 B
31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REBEENEE (H)

(continued)
Notes: (continued) Wit : (%)

TR B R Team Great 15 8 I 2 00 47 & W %
MR R (B et 2 AR K B8 A
%) R BRES BB RENHIEE AN

(b) The following tables illustrate the summarised consolidated (b)
financial information of Team Great and Leighton JV, which are
considered as material joint ventures, of the Group and reconciled

to their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements: B -
(i) Summarised consolidated financial information of Team (i)  Team GreatHJ &5 A I % HE & R}
Great
2014 2013
L —zsa
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T T
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBL4EZSED 96,491 22,926
Other current assets oAt 7 B) B 114,483 120,447
Current assets B % 210,974 143,373
Non-current assets B E A 119,034 105,463
Financial liabilities, excluding trade A EEE > AR
and other payables B G Wk B e Atb HE 3k (57,833) (24,600)
Other current liabilities At 7 ) £ A (86,292) (80,720)
Current liabilities it ) A (144,125) (105,320)
Non-current financial liabilities, e B Al B0 > SIS A
excluding trade and other payables B 5 R ik S A A 3K (11,723) (12,166)
Non-current liabilities Iy B A £ (11,723) (12,166)
Net assets & 174,160 131,350
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest A4 [ A Team Greatfy
in Team Great: HE i 1) SR -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A A 1 B HE 2 L 40% 40%
Group’s share of net assets of A4 [ JE Afi Team Great
Team Great Z G 69,664 52,540
Goodwill on acquisition Wi S 7 A i g 26,621 26,621
Carrying amount of the investment & Team GreatZ
in Team Great W i 96,285 79,161
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REHBABMBE (H)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Wit : (%)
(b) (continued) (b) (%)
(i)  Summarised consolidated financial information of Team (i)  Team Great® & £ B % HEZ & B (4%)

Great (continued)

2014 2013
PR R
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T T
Revenue LN 585,032 428,160
Interest income A BB A 1 -
Depreciation P 3,447 1,985
Interest expenses F B BH 32 (557) (82)
Tax BeaE (12,955) (8,954)
Profit and total comprehensive income AR JE ¥ ) S 4 TG WAL 2 A AR
for the year 42,810 46,899
(ii) Summarised consolidated financial information of Leighton JV (i) 2% S 0 A S T B g Rt
2014 2013
R R
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T
Cash and cash equivalents Bl& kB 4E&SMHEY 219,859 39,487
Other current assets A B A 155,449 156,285
Current assets Wi ) B 375,308 195,772
Other current liabilities At 3% B £ % (231,168) (67,483)
Current liabilities L £ (231,168) (67,483)
Net assets g Rei! 144,140 128,289
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest R AR AR5 [ 4 U 1
in Leighton JV: HE 75 Y IR -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AR A 1B B A RE 2 L ) 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the investment 1 7 A I A 2 R T
in Leighton JV 70,629 62,862
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

#mofE OB K A B A W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REBEENEE (H)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Wit : (%)
(b) (continued) (b) (%)

(id) PSRRI 2 00 A 5 SO0 705 MR S SR (40D

(ii) Summarised consolidated financial information of Leighton

JV (continued)

2014 2013

e Sk TR E4

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#C F#or

Revenue WA 560,880 712,512

Tax i IE (3,269) (4,598)
Profit and total comprehensive income AR JE ¥ ) S 4 WL 2 A AR

for the year 15,851 27,464

(iii) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

(i) 2 JR AL [ 30 10 5 AR O A

information of the Group’s joint venture that is not BRENEIT B ER -
individually material:
2014 2013
SO L Sz
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x F#or
Share of joint venture’s loss and total FEAG 78 A SEAAE FE 4 X
comprehensive loss for the year 2 TH § 1R AR A - (1,405)
(c) The amount due to a joint venture included in the Group’s current (c) A3 7E A 4 1] ¥ 37 B £ £ ) ME A 5 8 e Sk
liabilities is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of TE TG ~ e B R B s i aRk ) o
repayment.
(d) The Group had discontinued the recognition of its share of (d)  A4EE O 5 1k e B L AL B R R EE >

loss of Able E & M because the Group’s share of loss of Able
E & M exceeded the Group’s investment in Able E & M. The
amount of the Group’s unrecognised share of loss of Able E & M
for the current year and cumulatively was HK$90,000 (2013:
HK$2,836,000).

P 2 A S5 VR R AV 2 B0 K T Yl L A A 4
LR B o A 42 R AAE i I R
T 2 JRE A ¢ B 4 TR 1 ) 18 4 % 90,0009
JC (. F—=4F 2,836,000 7C) °
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
B"ofE OB OR A OB A F

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R 5 0 0 W

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

19. CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND
OTHER CONTRACTS

19. #E - MR TRESSH

Group
7 4
2014 2013
R SR =g
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 F#oT
Gross amount due from customers FEW & P2 A7 TR
for contract works # 338,057 447,540
Contract costs incurred plus recognised B # R A T B R B e R 2 ¥k A
profits less recognised losses to date B R 2 R 5,614,125 5,381,723
Less: Progress billings ok c 9 R B ROE (5,276,068) (4,934,183)
338,057 447,540
20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. BRI PR
Group
7 4
2014 2013
R SR =g
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 F#oT
Carrying amount at 1 April YA — H iR T 4 A 416,207 42,223
Additions wE 43,584 76,984
Transfer from investment properties under ¥ H fE B 1 G %
construction (note 16) (HfiE16) - 297,000
Carrying amount at 31 March RERA=Z+—H IR &8 459,791 416,207

All the Group’s properties under development are

expected to be completed within normal operating cycle.

TEO A AR 4R [0 38 e v SIS €T JE R A
BRI SER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 20. iR PWE ()
(continued)
All the Group’s properties under development are located P A4 i 58 Je vh i SE I AL A > HLDA
in Hong Kong and are held under the following lease terms: THMERXFFA :
2014 2013
e Sk 2 R Eg
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#r F#T
Long term leases A 136,874 111,769
Medium term leases aB iV iR 322,917 304,438
459,791 416,207
At 31 March 2014, the Group’s properties under R-R-WE=ZA=1—H » KEE R
development with an aggregate carrying amount of 43 A 3£459,791,0008 78 (ZF — =4 ¢
HK$459,791,000 (2013: HK$416,207,000) were pledged 416,207,000% 7T ) B 3% & v 4 36 F AR A 4 1)
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group TP — B SR AT Rl Y HRAT (BiFRE27) -
(note 27).
21. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 21. F ARt B 23
Group
L |
2014 2013
ZR 4R R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T¥#7x
Carrying amount at 1 April FA YA — H A R T 4 A 50,171 43,165
Additions W - 7,006
Transfer to property, plant and equipment P E ¥ 3 - BEAS K st 5
(note 14) (Htiti4) (50,171) -
Carrying amount at 31 March WERA=1—H iR &% - 50,171
At 31 March 2013, the Group’s properties held for sale MRE-R—=ZF=ZH=1—H o REEREH
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$50,171,000 H 350,171,000 M FEFEHEZWEN
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted A 74 42 B A0 452 — P R AT 15 B I A A (IR
to the Group (note 27). #E27) o
At 31 March 2013, the Group’s properties held for sale RER-ZFEEH=1—H o REERAE
are situated in Hong Kong and held under medium term &Y B AR AR » OB R
leases. A o
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consists of receivables for contract
work and rentals under operating leases. The payment
terms of contract works receivables are stipulated in the
relevant contracts. Rentals are normally receivable in

advance.

At 31 March 2014, retentions receivable included in
accounts receivable amounted to HK$176,884,000 (2013:
HK$155,896,000), which are repayable within terms
ranging from two to three years.

The Group assigned its financial benefits under certain
contract works to secure certain general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 27) and as at 31 March 2014,
the aggregate amount of accounts receivable related
to such contract works pledged to secure the relevant
banking facilities amounted to HK$111,320,000 (2013:
HK$277,830,000).

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is

22. HEWCR K

ERRRBHEAA TR EREHEMEZE
WOk = & %) TRR BEWOGHKIH Z A st A
B B A TR T W o A 4 — B ZE R S 0 WA o

RFPEZH=Z+—H > BRIEZRP S
3% WE W5 A B3 2K JE 176,884,000 70 (& —=
4R 1 155,896,000 78) > 1 & 4R IRk B —
BEZAERG

A ] R T A A AR 0 R 25 i
o DIRAE T RTAREERN —BRITRE
(F3E27) s REZF—WE=ZA=Z1—H - F
B % S5 5 40 TR 3 DA 1 LB B SR AT
Al A 1 R MR AR 4R A % 111,320,000% 76 (=
F—=4F 1 277,830,000%70) ©

N 488 1R 7o) e 8 R0 2 L S A K I
Zin M

as follows:
Group
AR
2014 2013
ZF A R =
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x T80
Past due but not impaired: 761 31 4EL I S0 R AH -
One to three months past due W1 E3MEA 25,056 3,742
Four to six months past due B4 = 6l A 1,518 1,297
Opver six months past due 34 19 8 ol A 8,195 5,033
34,769 10,072
Neither past due nor impaired BE 40 78 191 A S0 9k 281,797 476,930
316,566 487,002
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. HEWCHR A (7))

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired 78 351 15 S Ji Y L 79 IR WAOHR 3K 5 A B o 8 oL
relate to a number of independent customers that have B A A B 28 B WO Bk LA o LR
a good track record with the Group. Based on past DAL » RAFIERR L > S50 A
experience, the directors of the Company are of the AR AE A - A RS I R R R
opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary 5 > HABARR 2 v 2 O Il A B A B o AR
in respect of these balances as there has not been a VR ST 0 % 25 45 % AT AL A0 I o SR A
significant change in credit quality and the balances are PG A%

still considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over these

balances.
Accounts receivable that are neither past due nor V% i ] 7 S Dl L P B WA sk B 2 U &5 B
impaired relate to a number of independent customers for WL PO B o A% 55 T I R AL B o

whom there was no recent history of default.

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. BN K~ 824 B I b M ok
RECEIVABLES
Group
AR
2014 2013
ZR— AR SR EA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#T
Prepayments TH AT #KIH 34,536 26,993
Deposits and other receivables 5 4 e At E ROk 30,209 50,488
64,745 77,481
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. b % B S A IR AE o RARASER AT
The financial assets included in the above balances relate 355 B 4 A E 5 B R A ) R A Sk ) R
to receivables for which there was no recent history of WK IE o
default.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
I 5 B Bk

31 March 2014
24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

—FWESAE,H
24. e KRB EFHEY

Group Company
A4 A2 T
2014 2013 2014 2013
TR WA | SRS RN | DR ZE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T¥#7x T#x T#7T
Cash and cash equivalents: & RB&EHEY

Cash and bank balances Bl & R SR AT &G R 393,393 240,635 647 1,489
Non-pledged time deposits S HE AT 8 W AE R 10,084 125,070 - -
403,477 365,705 647 1,489

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on

daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are

made for varying periods of between one day and three

months depending on the immediate cash requirements of

the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term

time deposit rates. The bank balances and non-pledged

times deposits are deposited with banks with high credit

ratings and no recent history of default.

25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE

SRAT BB IR AR IR H BT A7 AR A R E
T B R S BRUR 8, o 300 R 1947 K 1) 19 A
ol REZMA AR BLPAGEHE R
IRF B 5 o Sl 3 A% R A T A R R R I
PR o SRAT A5 ik B S 41K 1 5 19 4 R T A T AE
3 48 20 391 % TR 8RB ~ A P REAR o B SRAT

25. HEAT ek B S 9%
TSI > B R K B 5 08 U 53

An ageing analysis of the accounts and bills payable as at

the end of the reporting period is as follows: T

Group

AR
2014 2013
ZR— AR SR EA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Current — 3 months BB 22348 H 437,769 531,781
4 — 6 months 4z 6ff H 14,759 35,361
Over 6 months oM A 122,798 99,302
575,326 666,444
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

25. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE 25. MEAY Mok B 5 9% (49)
(continued)
At 31 March 2014, retentions payable included in PR WE=ZA=1—H » BARK RS
accounts and bills payable amounted to HK$163,386,000 B8 v 4 95 A R B K 163,386,000 78 (—
(2013: HK$151,139,000), which are normally settled F— =4 1 151,139,000%50) > — A& IR B
within terms ranging from two to three years. = B i o
At 31 March 2014, included in accounts and bills REF—WE=ZH=+—H > BRI LS
payable was an amount of HK$18,314,000 (2013: B AT BEAMN G S A 50H18,314,000%
HK$13,986,000) due to joint ventures which is non- JC(ZF— =4 1 13,986,000¥7C) » &5k
interest-bearing and is normally settled within one year. HA AR » —BEEM A —FEN -
Accounts and bills payable are non-interest-bearing. The JRE A Rk B ZE 08 A e wH R, o A R BRER I AT
payment terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts. B a K aT B o
26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. 30l HE AT 3k B B E W
Group Company
A H Y /AT
2014 2013 2014 2013
TR -WEE | DR | RN R =
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T¥#7x T#7x Fi#or
Other payables JL il JBE £ 3K 16,179 18,858 251 285
Accruals FHREH 5,624 3,257 - -
21,803 22,115 251 285
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected HABREAT AR B > WHBIAE—F N EHE -

to be settled within one year.
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

27. 5B 8T £

Group
AR5 H
2014 2013
ZE®—WIE R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#xL Fi#
Current i
Bank loans — secured and at floating SRAT B — A R &
interest rates R B R R ER S 526,310 408,202
Long term bank loans repayable 7B TSR R 1 R 0 SR AT B
on demand — secured and at KT & eE S
floating interest rates (note) sHER B (M) 64,398 136,088
590,708 544,290
Non-current B}
Bank loans — secured and at SRAT BBk — A HRHR R d%
floating interest rates FH A R EHEH B 181,366 123,428
772,074 667,718
Analysed into: YA R
Bank loans repayable: SRATEER - R T -
Within one year or on demand (note) —4E N B IR B R T A R (M AE) 590,708 544,290
In the second year B AEN 83,105 12,491
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEFEHEN(BREERME) 38,553 38,182
Beyond five years HAED L 59,708 72,755
772,074 667,718

Note: As further explained in note 38 to the financial statements, the
Group’s term loans with an aggregate amount of HK$64,967,000
(2013: HK$136,088,000) containing an on-demand clause have
been classified as current liabilities. For the purpose of the above
analysis, the loans are included within current interest-bearing
bank loans and analysed into bank loans repayable within one year

or on demand.

AT R o

FEEE « W B R R 38 N T M — AR, AR
S5 ) BB A 564,967,000 78 (B — =48
136,088,000% 76 ) #Y & #A Bk (A #4572 K
B8 BEAT R ) DR AR AR - 4
B Tl = = & R . T =
RN > M S — 4 N ERIR R R Y
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 27. ub B AT Bk ()
(continued)
Notes: (continued) MRt : (%)
Based on the maturity terms of the loans, the amounts repayable in R 5 R 0 30 S0 Ik o R A B Y 4
respect of the loans are: R
Group
A4
2014 2013
e UL 3 R =
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#oc
Within one year or on demand —4F IR B3 R T A R 525,741 408,202
In the second year BAERN 94,528 90,261
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BEFHEN (BFERWEE) 73,494 74,806
Beyond five years AP, L 78,311 94,449
772,074 667,718
The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans are primarily A AR T SR AT B 3R W R 3R T AR % g 1 R R R
repriced every month based on prime rate or HIBOR B W SRAT W) SE 4% 653 ) g 18 7 HELHT E AR o

changes.

The Group’s secured bank loans are secured by: A £ A HG PR BRAT BRSO R A IE B AR
(i) legal charges over the Group’s investment properties, (i) 7 1A 2R 48 AR 1 %5 867,000,000 G
(—F—=4F : 408,000,000 50 ) Z A £
0] 3 P S M 5

which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$867,000,000 (2013:
HK$408,000,000);

(i1) legal charges over the Group’s land and buildings, (i) A< 58 0 e ot % M5 B 5 S 40T > Y
HIAR > H AR %5 139,616,0009 70
(ZF—=4F ¢ 111,658,000 78) 3

which had an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of HK$139,616,000 (2013:
HK$111,658,000);

(iii) legal charges over the Group’s hotel under (i) 7 R 5 399 0K 48 R T i % 22 9 7 1) A 4
construction, which had an aggregate carrying A I B E AR (SR =4
amount at the end of the reporting period of nil 232,111,000% 7€) 3

(2013: HK$232,111,000);
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS
(continued)
(iv) legal charges over the Group’s properties held for
development, which had an aggregate carrying

amount at the end of the reporting period of

HK$652,085,000 (2013: HK$250,000,000);

(v) legal charges over the Group’s properties under
development, which had an aggregate carrying

amount at the end of the reporting period of

HK$459,791,000 (2013: HK$416,207,000);

(vi) legal charges over the Group’s properties held
for sale, which had a carrying value amounted to

HK$50,171,000 as at 31 March 2013; and

(vii)the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits
under certain contract works with an aggregate
accounts receivable amounted to HK$111,320,000
(2013: HK$277,830,000) as at 31 March 2014.

In addition, the Company has given guarantees in favour
of certain banks to the extent of HK$1,938,797,000
(2013: HK$1,988,324,000) in respect of banking
facilities granted by those banks to certain subsidiaries
of the Company, of which HK$811,985,000 (2013:
HK$753,549,000) were utilised as at 31 March 2014.

The Group’s bank loans are denominated in Hong Kong

dollars.

27. wh B 8T 8k (51)

(iv) REEMFEEEBERZYEN S EMW
O o R K Y R w4 R A
7%652,085,000 6 (ZF — =4 ¢
250,000,000% 7T) 3

(v) AHEEE R bR iE » it
5 R Y R T 4 B A R £5459,791,000%
JG (& — =4 1 416,207,000¥ 56)

(vi) R 2RS4 =ZH=T—HIEEHES
50,171,000 C I AR HE B A EHEZ
R EMR s &

(vii) BRARHAEEE TERILEGHZ
WMHEMNK > R _F—NE=ZA=Z1+—
H > 7 B EBRK & 7 4111,320,000%
g6 (R —=4F £ 277,830,000¥70) °

WH s R TR -NE=ZA=Z4—H o AR
AMETROGETARLAAFTHEAA
Z BRATAE B I % MRAT AR 2 e AR
F 5 #11,938,797,0008 6 (& — =
1,988,324,000% 7G) > A B B & 2 W © B A
Hor 2 8- 17 f5 55 %0811,985,0009 06 (=%
— =4 1 753,549,000¥ 08 ©

A 4R ) 1 SRAT Bk DA ¥ T A BELARL o
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>+—H

28. DEFERRED TAX 28. ¥ #E B K
The components of net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities A AR BE Y 7 5 A B 5 R 0 3% o 1 R A 4R 4t
with the net balance recognised in the consolidated BLIE (& ) /A 6% 5 AR L Ay B 5 08
statement of financial position and the movements during URARHZHMT :

the year are as follows:

Group
A 4R 1
Depreciation Losses available
allowance in for offsetting
excess of related Revaluation  against future
depreciation  of properties  taxable profits Total
ikl GRS A K
BB 4 ity MR B e A
R LRT/ES Z ki B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T# T#7x T#x
At 1 April 2012 R-F—-"HNHA—H 5,113 387 (3,107) 2,393
Deferred tax charged/(credited) REERME/ (FEA)
to profit or loss during the year B s W B BIE (W 7E10)
(note 10) (1,091) 85 2,743 1,737
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 REZF-ZH=ZA=1—H 4,022 472 (364) 4,130
R_F—ZHENH—H
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32(a)) R I A R (M #E32(a) (535) (472) 269 (738)
Deferred tax charged REE R B
to profit or loss during the year B IR BIE (W #E10)
(note 10) 229 - 13 242
At 31 March 2014 RE-F—-NE=ZA=+—H 3,716 - (82) 3,634
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31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

28. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 28.
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting

YE %€ B2 0 (#1)
T DU » 7T 08 S B B A A A A

M BARDLE N C A E AR o DL R A
V) 908 S0 A I e i Ry B 5 R A AR e Y 43
Mro:

purposes:
2014 2013
—E—M4E R =4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T F#x
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the &AM BRI EN
consolidated statement of financial position Tite W ) 2 A2 A T A R A 416 396
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the A A7 A B B R DL 3R P e R
consolidated statement of financial position ) 98 A 5% T £ i 35 (4,050) (4,526)
(3,634) (4,130)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$72,398,000 (2013: HK$71,460,000). Subject to
the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department, these tax losses are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets
have been recognised in respect of HK$498,000 (2013:
HK$2,206,000) of such losses. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of the remaining amount
of HK$71,900,000 (2013: HK$69,254,000) as it is not
considered probable that there would be sufficient future

taxable profits to utilise such amount.

At 31 March 2014 and 2013, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability for taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries or joint ventures as the Group has
no liability to additional tax should such amounts be
remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

A 4 [ A A v A 2 B R 4R 572,398,000
WL (ZF— =4 1 71,460,000¥70)  f# %
W B R dee AR R BLAR > e S5 B N 1R Tt
JUE IR 30 K 8 2 A i 1R 2 A R 2 R 2 HE R
A o A2 B B % 45 1H498,000 78 (Z
F— =4 12,206,000 70 ) T 58 98 HiE BUE &
BE o BH RN RR 2 AN K W] B A ARG A A JE LB
I DL 8 B AR - W0 S8 R 4% 5% 71,900,000
WL (SR — =4 1 69,254,000 00 ) TR I8
HE L TE B JE o

PR ER R -EZHEE]=E4—H
A58 1 O S O ) e A A 3 R T SR R
A T A 5 0 0 AR S B LB
PRI A9 <5 ) A o A 5 R A A
BIH A -

A i H B SR S A e B A T A T A AR
Hoo
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. JBEAR
Shares JBt 63
2014 2013
ZR— AR TR =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#T
Authorised: BB
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 % 45: % i
of HK$0.025 each 0.025% o 2 ¥ 18 Jit 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CBAT I OB A
1,746,664,400 (2013: 1,511,664,400) 1,746,664,400 (ZF— =4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 1,511,664,4008% ) 4 ¥ i {8
0.025% 70 Z ¥ 18 Bt 43,667 37,7192
A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued AR BT B AR M S RS
ordinary share capital is as follows:
Number Share
of shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
AT R &Y g JBe By
W ¥ H JBe Ak ht BUIR At
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W7t T#x T#x T#x
At 1 April 2012 HoFE—-"HFNA—H 1,498,371,600 37,459 174,189 211,648
Share options exercised AT 7 1 i 3t (a) 13,292,800 333 4,985 5318
Transfer from share Ji P AR £ £
option reserve (b) - - 1,999 1,999
At 31 March 2013 and N_F—-=ZF=Z4=+—H
1 April 2013 E_F—-=4#MH—H 1,511,664,400 31,792 181,173 218,965
Issue of Consideration Shares — ZEAT IR AH 4
(note 32(a)) (M7E32(a)) (c) 235,000,000 5,875 151,810 157,685
At 31 March 2014 WoRZ—-NEZA=+—H 1,746,664,400 43,667 332,983 376,650
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29.

30.

31 March 2014
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a) The subscription rights attaching to 13,292,800 share options
were exercised at the subscription prices of HK$0.400 per share,
resulting in the issue of 13,292,800 shares of HK$0.025 each for a
total cash consideration, before expenses, of HK$5,318,000.

(b)  An amount of HK$1,999,000 was transferred from the share
option reserve to the share premium account upon the exercise of
the share options.

(c) During the year, the Company issued 235,000,000 shares of
HK$0.025 each at a price of HK$0.671 each (the “Consideration
Shares”) as part of the consideration for the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in Flower Ocean Limited (“Flower Ocean”),

resulting in the increase in share capital and share premium
amounted to HK$5,875,000 and HK$151,810,000, respectively.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option schemes are

included in note 30 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 7 September
2011, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the existing share option scheme (the
“2002 Scheme”) and the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “New Scheme”) (collectively known as the
“Schemes”). As a result, the Company can no longer
grant any further options under the 2002 Scheme.
However, all options granted prior to the termination
of the 2002 Scheme will remain in full force and effect.
Unless otherwise terminated or amended, the New
Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the date of
adoption.

The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the New Scheme include full-time employees, including
any executive and non-executive directors of the Group.
The New Scheme became effective on 7 September 2011
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain

in force for 10 years from that date.

30.

ZEWE=H=1—H
29.

A (%)
Wit -

(a) BRI 13,292,800 A Bk A I i 32 6 HE 4 R 4
JB60.400% 76 I R BE AT A > IR L B8 1T 09 I
. %50.025%5 JC B A1 13,292,800 /8¢ » AR 1 1%
I 5881 4 AR A %55,318,0009 € °

(b) i B A A7 0 R > 42 %1,999,000%5 7t Hi Ji
JE RREfols A8 W A B A0 ¥ R o

(c) AN > AA B 1% B0.67 14 5T 1y 1
¥ £ 4T 7 235,000,000/8 45 Jik T {H0.025% 7T
Z ety (BB 1) > 182 32 A WU Flower
Ocean Limited ([ Flower Ocean]) Z 23 A<
RE 25 WO B A ARAET > e 0 2> BB AR % 3 46 80 4
Bl _EF+5,875,000% 76 & 151,810,000% JC °

ik B HiE
A i Ji P AR T ) A LA B S
30

Sl B it )
MBI R —— 4L L H O 2 9

S o AR O V) B A o 1k B AT i A A
(TR ARG E 1) BB A9 59 W06 M it 1 1
(Mot ) (BEms 2 [td ) - Bt > AAH
AT AR R R AR A AT i —
LI o BRI > A 2R AR GHEI AT
45 7 WO B A S I RE S A8 oA+ e 80 A
H o st # B SR A H R 4R AR BRI
T A K -

Wit dlZ H I > B 1A 5 S B A 2 R
DA B Z & E M 2 B ST
T o Bl 2 AR 2 HE ARG A
kiR B > GG AT R IEBUATHE F - rat
BRI B H AR BRAA RE
WE S BB ET A > AT A% H R
8 i
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as
at the date when the New Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company in a general meeting. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the New Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive,
officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 14 days from the date of the offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable by the directors and ends on a date which
is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options.
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30. Jof Jbe il it 0 (7))

R4 7 s 21 A 42 Hh 2 AR AT S R R
K2R EE > 2 —ER SRR K
B B AR ] B R AR R B 2 B AR A
T AT I BB 0% Z 3K B o AEAE T+
J3 31 THY Py ML 02 RO RE > T IR R B 2 AL
Yk 2 B R T BT R Z 5w R
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors, but should not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the

Schemes during the year:

30. Jok Jbe it 2 (780)

Vi e 2 AT O Rl S RO o MR R
PI=FZ B+ ()AL B I e i 4%
HH 7 6 22 P 4 H AR A B 31 2 Wi
(i) A 23 W) e 5% e 932 1 10O i M1 22 5% H
T 32 BT BT it P 3 WO AR 5 B (i) AR 4 7
JBe A Vi L

S T O SIS R 5 A A B R R B R
o ERFZHER -

RN AR H) > ARAR B0 R AT B A i JBE A
T

2013
e =t o
Weighted
average Number
exercise price of options
(R i Ji It W
TR - 35 % HH
HK$ ’000
per share
FF I T Tt
At beginning of year AEH) 0.397 16,486
Exercised during the year ERENATE 0.400 (13,293)
Lapsed during the year SRR 0.382 (3,193)
At end of year R - -

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the weighted
average share price at the date of exercise for share
options exercised was HK$0.467 per share.

RBEZZ-=F=ZA=ZHHIEFER
AT R BB TS AT S0 T 3 T A
B 7 B JBE0.46 TH T ©
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31. RESERVES 31. fafi
(a) Group (a) A
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the AR AR [ AR AT B e DL R4 BE 2 il 48 K
movements therein for the current and prior years are AR E O 2R AR SRR A B L o
presented in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.
The Group’s contributed surplus represents the AR 2 BB TIIRAEAR N E B b
excess of the nominal value of the shares and the TR EAREEEHREZ B AR Z
share premium account of the subsidiaries acquired JBE Ay i L S P Ay ¥ 1 MR O AR R A M N
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the WoF J85 2 ] 2 JBEA i BE AT Z A2 ] B4 T
listing of the Company’s shares, over the nominal EHFR 43
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.
(b) Capital reserve (b) & A
Capital reserve represents the difference between the A A AR i T R S o
amounts of net consideration and the carrying values PR QM 4 0 B i L ] Y 2
of non-controlling interests acquired or disposed of.
(c) Company (c) AAN
Share Share
premium  Contributed option Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
Joe B B BB W B A W
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W T#xL T#L T#x T#x T#xL
At 1 April 2012 REZZ-"HENA—H 174,189 63,948 2453 7,161 247,751
Total comprehensive loss AR B2 T R A
for the year - - - (1,124) (1,124)
Exercise of share options S I 17 0 29(a) 4985 - - - 4,985
Transfer upon exercise ORI A 17 68 1 45
of share options 29(b) 1,999 - (1,999) - -
Transfer of share option TR L e o
reserve upon lapse It I BB 1
of share options - - (454) 454 -
At31 March 2013 and REZZF-Z£=ZA=+—H
1 April 2013 kZZ—-ZENA—H 181,173 63,948 - 6,491 251,612
Total comprehensive income G4 i 4 i Wi 25 40 4
for the year - - - 235,312 135,312
2013 final dividend ZE-SEAHRA - - - (52,400) (52,400)
Issue of Consideration Shares B 471 E K 1 29(c) 151,810 - - - 151,810
At31 March 2014 REF-WEZA=F—H 332,983 63,948 - 189,403 586,334
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31. RESERVES (continued)
(c) Company (continued)
The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the nominal value of the shares of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company
may make distributions to its members out of the

contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payments transactions in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or be transferred to
retained profits should the related options expire or

be forfeited.

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March 2014

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not a business
On 19 March 2013, the Group entered into a share
transfer agreement with Mr. Ngai for the acquisition
of Flower Ocean for a total consideration of
HK$299,064,000. The transaction was completed on
22 May 2013 (the “Completion Date”). Up to the
Completion Date, Flower Ocean and its subsidiary
(collectively the “Flower Ocean Group”) had not
carried out any significant business activities except
for holding a property in Hong Kong. Therefore, this
transaction has been accounted for by the Group as
an acquisition of assets as the operation of the Flower

Ocean Group does not constitute a business.

(c)

(a)

31. i flii (48)

A2l (51)

AT Z ABERTIRR AL T Ay L
AR 42 74 458 1 A WA O 2 o Jo 2 ] By
2 TH (A A 2 A2 % S WA D A W) 2 e
T B AT Z A4 A ey i 2 9 43 o AR
TR LN R A > RA R R
A TIEOLT B SO ER b i JE B R AR
IHIR e

S B R 8 PR L4 T~ R AT O S AL
BEZ AP RERE R > 38 SLA A 5 3t 3
WE2. 43 DL B 7 B B B 2 A 22 5 R
SR P iR RE o R IR U e AT AR o A
U\ Ay i UM > 7B R B L
B9 S AR > DR B R A

32. B34 Bl A U B R W

BRE R -WEZH =4 —HILFE

W I S A BT S 25 14 I S 2
RoF-ZEEH U > ARG E B
62k BiFlower Ocean it i 25 JE 51 3 Bt A%
1 > AT R AT 5 299,064,000
TCo R HORR —E =41
“H T HEER (T H ) - BEE
B H #1251k s Flower Ocean 5 3 [t & 2
W] (%852 [ Flower Oceandi H 1) 1 A #E
ATAEAT R SEB IR B > Mede A — AL
HWH Y BRI o B Flower Oceanff
B 88 NI A R — TR > DRI AR AR
R 3 1P 2R 5 AR TR WL A AR
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not a business
(continued)
The fair values of the assets and liabilities of the
Flower Ocean Group on the Completion Date
acquired by the Group in the above transaction are as

VR 5 0 o TR i

B B R R M (A)

BREZR-WEZA =1 H R4 (4])
(a) HRIHIE A Jig 5 25 19 W Jig 2 7] ()

FASE F M > A b A 55 A
Flower Ocean® [ fy ¥ A J2 51 {24 °F
famr :

follows:

HK$’000
F#x
Properties held for development HAEEERZME 400,000
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TEAT#KIH ~ $%& 4 B Al B ek 47
Cash and cash equivalents BReRBE&FHD 234
Other payables and accruals JLAth, B A 3K B THAR 2 (3,217)
Interest-bearing bank loans F B ERAT Bk (98,000)
299,064

Total consideration satisfied by: ML T A 5 X T AT -

Entire issued share capital of Gold Vantage BAEAMRAR (2]

Limited (“Gold Vantage”) B ©B AT AR 25,098
Consideration Shares (note 29(c)) RAE AR (M 7E29(c)) 157,685
Cash Bl 116,281

299,064
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. 47 Bl A U B AR Wk (A)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 (continued) BEZFZ-WEZH =+ HIL4EE (8)
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries that are not a business (a) LI UG A g S 7 1 B g 4 7 ()
(continued)
The assets and liabilities of Gold Vantage which was e B > Ak b e 2 TE Y S A A
disposed of in the above transaction as part of the T H i 80 7 1 R B A AT T

consideration on the Completion Date are as follows:

HK$’000
T¥#7x
Carrying value of net assets disposed of: B 0 Y R T
Property, plant and equipment LE BN 1Y & 11,685
Investment properties BEWE 4,000
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEAF SKIE ~ 45 4 Fe I il JRE ek 146
Cash and cash equivalents BE RIS HD 48
Other payables and accruals Al I A 5K B T 4R W (8)
Deferred tax liabilities AR S B IE A AR (738)
15,133
Gain on disposal of Gold Vantage HES Az K 9,965
Fair values of assets and liabilities of SLELEE R AR H B
Gold Vantage on the Completion Date AFE 25,098
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash Wl Flower OceanZ Bl 4 M Bl & % H Y
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of Flower ZEFRM AW -
Ocean is as follows:
2014
e Sk S
HK$’000
T
Cash consideration Ble R 116,281
Cash and cash equivalents acquired JEAZ B & KRB &SHY (234)
Cash and bank balance disposed of BEHZHERIALESHY 48
116,095
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. BB AW R RWE (F)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014 (continued)
(b) Deemed partial disposal of subsidiaries

BE R -WEZH =4 HIR4EE (8])
(b) BLAE ti £ ] i 4 7 75 7

In December 2013, the Group has successfully spun
off its business of civil engineering works through a
separate listing of its then wholly-owned subsidiary,
Excel Development, on the Stock Exchange (the
“Excel Spin-Off”). The Excel Spin-Off involved the
offering of 50 million shares of HK$0.01 each by
Excel Development at an offer price of HK$1.2 per
share to the public (the “Excel Offering”), which
raised a total net cash proceeds of HK$51,485,000
by Excel Development. Immediately following the
completion of the Excel Spin-Off, the Group’s
equity interest in Excel Development was diluted
from 100% to 75% and thus the Excel Spin-Off is
considered as a deemed partial disposal of Excel
Development by the Group. Since the deemed partial
disposal of Excel Development did not result in any
loss of control, such transaction was accounted for
as an equity transaction and the excess between
the proceeds from the Excel Offering and the 25%
carrying value of Excel Development amounted to
HK$746,000 is recognised in capital reserve of the
Group.
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31 March 2014

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

At 31 March 2014, the guarantees given
by the Group to certain banks in respect of
performance bonds in favour of certain contract
customers amounted to HK$39,911,000 (2013:
HK$83,014,000).

At 31 March 2014, the Company has given
guarantees in favour of certain banks to the extent
of HK$1,938,797,000 (2013: HK$1,988,324,000) in
respect of banking facilities granted by those banks
to certain subsidiaries of the Company, of which
HK$811,985,000 (2013: HK$753,549,000) was
utilised.

At 31 March 2014 and 2013, the Group had
given unlimited performance guarantees in favour
of a customer for contract works (the “Contract
Customer”) in respect of losses, claims, damages,
costs and expenses caused by non-compliance with
the terms and conditions of the construction contract
entered into between the Group and the Contract

Customer.

In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction
business, the Group has been subject to a number of
claims due to personal injuries suffered by employees
of the Group or the Group’s subcontractors in
accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. The directors are of the opinion that
such claims are well covered by insurance and would
not result in any material adverse impact on the
financial position or results and operations of the

Group.

(a)

R PE=H =
33. AR B8

NoE-NE=ZA=Z4—H > AREER
BYPTENEFRZBHARBENSTET
SRAT BY9E 18 5 839,911,000 78 (&
—Z4E 1 83,014,000 75) ©

WoB—-PEZA=Z+—H > KAAFEH
HTHATHR T AR A B E T M AR Z 8
A7 4% B0 i % S SRAT R Z WS IR
W #11,938,797,000% 6 (ZF—=

1,988,324,000¥75) » AR E A F T
B rp 2 SR AT 45 AP A8 11,985,000% 7T
(ZF— =4 1 753,549,000%70) °

R —NER R -EZEEAE
H o AREEBAEERE -GHTREF
(MZTREF ) ZHET LR
Ie) % AR % PO A 42 P v e D A AT &
H AR A0 A6k 1 i S 5 AR 2 5 O
K~ R HEF - A SAE  E
P J 20 475 A

ARG Z W EEE R > & T
AR ] A AR 1] 43 U 7 2 PR 3% e
] 780 788 T2 A1 DA B 52 485 i 1 AR 4 [ R A
o B R R AR Bz 2 R
B > WO B R A o AR AR 2 B BOIR
0B 8 A A S 785 AT K 4

2 K

Annual Report 2013-2014 §E®RE



v

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BmoA OB Ok A OB

W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2014

34. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note
16) under operating lease arrangements, with leases
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.
The terms of the leases generally also require the
tenants to pay rental deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
total future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling
due as follows:

ZEWE=H=1—H

VR 5 0 o TR i

34. MBME L

(a)

e 2y MALA

AR AR 4 A AL B P AL B
3 (MraE1e) » W Z T A —F 2
AR o MM RBLE AL P S A
B#EE-

TR BIAR > AR AR 42 SRS 7R AN 35
AT S T S A AL B T A 2 AR
e S5 UK FEL B A sk AL BTN R

Group
AL M
2014 2013
e 2L 3 e SN2
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#x Fi#or
Within one year —4E N 10,496 10,409
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 Z 25 A 4F (B E R W) 2,584 7,038
13,080 17,447
As lessee (b) fEZARMA
The Group leases certain of its office properties A £ [ MR 0 A LR R B AR AL T
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for EWE - MEW R EZHEH T
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one —F Y4 o

to four years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

TR A IR > 7K 5 T AL ¢ S T 0 A
R T A 2 H AR M A o I L sk 4
WE

Group
A4 [
2014 2013
TR R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T80
Within one year —4EN 2,897 5,478
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 8 ~ 2B T4F (B ERHWA) 3,759 1,521
6,656 6,999
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35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. EATR W
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed Bk b SR RE34(b) 7 4t B 58485 7 15 7K 56 A »
in note 34(b) above, the Group had the following capital A AR > AL AE LT B ARG ¢

commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Group
A4
2014 2013
—E—W4E R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x F#T
Expenditure for development or MU THECELN
redevelopment projects, contracted, AH AR 435 5 2 3% g 5
but not provided for, in respect of: HEHHZ X :
Hotel under construction AE 8 op i s - 5,060
Properties held for development FHERRZYWE 6,056 -
Investment properties Eig <L/ 838 -
Properties under development b ES 13,897 5,359
Acquisition of Flower Ocean Wl Flower Ocean - 299,064
20,791 309,483
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31 March 2014
36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
#"ofs OB OKR A W G

W

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VR 5 0 o TR i

ZEWE=H=1—H

36. WA TR 5,
(a) BRI B 0 B AT A PR 2k 2 % %
R 5 BAEERA » A I AR JE i o B

the following transactions with related parties during B AT R AR 5
the year:
Group
A4
2014 2013
e Sk 2 TR =4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it T F#T
Rental income from Lanon 1 58 0 B e AT B A )
Development Limited (TFEAESE e ) Wiz
(“Lanon Development” ) LA (i) 2,024 1,704
Management fee income received WAL —FEME:
and receivable from Excel-China 1 25 W 1
Harbour Joint Venture, W I Tl %
a joint venture of the Group FEW Z 5 A (ii) - 660
Subcontracting fee expense paid and ) &P MR M U IR TR
payable to Able E & M and CE =P ¥ N
Fungs E & M both are GEAE) Of
joint ventures of the Group FIEMAZ BT (i) 105,827 129,171
Notes: MEE -
(i)  Mr. Ngai Wing Yin, the son of Mr. Ngai, who is the (i) AW FE 3 fr 3 BAS A F] R

chairman of the board of directors of the Company and a AW PR E R e R R
b B P R RE AR o RE A TS AR
£ 0] B 5 e 0 R AE 2 2% BLAT M (A AL 4

%> M EFZEZ S HE -

controlling shareholder of the Company, has a controlling

interest in Lanon Development. The rental income was

determined at a rate mutually agreed between the Group and

Lanon Development by reference to the prevailing market

rate.
(ii) The management fee income was determined with reference (i) FHEIE WA TS 2 B8 A AT R E o
to the costs incurred.

(iii) The subcontracting fee expense was determined in (iii) H LXMW EAREEE G S SE
accordance with the subcontracting agreement entered into BT 7 43 ) Bt ki
between the Group and the joint ventures.
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31 March 2014

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

37.

ZEWE=H=1—H

36. BTS2 5 ()

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) A5 M 3= AT BN B i 1l B
Group
Group
A4
2014 2013
—F Wi R =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#7x F#or
Short term employee benefits R B AR A 45,535 38,751
Post-employment benefits o Tk 122 7 ) 235 236
Total compensation paid to key XN T EEEHAR
management personnel P14y 48 8 4 45,770 38,987

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transaction in respect of item (a)(i)
above also constitutes a continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivables, other receivables
and deposits, accounts and bills payable, other payables
and accruals, amount due to a joint venture and interest-
bearing bank loans approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing

parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

37.

A B 2 e R — PR o R B
WA M ES o

A B LAt (a) (i) JE A B BB 5 22 5 A Ak
T A BB - DU A B S 2 PR A R AR 5

AP it
R CLREREAY o A A B T R Y E
WH > Bl RBLE Y - BEORK - %%
T oAb REWCR ~ HEA MR AR S S8 0 ~ L Ab HE A
AR T~ HE AT £ 8 4 S IH DA R 5 B
SRAT BRI 2 P8 K B b SR T 4
o

S R B AP DL TR AR 5
7 (i 780 25 A% B BR A) R 22 5 AT
R YN
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31 March 2014
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to

estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-
bearing bank loans have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank loans as at
31 March 2014 was assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include
interest-bearing bank loans, accounts and other
receivables, accounts and other payables and bank
balances. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes to the financial

statements.

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various
financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The risks associated with financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. Management monitors closely
the Group’s exposures to financial risks to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt

obligations with floating interest rates.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
At 31 March 2014, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease/increase
the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
HK$1,612,000 (2013: HK$1,394,000), arising as a result
of higher/lower interest expense on the Group’s floating-
rate borrowings. There would be no impact on other
components of the Group’s equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period. For the purposes of
the analysis, it is assumed that the amount of variable-
rate borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding throughout the whole year. The
25 basis point increase or decrease represents management
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the reporting date of the next

financial year. The analysis was performed on the same
basis for the year ended 31 March 2013.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
bank balances and time deposits, accounts and other
receivables. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure
at 31 March 2014 in the event of other parties failing
to perform their obligations is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis.
The Group’s accounts receivable from contract works
represent interim payments or retentions certified by
the customers under terms as stipulated in the contracts
and the Group does not hold any collateral over
these receivables. As the Group’s customers in respect
of contract works primarily consist of government
departments and developers or owners with strong
financial backgrounds, management considers that the
risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract works is
not significant. In respect of rentals receivable, to limit
the credit risk exposure, deposits are required from each
tenant upon inception of the leases and monthly rentals
are received in advance. Payments from each tenant are

monitored and collectability is reviewed closely.

At 31 March 2014, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 45% (2013: 53%) and 84% (2013:
91%) of the total accounts receivable were due from
the Group’s largest external customer and the Group’s
five largest external customers, respectively, within the

contract works segment.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 22 and 23, respectively,

to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term. In addition, banking facilities have been

put in place for contingency purposes.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. Y %5 B B 4 BIL H B K% BOR (A
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) W) 4 BB (A
The following table details the remaining contractual RS AR ) 4 i A R 1 R
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the R A o TRIIMBEALHRITBIB & &
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on (B3 DA A5 A0 0 3 JB 7 B F) % > AR
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest i 5 B R 04 47 A R G A B A k) i BA
payments computed using contractual rates, or if floating, B o %S5 i 5 AR B A 2 T R A 28 A sk
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) B g B H 0 4
and the earliest date that the Group could be required to
repay:
Group
A4
Within 1 Between Between
year or on 1and 2 2 and 5 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
37
Bk R 15248 2% 54 54E K W
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#T T T T#7T
At 31 March 2014 REZF-NE=ZA=1+—H
Interest-bearing bank FH B ERAT Bk
loans (note) (i) 603,230 86,020 42,731 68,640 800,621
Accounts and bills payable JRE A5k M52 ik Bk 5 451,712 91,268 32,346 - 575,326
Accruals of costs for contract HIREH TR
works 62,869 - - - 62,869
Other payables (note 26) A A 3K (W 2E26) 16,179 - - - 16,179
Due to a joint venture FEft— &8 S ¥a0E 65,401 - - - 65,401
1,199,391 177,288 75,077 68,640 1,520,396
At 31 March 2013 N_F—-=Z2F=ZH=1—H
Interest-bearing bank loans it BT R
(note) (Hfik) 551,808 14,407 42,730 76,982 685,927
Accounts and bills payable JRE A% B 3k e 5 9 575,217 66,041 25,186 - 666,444
Accruals of costs for contract FHRA A TR AR
works 67,316 - - - 67,316
Other payables (note 26) FoAb A 3K (W E26) 18,858 - - - 18,858
Due to a joint venture JEfT— &8 A EHE 53,451 - - - 53,451

1,266,650 80,448 67,916 76,982 1,491,996
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. WA b 4s B H B R SR (49)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Group (continued)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank loans are certain term loans in
the aggregate amount of HK$76,282,000. The loan agreements of
these term loans contain a repayment on-demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that the related loans will be called in their entirety within
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the
terms of the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as
follows:

L ) 4 e (%)
AR (A1)

Kk : B ESRAT R AIEE T MR AN A L
76,282,000%5 70 © % 55 % 01 B2 3Kk 0 B2 K W) el
R AT 2 B R BE W AR Mk > 4B T SRAT MK
PERER) > W BERE G BBk > Kb > Btk
B ARG > BB TIRER] -

A Bk > EHEME > A B RO
AEHI2AA N 2HH B > SRR H
IR £ O AR O B K bk T R E
H ARG o WP 7575 B30« ACSE B I it
A H I M BR DL - A A A
Bk R~ MR T > DL RACSE [
IR G 258 O A S T 2 U1K 0BT o AR R Rk A A0
o FHRTTBAHMT :

2014
e S S
HK$’000
F#
Within one year or on demand 14 N B B ok 538,211
Between 1 and 2 years 15248 98,010
Between 2 and 5 years 2ESAE 78,705
Over 5 years 5H1R 86,044
800,970
Company P /AN

All of the Company’s financial liabilities at the end of TR AT A Al A A E R

the reporting period are repayable within one year or on RN ERFRE R PE AR o

demand.

In addition, as disclosed in note 33(a), the Company has
given financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking
facilities granted to subsidiaries of the Company, of which
HK$811,985,000 (2013: HK$753,549,000) was utilised at
the end of the reporting period. In the event of the failure
of those subsidiaries to fulfil their obligations under
these banking facilities, the Company may be required
to pay up to the guaranteed amounts to the banks upon
demand. Management considers it is not probable that
the Company will be required to pay for any claim under
these financial guarantees.
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38.

39.

31 March 2014 ZF—ME=H=>,—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
the Group’s overall capital structure through new share

issues as well as raising new debts or repayment of existing

debts.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio
derived from the consolidated statement of financial
position. The following table analyses the Group’s capital
structure as at 31 March 2014:

38. S5 bl b 45 B H B B SR ()

W

AL ESEHMBORM EEAR - ZUEHR
A A T B e A 2 2 TR AR B P A o TEAR
A AR B B R AR A o (] IRl A o Bt SR [
o

A2 T S AR A o A W
5 DL 4 PR A B A5 SO 4 R ) e B A
Hy Rt i — B4y o NN B AT R4 DA
B 3 B U S AEOR B U - i AC 4R 1
AL o

A SR AR A% 2R A A B IR DA g R S Y
FER LR E R TS - TRAAREER
FWE=ZH =+ HEARREREZ 34T

2014 2013

“Eems | C%o=H

HK$’000 HK$’000

T#x F

Total interest-bearing bank loans B RAT B R 772,074 667,718
Less: Cash and cash equivalents i BleERBEEMEY (403,477) (365,705)
Net borrowings B K 368,597 302,013
Equity attributable to owners of the parent B2 & ¥ & WAl HE 25 1,940,607 1,515,006
Net gearing ratio AR AR L R 19.0% 19.9%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 39. B R 2 Atk

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 17 June 2014.

AMBHRECDHR ~FNEANA LA KH
2 A e Sl 5 A A
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